#### IMPORTANT NOTICE

THIS DOCUMENT IS AVAILABLE ONLY TO INVESTORS WHO ARE EITHER (1) NON-U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED BELOW) LOCATED OUTSIDE THE UNITED STATES OR (2) QIBS THAT ARE ALSO QPS (AS DEFINED BELOW).

**IMPORTANT:** You must read the following before continuing. This notice applies to the offering memorandum dated 9 October 2024 (the "**Offering Memorandum**") following this page and you are therefore advised to read this page carefully before reading, accessing or making any other use of the Offering Memorandum. In accessing the Offering Memorandum you agree to be bound by the following terms and conditions, including any modifications to them any time you receive information from the Issuer, the Arrangers and the Dealers (each as defined in the Offering Memorandum) as a result of such access.

NOTHING IN THIS ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION CONSTITUTES AN OFFER OF SECURITIES FOR SALE IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER JURISDICTION WHERE IT IS UNLAWFUL TO DO SO. THE SECURITIES DISCUSSED IN THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM HAVE NOT BEEN, AND WILL NOT BE, REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES OR OTHER JURISDICTION. THE NOTES MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY, WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS (AS DEFINED IN REGULATION S UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT) EXCEPT PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM, OR IN A TRANSACTION NOT SUBJECT TO, THE REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS OF THE SECURITIES ACT AND APPLICABLE STATE OR LOCAL SECURITIES LAWS.

THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM MAY NOT BE FORWARDED OR DISTRIBUTED TO ANY OTHER PERSON AND MAY NOT BE REPRODUCED IN ANY MANNER WHATSOEVER AND, IN PARTICULAR, MAY NOT BE FORWARDED TO ANY U.S. PERSON OR U.S. ADDRESS. ANY FORWARDING, DISTRIBUTION OR REPRODUCTION OF THIS DOCUMENT IN WHOLE OR IN PART IS UNAUTHORISED. FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THIS DIRECTIVE MAY RESULT IN A VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES ACT OR THE APPLICABLE LAWS OF OTHER JURISDICTIONS. IF YOU HAVE GAINED ACCESS TO THIS TRANSMISSION CONTRARY TO ANY OF THE FOREGOING RESTRICTIONS, YOU ARE NOT AUTHORISED AND WILL NOT BE ABLE TO PURCHASE ANY OF THE SECURITIES DISCUSSED IN THE ATTACHED OFFERING MEMORANDUM.

Confirmation of your representation: In order to be eligible to view the attached Offering Memorandum or make an investment decision with respect to the securities being offered, prospective investors must be either (1) non-U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act ("Regulation S")) located outside the United States or (2) both "qualified institutional buyers" ("QIBs") within the meaning of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") under the Securities Act and "qualified purchasers" (each, a "QP") within the meaning of Section 2(a)(51)(A) of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act"), and the rules and regulations thereunder, in each case acting for their own account or for the account of one or more QIBs who are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A. The attached Offering Memorandum is being provided to you at your request, and by accessing the attached Offering Memorandum you shall be deemed to have represented to the Issuer and the Arrangers and Dealers that (1) either (a) you are both a QIB and a QP, acting for your own account or for the account of one or more QIBs each of which is also a QP or (b) you and any customers you represent are non-U.S. persons located outside of the United States and any electronic mail address that you have provided and to which the Offering Memorandum may have been delivered is not located in the United States, its territories and possessions, any State of the United States or the District of Columbia and (2) you consent to delivery of such Offering Memorandum by electronic transmission.

You are reminded that the attached Offering Memorandum has been provided to you on the basis that you are a person into whose possession the attached Offering Memorandum may be lawfully delivered in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which you are located and you may not, nor are you authorised to, deliver the attached Offering Memorandum to any other person.

The materials relating to this offering do not constitute, and may not be used in connection with, an offer or solicitation in any place where offers or solicitations are not permitted by law. If a jurisdiction requires that the offering be made by a licensed broker or dealer, and the Arranger(s)/Dealer(s) or any affiliate of the Arranger(s)/Dealer(s) is a licensed broker or dealer in the relevant jurisdiction, the offering shall be deemed to be made by the Arranger(s)/Dealer(s) or such affiliate on behalf of the Issuer in such jurisdiction.

The attached Offering Memorandum has been provided to you in electronic form. You are reminded that documents transmitted via this medium may be altered or changed during the process of electronic transmission and, consequently, none of the Issuer, the Arrangers, the Dealers, any person who controls them or any director, officer, employee or agent of them or affiliate of any such person accepts any liability or responsibility whatsoever in respect of any difference between the Offering Memorandum provided to you in electronic format and a hard copy version that may be available to you on request from the Arrangers or the Dealers.

10274831010-v24 70-41063210

#### **OFFERING MEMORANDUM**





# EXPORT FINANCE AUSTRALIA

(a statutory corporation of the Commonwealth of Australia)

Payments of principal and interest guaranteed by the

#### **COMMONWEALTH OF AUSTRALIA**

pursuant to Section 62 of the Export Finance and Insurance Corporation Act 1991 of the Commonwealth of Australia

# U.S.\$5,000,000,000 Programme for the Issuance of Debt Instruments

\_\_\_\_\_

Under the Programme for the Issuance of Debt Instruments (the "**Programme**") described in this offering memorandum (the "**Offering Memorandum**"), Export Finance Australia (the "**Issuer**") may from time to time issue notes (the "**Notes**") denominated in any currency agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer (as defined below). The Notes are guaranteed as to payment of principal, interest and additional amounts by the Commonwealth of Australia (the "**Guarantor**") under the guarantee which is set out in Section 62 of the Export Finance and Insurance Corporation Act 1991 (Cth) (the "**EFIC Act**") (such guarantee, the "**Guarantee**").

In accordance with Part VI of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as amended) (the "FSMA") and Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom ("UK") by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA") ("UK Prospectus Regulation"), no prospectus is required in connection with the issuance of Notes described in this Offering Memorandum.

Notes issued under this Programme may be listed on the Official List of the Financial Conduct Authority ("FCA") and admitted to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange plc (the "London Stock Exchange"). The Programme also permits Notes to be issued on the basis that they will not be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system or to be admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by such other or further competent authorities, stock exchanges and/or quotation systems as may be agreed by the Issuer.

The Notes and the Guarantee have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "**Securities Act**") or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements.

The Notes and the Guarantee are being offered and sold (and, in the case of Notes in bearer form, delivered) (i) outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S (the "Regulation S Notes") and (ii) within the United States to persons who are both "qualified institutional buyers" (each, a "QIB") within the meaning of Rule 144A ("Rule 144A") under the Securities Act and "qualified purchasers" (each, a "QP") within the meaning of Section 2(a)(51)(A) of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended (the "Investment Company Act"), and the rules and regulations thereunder, in each case acting for their own account or for the account of one or more QIBs who are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A (the "Rule 144A Notes"). Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales and transfers of Notes and the distribution of this Offering Memorandum, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

The Issuer has been assigned a rating of AAA by Standard & Poor's Global Ratings Australia Pty Ltd ("**S&P**") and a rating of AAA by Fitch Australia Pty Ltd. ("**Fitch**"). See "*Ratings*". A security rating is not a

10274831010-v24 70-41063210

recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

Investing in Notes issued under the Programme involves certain risks. The principal risk factors that may affect the abilities of the Issuer to fulfil its obligations under the Notes are discussed under "Risk Factors" below.

Arrangers

CITIGROUP COMMONWEALTH BANK UBS INVESTMENT BANK OF AUSTRALIA

Dealers

CITIGROUP COMMONWEALTH BANK UBS INVESTMENT BANK OF AUSTRALIA

9 October 2024

10274831010-v24 70-41063210

# CONTENTS

	Page
IMPORTANT NOTICES	1
SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF LIABILITIES	5
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS	5
RATINGS	7
OVERVIEW	8
RISK FACTORS	12
INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE	19
FORMS OF THE NOTES	20
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES	26
FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT	63
USE OF PROCEEDS	74
SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM	75
DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER	79
DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTEE	93
TAXATION	94
SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE	105
TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS	112
GENERAL INFORMATION	118

#### **IMPORTANT NOTICES**

#### Responsibility for this Offering Memorandum

The Issuer accepts responsibility for the information contained in this Offering Memorandum and any Pricing Supplement and declares that, to the best of its knowledge, the information contained in this Offering Memorandum is in accordance with the facts and the Offering Memorandum makes no omission likely to affect its import.

#### **Pricing Supplement**

Each Tranche (as defined herein) of Notes will be issued on the terms set out herein under "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*" (the "**Conditions''**) as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by a document specific to such Tranche called a pricing supplement (each a "**Pricing Supplement**").

#### Other relevant information

This Offering Memorandum must be read and construed together with any supplements hereto and with any information incorporated by reference herein and, in relation to any Tranche of Notes must be read and construed together with the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The minimum specified denomination of any Notes issued under the Programme shall be €100,000 (or equivalent in any other currency as at the date of issue of the Notes). See Condition 3 of the Terms and Conditions of the Notes for further details regarding the minimum specified denominations of Notes issued under the Programme.

The Issuer has confirmed to the Dealers named under "Subscription and Sale" below that this Offering Memorandum contains all information which is (in the context of the Programme, the issue, offering and sale of the Notes and the Guarantee) material; that such information is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any material respect; that any opinions, predictions or intentions expressed herein are honestly held or made and are not misleading in any material respect; that this Offering Memorandum does not omit to state any material fact necessary to make such information, opinions, predictions or intentions (in the context of the Programme, the issue, offering and sale of the Notes and the Guarantee) not misleading in any material respect; and that all proper enquiries have been made to verify the foregoing.

The Issuer confirms that any information from third party sources has been accurately reproduced and that, so far as it is aware and is able to ascertain from information published by such third party source, no facts have been omitted which would render the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading.

#### **Unauthorised** information

No person has been authorised to give any information or to make any representation not contained in or not consistent with this Offering Memorandum or any other document entered into in relation to the Programme or any information supplied by the Issuer or such other information as is in the public domain and, if given or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon as having been authorised by the Issuer or any Dealer.

Neither the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates have authorised the whole or any part of this Offering Memorandum and none of them makes any representation or warranty or accepts any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of the information contained in this Offering Memorandum or any responsibility for the acts or omissions of the Issuer or any other person (other than the relevant Dealer) in connection with the issue and offering of the Notes. Neither the delivery of this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement nor the offering, sale or delivery of any Note shall, in any circumstances, create any implication that the information contained in this Offering Memorandum is true subsequent to the date hereof or the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented or that there has been no adverse change, or any event reasonably likely to involve any adverse change, in the prospects or financial or trading position of the Issuer since the date thereof or, if later, the date upon which this Offering Memorandum has been most recently amended or supplemented or that any other information supplied in connection with the Programme is correct at any time subsequent to the date on which it is supplied or, if different, the date indicated in the document containing the same.

#### Notes issued as ESG Bonds

The Pricing Supplement relating to a specific Tranche of Notes may provide that the Issuer has identified certain

environmental, social or governance (ESG) criteria for the use of the proceeds of such Notes (each, an "ESG Bond"). In such a case, it is the Issuer's intention to apply an amount which, at the Issue Date of the relevant Notes, is equal to the net proceeds of the issue of such Notes specifically for relevant project(s), asset(s) and use(s) ("Eligible Projects") in line with any relevant ESG Bond framework that the Issuer may publish from time to time

None of the Dealers accepts any responsibility for any social, environmental and sustainability assessment of any Notes issued as ESG Bonds or makes any representation or warranty or assurance whether such Notes will meet any investor expectations or requirements regarding such "green", "sustainable", "social" or similar labels (including in relation to Regulation (EU) 2020/852 on the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment (the "EU Taxonomy Regulation") and any related technical screening criteria, the regulation adopted by the European Council on 23 October 2023 creating a European green bond standard (the "final adopted European Green Bond Standard"), Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 on sustainability-related disclosures in the financial services sector ("SFDR") and any implementing legislation and guidelines, or any similar legislation in the United Kingdom) or any requirements of such labels as they may evolve from time to time. None of the Dealers is responsible for the use of proceeds for any Notes issued as ESG Bonds, nor the impact or monitoring of such use of proceeds. The Issuer may obtain an independent opinion on any ESG Bond framework (the "Second Party Opinion"). Such Second Party Opinion would provide an opinion on certain environmental and related considerations and would not be intended to address any credit, market or other aspects of an investment in any Notes, including without limitation market price, marketability, investor preference or suitability of any security. Any Second Party Opinion is a statement of opinion, not a statement of fact. Any Second Party Opinion will not be, nor should be deemed to be, a recommendation by the Dealers or any other person to buy, sell or hold any Notes. No representation or assurance is given by the Dealers as to the suitability or reliability of any Second Party Opinion or any opinion or certification of any third party made available in connection with an issue of Notes issued as ESG Bonds, nor is any such opinion or certification a recommendation by any Dealer to buy, sell or hold any such Notes. As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the providers of such opinions and certifications are not subject to any specific regulatory or other regime or oversight. Any Second Party Opinion and any other such opinion or certification will not form part of, or be incorporated by reference in, this Offering Memorandum.

In the event any such Notes are, or are intended to be, listed, or admitted to trading on a dedicated "green", "sustainable", "social" or other equivalently-labelled segment of a stock exchange or securities market, no representation or assurance is given by the Dealers that such listing or admission will be obtained or maintained for the lifetime of the Notes.

#### Restrictions on distribution

The distribution of this Offering Memorandum and any Pricing Supplement and the offering, sale and delivery of the Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to inform themselves about and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of Notes and on the distribution of this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement and other offering material relating to the Notes, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

In particular, the Notes and the Guarantee have not been, and will not be, registered under the United States Securities Act of 1933 (as amended) (the "**Securities Act**") or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States, and Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. The Notes may not be offered, sold or (in the case of Notes in bearer form) delivered within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S) except in certain transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act.

The Notes are being offered and sold outside the United States only to persons that are non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S and within the United States only to QIBs that are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A. Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provision of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A. For a description of these and certain further restrictions on offers, sales, and transfers of Notes and distribution of this Offering Memorandum, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

NEITHER THE PROGRAMME NOR THE NOTES HAVE BEEN APPROVED OR DISAPPROVED BY THE U.S. SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION (THE "SEC"), ANY STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION IN THE UNITED STATES OR ANY OTHER U.S. REGULATORY AUTHORITY, NOR HAS ANY OF THE FOREGOING AUTHORITIES PASSED UPON OR ENDORSED THE MERITS OF

# ANY OFFERING OF NOTES OR THE ACCURACY OR ADEQUACY OF THIS OFFERING MEMORANDUM. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL OFFENCE IN THE UNITED STATES.

Neither this Offering Memorandum nor any Pricing Supplement constitutes an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by the Issuer, the Dealers or any of them that any recipient of this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient of this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement shall be taken to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the condition (financial or otherwise) of the Issuer.

#### Product Governance under Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended)

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593 (the "EU MiFID Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "EU MiFID II Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

#### Product Governance under UK MiFIR

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR product governance rules set out in the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes, but otherwise neither the Arrangers nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules.

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance" which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate. Any distributor should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

## Prohibition of sales to EEA retail investors

The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("**EEA**"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II; or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "**Insurance Distribution Directive**"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "**PRIIPs Regulation**") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPs Regulation.

As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Issuer is exempt from Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 as it forms part of domestic law of the UK by virtue of the EUWA (the "**UK PRIIPs Regulation**") as the Notes are non-equity securities unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by a third country in accordance with Article 2.2(d) of the UK PRIIPs Regulation. Accordingly, no key information document (KID) will be included in the Programme documentation or any Notes issued pursuant to this Programme for the purposes of the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

#### Product classification pursuant to Section 309B of the Securities and Futures Act 2001

The Pricing Supplement in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification" which will state the product classification of the Notes pursuant to section 309B(1) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 (the "SFA"). The Issuer will make a determination and provide the appropriate written notification to "relevant persons" in relation to each issue about the classification of the Notes being offered for the purposes of section 309B(1)(a) and section 309B(1)(c) of the SFA.

#### Notice from Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Global Markets Limited is incorporated in the United Kingdom and is authorised in the United Kingdom by the Prudential Regulation Authority (the "PRA") and regulated in the United Kingdom by the Financial Conduct Authority and the PRA. Citigroup Global Markets Limited does not hold an Australian Financial Services Licence and, in providing the services in relation to this transaction, it relies on various exemptions contained in the Corporations Act 2001 (Commonwealth of Australia) (the "Corporations Act") and the Corporations Regulations 2001 promulgated under the Corporations Act (together the "Corporations Laws"). Citigroup Global Markets Limited hereby notifies all relevant persons that all services contemplated under this document are provided to the Issuer by Citigroup Global Markets Limited from outside of Australia and to the extent necessary, Citigroup Global Markets Australia Pty Limited (ABN 64 003 114 832 and Australian Financial Services Licence No. 240992) a related body corporate of Citigroup Global Markets Limited within the meaning of the Corporations Laws, has arranged for Citigroup Global Markets Limited to provide these services to the Issuer.

#### Programme limit

The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes outstanding and guaranteed at any one time under the Programme will not exceed U.S.\$5,000,000,000 (and for this purpose, any Notes denominated in another currency shall be translated into U.S. dollars at the date of the agreement to issue such Notes (calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Dealer Agreement)). The maximum aggregate principal amount of Notes which may be outstanding and guaranteed at any one time under the Programme may be increased from time to time, subject to compliance with the relevant provisions of the Dealer Agreement as defined under "Subscription and Sale".

#### Certain definitions

In this Offering Memorandum, unless otherwise specified, references to a "Member State" are references to a Member State of the EEA, references to "U.S.\$" or "U.S. dollars" are to United States dollars, references to "EUR", "Euro" or "euro" are to the currency introduced at the start of the third stage of European economic and monetary union, and as defined in Article 2 of Council Regulation (EC) No 974/98 of 3 May 1998 on the introduction of the euro, as amended, references to "£" and to "sterling" are to pounds sterling and references to "A\$" and "Australian dollars" are to the lawful currency of Australia.

Certain figures included in this Offering Memorandum may have been subject to rounding adjustments; accordingly, figures shown for the same category presented in different tables may vary slightly and figures shown as totals in certain tables may not be an arithmetic aggregation of the figures which precede them.

#### Stabilisation

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the Stabilisation Manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in the applicable Pricing Supplement may over allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur. Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes. Any stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant Stabilisation Manager(s) (or person(s) acting on behalf of any Stabilisation Manager(s)) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules.

#### SERVICE OF PROCESS AND ENFORCEMENT OF LIABILITIES

The Issuer is duly established under the laws of the Commonwealth of Australia by the EFIC Act. All of the directors and officers of the Issuer reside in the Commonwealth of Australia. A substantial portion of the assets of the Issuer and of such directors and officers are located in the Commonwealth of Australia.

None of the Issuer, nor any of its respective directors or officers has consented to the jurisdiction of the courts of the United States or any state thereof in connection with any suit brought by an investor in the Notes or named an agent for service of process within the United States upon the Issuer, or such persons or to enforce, in United States courts, judgments against the Issuer, or such persons or judgments obtained in such courts predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the federal securities laws of the United States. The Issuer will consent to the jurisdiction of the courts of England and will appoint an agent for service of process in England.

The Issuer has been advised by Clifford Chance LLP that Australia has a procedure for recognising and enforcing foreign judgments by registration of the foreign judgment in an Australian court in accordance with the procedure set out in the Australian Foreign Judgments Act 1991 (Cth) or by recognition in accordance with common law principles. The United States is not one of the countries to which the Foreign Judgments Act 1991 (Cth) applies. As a result, the recognition and enforcement in Australian courts of judgments from U.S. courts requires the application of common law principles, as the procedure set out in the Foreign Judgments Act 1991 (Cth) will not apply. Further, any action taken by or on behalf of the holders of the Notes would need to be brought in the Australian courts on the basis of the merits of the case and / or on the basis of the judgment from the relevant U.S. court.

Accordingly, there are risks as to the enforceability, in original actions in Australian courts, of liabilities predicated solely on the U.S. federal or state securities law and as to the enforceability, in Australian courts, of judgments of U.S. courts obtained in actions predicated upon the civil liability provisions of the U.S. federal securities law. Judgments of U.S. courts (whether or not such judgments relate to U.S. federal or state securities laws) may not be enforceable in Australia in certain other circumstances, including, among others, to the extent that such judgments (as a matter of applicable Australian law) were made by a foreign court which did not exercise a jurisdiction that the Australian court will recognise, apply to parties which are not the same parties in the enforcement proceedings, have already been satisfied in whole or in part, were made outside of the limitation period, are contrary to public policy, breach the rules of natural justice or are obtained by fraud or duress, are in conflict with an earlier judgment of the forum, are not for a fixed or readily ascertainable sum, are subject to appeal, dismissal, stay of execution or are otherwise not final and conclusive, or involve multiple or punitive damages or where the proceedings in such courts were of a revenue or penal nature, or where the judgment is one in respect of which the Australian Commonwealth Attorney-General has made a declaration or order under the Australian Foreign Proceedings (Excess of Jurisdiction) Act 1984 (Cth).

The Guarantee by the Commonwealth of Australia is provided for in the EFIC Act and accordingly is governed by Australian law. The Guarantor is not immune from suit, and proceedings can be commenced against the Guarantor in the High Court of Australia under the Judiciary Act 1903 (Cth). When a judgment attaches to the Commonwealth of Australia, the Registrar of the Court issues a certificate which the Minister for Finance is obliged to satisfy out of moneys legally available upon receipt of the certificate. The passage of an Appropriation Bill is required to make moneys legally available, however, no execution or attachment can be issued against the property or revenues of the Commonwealth of Australia to allow investors to recover all or any part of their investment in Notes issued under the Programme.

#### FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Offering Memorandum contains certain forward-looking statements. The words "anticipate", "believe", "expect", "plan", "intend", "targets", "aims", "estimate", "project", "will", "would", "may", "could", "continue" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of historical fact included in this Offering Memorandum, including, without limitation, those regarding the financial position, business strategy, management plans and objectives for future operations of the Issuer are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, which may cause the Issuer's actual results, performance or achievements, or industry results, to be materially different from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Issuer's present and future business strategies and the environment in which the Issuer expects to operate in the future. Important factors that could cause the Issuer's actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements

include, among other factors described in this Offering Memorandum, any amendment by future administrations of the EFIC Act.

Additional factors that could cause actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially include, but are not limited to, those discussed under "*Risk Factors*". Any forward-looking statements made by or on behalf of the Issuer speak only as at the date they are made. The Issuer does not undertake to update forward-looking statements to reflect any changes in their expectations with regard thereto or any changes in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statement is based.

#### **RATINGS**

The Issuer has been assigned a rating of AAA by S&P and a rating of AAA by Fitch. The Notes are also expected to be rated AAA by S&P and AAA by Fitch.

S&P is not established in the UK or the EU but ratings it issues are endorsed by S&P Global Ratings UK Limited, which is established in the UK and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK CRA Regulation"), and by S&P Global Ratings Europe Limited, which is established in the EEA and registered under Regulation (EU) No 1060/2009 on credit rating agencies (the "EU CRA Regulation").

Fitch is not established in the UK or the EU but ratings it issues are endorsed by Fitch Ratings Ltd, which is established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation, and by Fitch Ratings Ireland Limited, which is established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation.

Tranches of Notes issued under the Programme will be rated by one or more rating agencies or may be unrated. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated by one or more rating agencies, such rating will not necessarily be the same as the rating(s) described above or the rating(s) assigned to Notes already issued. Where a Tranche of Notes is rated, the applicable rating(s) will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Whether or not each credit rating applied for in relation to a relevant Tranche of Notes will be (1) issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation and/or (2) issued or endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or by a credit rating agency which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation will be disclosed in the Pricing Supplement. In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation. In general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation.

#### **OVERVIEW**

The following overview does not purport to be complete and is taken from, and is qualified in its entirety by, the remainder of this Offering Memorandum and, in relation to the terms and conditions of any particular Tranche of Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement. Additionally, the Issuer and any relevant Dealer may agree that Notes shall be issued in a form other than that contemplated in the Terms and Conditions.

Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below or elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum have the same meanings in this overview.

**The Issuer:** Export Finance Australia<sup>1</sup>

Guarantee of the Notes: Under Section 62 of the EFIC Act the due payment by the Issuer of

any money that becomes payable by the Issuer to a person other than the Commonwealth of Australia is guaranteed by the Commonwealth of Australia. In that section the reference to EFIC is to the Issuer, as it was previously known. For a description of risks related to the Guarantee, see "*Risk Factors – Risk Relating To The Guarantee*".

Arrangers: Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Commonwealth Bank of

Australia, UBS AG London Branch.

Dealers: Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Commonwealth Bank of

Australia, UBS AG London Branch and any other Dealers appointed

in accordance with the Dealer Agreement.

Fiscal Agent: Citicorp International Limited

**Registrar:** Citicorp International Limited

**Description:** Programme for the Issuance of Debt Instruments

Certain Restrictions: Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which

particular laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time (see "Subscription and Sale") including the following restrictions applicable at the date of

this Offering Memorandum.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year

Notes having a maturity of less than one year will constitute deposits for the purposes of the prohibition on accepting deposits contained in section 19 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (the "FSMA") unless they are issued to a limited class of professional investors and have a denomination of at least £100,000 or its equivalent in another currency as at the date of issue of the Notes,

see "Subscription and Sale".

**Programme Size:** Up to U.S.\$5,000,000,000 (or its equivalent in other currencies

calculated as described in the Dealer Agreement) outstanding at any time. The Issuer may increase the amount of the Programme in

accordance with the terms of the Dealer Agreement.

10274831010-v24 - 8 - 70-41063210

\_

The Issuer was established under the EFIC Act with the name Export Finance and Insurance Corporation (EFIC). Section 81 of the EFIC Act provides that it may conduct its operations under its full name, under the acronym EFIC or under the name "Export Finance Australia". It has been operating under the name Export Finance Australia since 1 July 2019.

**Issuance in Series:** 

Notes will be issued in Series. Each Series may comprise one or more Tranches issued on different issue dates. The Notes of each Series will all be subject to identical terms, except that the issue date and the amount of the first payment of interest may be different in respect of different Tranches. The Notes of each Tranche will also be subject to identical terms in all respects save that a Tranche may comprise Notes of different denominations.

**Distribution:** 

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each case on a syndicated or non-syndicated basis.

**Currencies:** 

Notes may be denominated in any currency or currencies agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions.

**Maturities:** 

The Notes will have such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, subject to such minimum or maximum maturities as may be allowed or required from time to time by the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the relevant Specified Currency.

**Issue Price:** 

Notes may be issued at an issue price which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par.

**Interest:** 

Notes may be interest-bearing or non-interest bearing. Interest (if any) may accrue at a fixed rate or a floating rate or a combination thereof and the method of calculating interest may vary between the issue date and the maturity date of the relevant Series.

**Fixed Rate Notes:** 

Fixed interest will be payable on such date or dates as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer and on redemption and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

**Floating Rate Notes:** 

Floating Rate Notes will bear interest at a rate determined:

- on the same basis as the floating rate under a notional interest (a) rate swap transaction in the relevant Specified Currency governed by an agreement incorporating the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as supplemented, amended and updated as at the Issue Date of the first Tranche of the Notes of the relevant Series (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement)) as published by the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. or the latest version of ISDA 2021 Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions, including each Matrix (as defined therein) (and any successor thereto), as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, each as published by ISDA any successor) website (or on its (http://www.isda.org), on the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of such Series:
- (b) on the basis of a reference rate appearing on the agreed screen page of a commercial quotation service; or
- (c) on such other basis as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s),

as indicated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

The margin (if any) relating to such floating rate will be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer for each Series of Floating Rate Notes.

Floating Rate Notes may also have a maximum interest rate, a minimum interest rate or both.

Interest on Floating Rate Notes in respect of each Interest Period, as agreed prior to issue by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer, will be payable on such Interest Payment Dates, and will be calculated on the basis of such Day Count Fraction, as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

Zero Coupon Notes will be offered and sold at a discount to their nominal amount and will not bear interest.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will indicate either that the relevant Notes cannot be redeemed prior to their stated maturity (other than for taxation reasons or following an Event of Default) or that such Notes will be redeemable at the option of the Issuer and/or the Noteholders upon giving notice to the Noteholders or the Issuer, as the case may be, on a date or dates specified prior to such stated maturity and at a price or prices and on such other terms as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer.

The Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer **provided that** the minimum specified denomination(s) shall not be less than &100,000 or its equivalent in another currency as at the date of issue of the Notes. For so long as the Notes are represented in global form, and the relevant clearing system(s) so permit, the Notes shall be tradeable only in the minimum specified denomination and higher integral multiples of any smaller amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Interests in Rule 144A Notes shall be held in amounts of not less than U.S.\$200,000 or its equivalent in other currencies.

Notes having a maturity of less than one year are subject to restrictions on their denomination and distribution, see "Certain Restrictions – Selling Restrictions Addressing Additional United Kingdom Securities Laws" above.

All payments in respect of the Notes will be made without deduction for or on account of withholding taxes imposed by any Tax Jurisdiction as provided in Condition 12. In the event that any such deduction is made, the Issuer will, save in certain limited circumstances provided in Condition 12, be required to pay additional amounts to cover the amounts so deducted.

None.

None.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading on the Official List of the FCA and on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange.

Notes may be listed or admitted to trading, as the case may be, on other or further stock exchanges or markets agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer in relation to the Series. Notes which are

**Zero Coupon Notes:** 

**Redemption:** 

**Denomination of Notes:** 

**Taxation:** 

**Negative Pledge:** 

0 0

Cross Default:

Listing and admission to trading:

neither listed nor admitted to trading on any market may also be issued.

The applicable Pricing Supplement will state whether or not the relevant Notes are to be listed and/or admitted to trading and, if so, on which stock exchanges and/or markets.

**United States Selling Restrictions:** Regulation S, Category 2.

(*In the case of Bearer Notes*) - TEFRA C, TEFRA D or TEFRA not applicable, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement

(In the case of Registered Notes) – Rule 144A and Section 3(c)(7) (QIBs that are also QPs)

**Status:** 

The Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank and will rank *pari passu*, without any preference among themselves, with all other outstanding, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future, other than those preferred by law and, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by applicable laws relating to creditors' rights. See "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*".

Form:

The Notes will be issued in bearer or registered form as specified in

the applicable Pricing Supplement.

**Rating:** 

The Notes are expected to be rated AAA by Fitch, and AAA by S&P.

See "Ratings".

**Governing Law:** 

The Notes, the Fiscal Agency Agreement, the Deed of Covenant and the Subscription Agreement, and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection therewith, will be governed by English law.

iaw.

The Guarantee by the Commonwealth of Australia is provided for in the EFIC Act and accordingly is governed by Australian law.

Clearing Systems:

Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC.

**Selling Restrictions:** 

See "Subscription and Sale".

**Risk Factors:** 

Investing in the Notes involves risks. See "Risk Factors".

#### RISK FACTORS

Any investment in the Notes is subject to a number of risks. This section does not describe all the risks of an investment in the Notes and the likelihood of any of the scenarios outlined below occurring, in part or in full, is unknown. Prospective purchasers should also read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum and consult their own professional advisers about the risks associated with investment in a particular series of Notes and the suitability of investing in those Notes in the light of their particular circumstances. Words and expressions defined in the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below or elsewhere in this Offering Memorandum have the same meanings in this section.

#### Risks Relating To The Issuer

#### The Issuer is a statutory corporation

The Issuer is a statutory corporation of the Commonwealth of Australia which derives its powers from the EFIC Act. As such, investors will have to assess the risk that future administrations may introduce new legislation or amend existing legislation or requirements including the EFIC Act. Any such amendment to the EFIC Act may have an adverse effect on the ability of the Issuer to make payments under the Notes.

#### Ongoing Market Volatility and Recent Market Conditions

The Australian economy is affected by current global economic conditions, including regional and international rates of economic growth. Global geopolitical tensions such as the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Hamas conflict (particularly the possibility of the conflict widening), and the direct and indirect effects of those events, including inflation, supply chain disruption, increased energy and oil prices, have significantly increased the level of macroeconomic uncertainty globally. In response to rising inflation, the Reserve Bank of Australia undertook sharp monetary tightening over 2022 and 2023. This resulted in the sharpest increase in interest rates in more than a decade. Any downturns in the global economy, whether as a result of these factors or otherwise, may lead to increased market volatility and decreased consumer confidence. The potential impact of such global economic pressure on the Issuer is uncertain. There can be no assurance that the Australian economy will grow in a prolonged negative global economic climate.

Any slowdown in the growth of the Chinese economy or a deterioration in relations with China, given that China is Australia's largest export destination, could affect the Issuer. In addition, Australia exports various primary products, including coal, liquefied natural gas and beef, and the prices for some of those exports are driven by global forces. Changes in global political conditions, such as conflicts or increased tensions in the Asia-Pacific region, and continued or escalated conflict in the Middle East, North Korea, Ukraine or elsewhere in the world have the potential to lead to extended periods of increased political and economic uncertainty and volatility in the global financial markets.

These factors, particularly should current conditions begin to deteriorate, could materially and adversely affect the markets in ways that are difficult to predict or effectively manage. This in turn could adversely affect the Issuer's business, financial condition and results of operations.

## **Risks Relating To The Guarantee**

The due payment by the Issuer of any money that becomes payable by it to a person other than the Commonwealth of Australia is guaranteed by the Commonwealth of Australia pursuant to the EFIC Act. There is no assurance that the Parliament of Australia will not introduce new legislation to amend the terms of, or remove, its legislative guarantee. The Parliament of Australia has the constitutional power to make amendments to the EFIC Act with retrospective effect.

The Guarantor is not immune from suit, and proceedings can be commenced against the Guarantor in the High Court of Australia under the Judiciary Act 1903 (Cth). When a judgment attaches to the Commonwealth of Australia, the Registrar of the Court issues a certificate which the Minister for Finance is obliged to satisfy out of moneys legally available upon receipt of the certificate. The passage of an Appropriation Bill is required to make moneys legally available, however, no execution or attachment can be issued against the property or revenues of the Commonwealth of Australia to allow investors to recover all or any part of their investment in Notes issued under the Programme.

#### **Risks Relating To The Notes**

#### The Notes may be redeemed prior to maturity

In the event that, as a result of a change in law or regulation, the Issuer would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of any Notes due to any withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the Commonwealth of Australia or any political subdivision thereof or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, and such obligation cannot be avoided by reasonable measures, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance with the Conditions.

In addition, if in the case of any particular Tranche of Notes the Pricing Supplement specifies that the Notes are redeemable at the Issuer's option in certain other circumstances, the Issuer may choose to redeem the Notes at times when prevailing interest rates may be relatively low. In such circumstances an investor may not be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in a comparable security at an effective interest rate as high as that of the Notes and may only be able to do so at a significantly lower rate. An optional redemption feature is likely to limit the market value of the Notes. During any period when the Issuer may elect to redeem the Notes, the market value of the Notes generally will not rise substantially above the price at which they can be redeemed. This also may be true prior to any redemption period.

#### There is no active trading market for the Notes

The Notes are new securities which may not be widely distributed and for which there is currently no active trading market (unless in the case of any particular Tranche, such Tranche is to be consolidated with and form a single series with a Tranche of Notes which is already issued). Although Notes may be listed on the official list of the FCA and admitted to trading on the Main Market of the London Stock Exchange or any other exchange there can be no assurance that an active trading market will develop or, if developed, that it will continue. In addition, the ability of the Dealers to make a market in the Notes may be impacted by changes in regulatory requirements applicable to the marketing, holding and trading of, and issuing quotations with respect to, the Notes. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. Illiquidity may have a severe adverse effect on the market value of Notes. If the Notes are traded after their initial issuance, they may trade at a discount to their initial offering price, depending upon prevailing interest rates, the market for similar securities, general economic conditions and the financial condition of the Issuer.

#### Credit Rating may not reflect all risks

The Issuer has been assigned a rating of AAA by S&P and a rating of AAA by Fitch. The Notes are also expected to be rated AAA by S&P and AAA by Fitch.

S&P and Fitch equalise their ratings on the Issuer with those of the Commonwealth of Australia. Any credit rating action taken by S&P or Fitch with respect to the Commonwealth of Australia would be expected to impact the Issuer's credit ratings, and any adverse credit rating action could adversely affect the Issuer. Additionally, the loss of the guarantee from the Commonwealth of Australia, or an amendment of its terms, may have a negative impact on the Issuer's ratings.

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit rating to the issue of Notes. The rating may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to structure, market, additional factors discussed in this section, and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by the assigning rating agency.

In general, European regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the EEA and registered under the EU CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the EEA which is certified under the EU CRA Regulation. Similarly, in general, UK regulated investors are restricted from using a rating for regulatory purposes if such rating is not (1) issued by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (2) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK but is endorsed by a credit rating agency established in the UK and registered under the UK CRA Regulation or (3) provided by a credit rating agency not established in the UK which is certified under the UK CRA Regulation.

#### Modifications and waivers

The Conditions contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider matters affecting their interests generally. These provisions permit defined majorities to bind all Noteholders including Noteholders who did not attend and vote at the relevant meeting and Noteholders who voted in a manner contrary to the majority.

Subject to and in accordance with Condition 7(n) (*Benchmark Replacement*) certain changes may be made to the interest calculation of Floating Rate Notes, without the consent of the Noteholders.

Accordingly, there is a risk that the terms of the Notes, the Conditions or the Agency Agreement may be modified, waived or amended in circumstances where a Noteholder does not agree to such modification, waiver or amendment, which may adversely impact the rights of such Noteholder.

#### Notes with integral multiples

In relation to any issue of Notes which have a denomination consisting of the minimum Specified Denomination plus a higher integral multiple of another smaller amount, it is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination that are not integral multiples of the minimum Specified Denomination. Noteholders who, as a result of trading such amounts, hold a principal amount of Notes other than a multiple of the minimum Specified Denomination will receive definitive Notes in respect of their holding (provided that the aggregate amount of Notes they hold is in excess of the minimum Specified Denomination), however, any such definitive Notes which are printed in denominations other than the minimum Specified Denomination may be illiquid and difficult to trade. Furthermore, a Noteholder who, as a result of trading such amounts, holds a principal amount of less than the minimum Specified Denomination may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding (should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its holding amounts to a Specified Denomination.

Because the Global Notes and Global Note Certificates are held by or on behalf of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, or DTC, as the case may be, holders of the Notes will have to rely on their procedures for transfer, payment and communication with the Issuer

Notes issued under the Programme may be represented by one or more Global Notes or Global Note Certificates (as the case may be). Such Global Notes or Global Note Certificates will be deposited with either (a) a common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg; or (b) DTC, as the case may be. Except in the circumstances described in the relevant Global Note or Global Note Certificate, holders of the Notes will not be entitled to receive definitive Notes or, in the case of Global Note Certificates, Individual Note Certificates. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and DTC will respectively maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Notes and the Global Note Certificates, as the case may be. While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes or Global Note Certificates, holders of the Notes will be able to trade their beneficial interests only through Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC and their respective participants.

While the Notes are represented by one or more Global Notes or Global Note Certificates the Issuer and the Guarantor will discharge their payment obligations under the Notes by making payments to the common depositary for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, for distribution to their account holders. A holder of a beneficial interest in a Global Note or Global Note Certificate must rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, to receive payments under the relevant Notes. The Issuer has no responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial interests in the Global Notes or Global Note Certificate.

Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes or Global Note Certificates will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the relevant Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or DTC, as the case may be, to appoint appropriate proxies. Similarly, holders of beneficial interests in the Global Notes or Global Notes Certificates will not have a direct right under the Global Notes or Global Note Certificates, as the case may be, to take enforcement action against the Issuer in the event of a default under the relevant Notes but will have to rely upon their rights under the Deed of Covenant.

#### FATCA withholding may affect payments on the Notes.

Pursuant to certain provisions of U.S. tax law commonly referred to as FATCA, a "foreign financial institution" may be required to withhold on certain payments it makes ("**foreign passthru payments**") to persons that fail to meet certain certification, reporting, or related requirements. A number of jurisdictions (including Australia) have entered into, or have agreed in substance to, intergovernmental agreements with the United States to implement

FATCA ("IGAs"), which modify the way in which FATCA applies in their jurisdictions. Under the provisions of IGAs as currently in effect, a foreign financial institution in an IGA jurisdiction generally would not be required to withhold under FATCA or an IGA from payments that it makes. Certain aspects of the application of the FATCA provisions and IGAs to instruments such as the Notes, including whether withholding would ever be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, are uncertain and may be subject to change. Even if withholding would be required pursuant to FATCA or an IGA with respect to payments on instruments such as the Notes, such withholding would not apply prior to the date that is two years after the date on which final regulations defining "foreign passthru payments" are published in the U.S. Federal Register. Investors should consult their own tax advisers regarding how these rules may apply to their investment in the Notes.

#### Certain benchmark rates, including EURIBOR, may be discontinued or reformed in the future

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate ("**EURIBOR**") and other interest rates or other types of rates and indices which are deemed to be benchmarks are the subject of ongoing national and international regulatory discussions and proposals for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented.

Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 (the "EU Benchmarks Regulation") applies, subject to certain transitional provisions, to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the EU. Regulation (EU) No. 2016/1011 as it forms part of domestic law of the United Kingdom by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Benchmarks Regulation") applies to the provision of benchmarks, the contribution of input data to a benchmark and the use of a benchmark, within the UK. The EU Benchmarks Regulation or the UK Benchmarks Regulation, as applicable, could have a material impact on any Notes linked to EURIBOR or another benchmark rate or index, in particular, if the methodology or other terms of the benchmark are changed in order to comply with the terms of the EU Benchmark Regulation or UK Benchmark Regulation, and such changes could (amongst other things) have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level, or affecting the volatility of the published rate or level, of the benchmark. More broadly, any of the international, national or other proposals for reform, or the general increased regulatory scrutiny of benchmarks, could increase the costs and risks of administering or otherwise participating in the setting of a benchmark and complying with any such regulations or requirements. Such factors may have the effect of discouraging market participants from continuing to administer or contribute to certain "benchmarks," trigger changes in the rules or methodologies used in certain "benchmarks" or lead to the discontinuance or unavailability of quotes of certain "benchmarks".

As an example of such benchmark reforms, on 21 September 2017, the European Central Bank announced that it would be part of a new working group tasked with the identification and adoption of a "risk free overnight rate" which can serve as a basis for an alternative to current benchmarks used in a variety of financial instruments and contracts in the euro area. On 13 September 2018, the working group on Euro risk-free rates recommended the new Euro short-term rate ("€STR") as the new risk-free rate for the euro area. The €STR was published for the first time on 2 October 2019. Although EURIBOR has subsequently been reformed in order to comply with the terms of the Benchmark Regulation, it remains uncertain as to how long it will continue in its current form, or whether it will be further reformed or replaced with €STR or an alternative benchmark.

The elimination of EURIBOR or any other benchmark, or changes in the manner of administration of any benchmark, could require or result in an adjustment to the interest calculation provisions of the Conditions (as further described in Condition 7(n) (*Benchmark Replacement-Independent Adviser*)), or result in adverse consequences to holders of any Notes linked to such benchmark (including Floating Rate Notes whose interest rates are linked to EURIBOR or any other such benchmark that is subject to reform). Furthermore, even prior to the implementation of any changes, uncertainty as to the nature of alternative reference rates and as to potential changes to such benchmark may adversely affect such benchmark during the term of the relevant Notes, the return on the relevant Notes and the trading market for securities (including the Notes) based on the same benchmark.

The Conditions of the Notes provide for certain fallback arrangements in the event that a published benchmark (including any page on which such benchmark may be published (or any other successor service)) becomes unavailable or a Benchmark Event or a Benchmark Transition Event (each as defined in the Conditions), as applicable, otherwise occurs. Such an event may be deemed to have occurred prior to the issue date for a Series of Notes. Such fallback arrangements include the possibility that the rate of interest could be set by reference to a successor rate or an alternative rate and that such successor rate or alternative reference rate may be adjusted (if required) in accordance with the recommendation of a relevant governmental body or in order to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic prejudice or benefit (as applicable) to investors arising out of the replacement of the relevant benchmark, although the application of such adjustments to the Notes may not achieve this objective. Any such changes may result in the Notes performing

differently (which may include payment of a lower interest rate) than if the original benchmark continued to apply. In certain circumstances the ultimate fallback of interest for a particular Interest Period may result in the rate of interest for the last preceding Interest Period being used.

This may result in the effective application of a fixed rate for Floating Rate Notes based on the rate which was last observed on the Relevant Screen Page. In addition, due to the uncertainty concerning the availability of successor rates and alternative reference rates and the involvement of an Independent Adviser (as defined in the Conditions) in certain circumstances, the relevant fallback provisions may not operate as intended at the relevant time.

Any such consequences could have a material adverse effect on the value of and return on any such Notes.

Investors should consult their own independent advisers and make their own assessment about the potential risks arising from the possible cessation or reform of certain reference rates in making any investment decision with respect to any Notes linked to or referencing a benchmark.

# The market continues to develop in relation to risk-free rates (including overnight rates) as reference rates for Floating Rate Notes

The use of risk-free rates - including the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") and the euro short-term rate ("ESTR"), as reference rates for floating rate notes continues to develop. This relates not only to the substance of the calculation of such rates and the development and adoption of market infrastructure for the issuance and trading of bonds referencing such rates, but also how widely such rates and methodologies might be adopted.

The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of risk-free rates that differs significantly from that set out in the Conditions and used in relation to Notes that reference risk-free rates issued under this Programme. The Issuer may in the future also issue Notes referencing SONIA, the SONIA Compounded Index, SOFR, the SOFR Compounded Index or €STR that differ materially in terms of interest determination when compared with any previous Notes issued by it under this Programme. The development of risk-free rates for the Eurobond markets could result in reduced liquidity or increased volatility, or could otherwise affect the market price of any Notes that reference a risk-free rate issued under this Programme from time to time.

In addition, the manner of adoption or application of risk-free rates in the Eurobond markets may differ materially compared with the application and adoption of risk-free rates in other markets, such as the derivatives and loan markets. Investors should carefully consider how any mismatch between the adoption of such reference rates in the bond, loan and derivatives markets may impact any hedging or other financial arrangements which they may put in place in connection with any acquisition, holding or disposal of Notes referencing such risk-free rates.

In particular, investors should be aware that several different methodologies have been used in risk-free rate notes issued to date. No assurance can be given that any particular methodology, including the compounding formula in the terms and conditions of the Notes, will gain widespread market acceptance. In addition, market participants and relevant working groups are still exploring alternative reference rates based on risk-free rates, including various ways to produce term versions of certain risk-free rates (which seek to measure the market's forward expectation of an average of these reference rates over a designated term, as they are overnight rates) or different measures of such risk-free rates. If the relevant risk-free rates do not prove to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of such Notes linked to such risk-free rates may be lower than those of Notes referencing indices that are more widely used.

Investors should consider these matters when making their investment decision with respect to any Notes which reference SONIA, SOFR, €STR or any other risk-free rate related indices.

# Risk-free rates may differ from LIBOR and other inter-bank offered rates in a number of material respects and have a limited history

Risk-free rates may differ from the London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") and other inter-bank offered rates in a number of material respects. These include (without limitation) being backwards-looking, in most cases, calculated on a compounded or weighted average basis, risk-free, overnight rates and, in the case of SOFR, secured, whereas such interbank offered rates are generally expressed on the basis of a forward-looking term, are unsecured and include a credit risk-element based on interbank lending. As such, investors should be aware that risk-free rates may behave materially differently to interbank offered rates as interest reference rates for the Notes. Furthermore, SOFR is a secured rate that represents overnight secured funding transactions, and therefore will perform differently over time to an unsecured rate. For example, since publication of SOFR began on 3 April 2018,

daily changes in SOFR have, on occasion, been more volatile than daily changes in comparable benchmarks or other market rates.

Risk-free rates offered as alternatives to interbank offered rates also have a limited history. For that reason, future performance of such rates may be difficult to predict based on their limited historical performance. The level of such rates during the term of the Notes may bear little or no relation to historical levels. Prior observed patterns, if any, in the behaviour of market variables and their relation to such rates such as correlations, may change in the future. Investors should not rely on historical performance data as an indicator of the future performance of such risk-free rates nor should they rely on any hypothetical data.

Furthermore, interest on Notes which reference a backwards-looking risk-free rate is only capable of being determined immediately prior to the relevant Interest Payment Date. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which reference such risk-free rates reliably to estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes, and some investors may be unable or unwilling to trade such Notes without changes to their IT systems, both of which could adversely impact the liquidity of such Notes. Further, in contrast to Notes linked to interbank offered rates, if Notes referencing backwards-looking rates become due and payable as a result of an Event of Default under Condition 13 (*Events of Default*), or are otherwise redeemed early on a date which is not an Interest Payment Date, the final Rate of Interest payable in respect of such Notes shall be determined by reference to a shortened period ending immediately prior to the date on which the Notes become due and payable or are scheduled for redemption.

# The administrator of SONIA, SOFR or $\epsilon$ STR or any related indices may make changes that could change the value of SONIA, SOFR or $\epsilon$ STR or any related index, or discontinue SONIA, SOFR or $\epsilon$ STR or any related index

The Bank of England, the Federal Reserve, Bank of New York or the European Central Bank (or their successors) as administrators of SONIA (and the SONIA Compounded Index), SOFR (and the SOFR Compounded Index) or  $\varepsilon$ STR, respectively, may make methodological or other changes that could change the value of these risk-free rates and/or indices, including changes related to the method by which such risk-free rate is calculated, eligibility criteria applicable to the transactions used to calculate SONIA, SOFR or  $\varepsilon$ STR, or timing related to the publication of SONIA, SOFR or  $\varepsilon$ STR or any related indices. In addition, the administrator may alter, discontinue or suspend calculation or dissemination of SONIA, SOFR or  $\varepsilon$ STR or any related index (in which case a fallback method of determining the interest rate on the Notes will apply). The administrator has no obligation to consider the interests of Noteholders when calculating, adjusting, converting, revising or discontinuing any such risk-free rate.

#### The Notes may not be a suitable investment for all investors.

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

- have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained or incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum or any applicable supplement;
- have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;
- have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the Notes, including Notes with principal or interest payable in one or more currencies, or where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from the potential investor's currency;
- understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of any relevant indices and financial markets; and
- be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the applicable risks.

Some Notes are complex financial instruments. A potential investor should not invest in Notes which are complex financial instruments unless it has the expertise (either alone or with a financial adviser) to evaluate how the Notes will perform under changing conditions, the resulting effects on the value of the Notes and the impact this

investment will have on the potential investor's overall investment portfolio. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine whether and to what extent:

- Notes are legal investments for it;
- Notes can be used as collateral for various types of borrowing; and
- other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of any Notes.

Financial institutions should consult their legal advisers or the appropriate regulators to determine the appropriate treatment of Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules.

#### Notes issued at a substantial discount or premium.

The market values of securities issued at a substantial discount or premium from their principal amount tend to fluctuate more in relation to general changes in interest rates than do prices for conventional interest-bearing securities. Generally, the longer the remaining term of the securities, the greater the price volatility as compared to conventional interest-bearing securities with comparable maturities.

#### Risks related to the market generally

Set out below is a brief description of certain market risks, including liquidity risk, exchange rate risk, interest rate risk and credit risk:

#### The secondary market generally.

Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market does develop, it may not be very liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary market. This is particularly the case for Notes that are especially sensitive to interest rate, currency or market risks, are designed for specific investment objectives or strategies or have been structured to meet the investment requirements of limited categories of investors. These types of Notes generally would have a more limited secondary market and more price volatility than conventional debt securities.

#### Interest Rate Risks.

Investment in fixed rate Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely affect the value of fixed rate Notes.

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, it will be exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of its holding. In addition, the imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving payments on those Notes.

The Issuer, or as the case may be, the Guarantor, will pay principal and interest on the Notes in the currency specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (the "Specified Currency"). This presents certain risks relating to currency conversions if an investor's financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit (the "Investor's Currency") other than the Specified Currency. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly change (including changes due to devaluation of the Specified Currency or revaluation of the Investor's Currency) and the risk that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor's Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An appreciation in the value of the Investor's Currency relative to the Specified Currency would decrease: (1) the Investor's Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes; (2) the Investor's Currency equivalent value of the principal payable on the Notes; and (3) the Investor's Currency equivalent market value of the Notes.

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate or the ability of the Issuer, or the Guarantor, as the case may be, to make payments in respect of the Notes. As a result, investors may receive less interest or principal than expected, or no interest or principal.

#### INFORMATION INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following information shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Offering Memorandum:

- the audited annual financial statements of the Issuer (including the notes in respect of such financial statements) for the years ended 30 June 2024 (together with corresponding figures for the year ended 30 June 2023) and 30 June 2023 (together with corresponding figures for the year ended 30 June 2022) and the auditors' reports issued by KPMG in connection therewith;
- 2. the most recently published audited annual financial statements published subsequently to the date of this Offering Memorandum and any subsequently published interim financial statements (whether audited or unaudited) of the Issuer from time to time (if any);
- 3. all amendments and supplements from time to time to this Offering Memorandum; and
- 4. any other document issued or information published by the Issuer and explicitly stating therein or in the Pricing Supplement that it is to be incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

Only the financial statements referred to in items 1 and 2 above that are published on the following page: <a href="https://www.exportfinance.gov.au/our-organisation/investor-relations/restrictions-on-access/">https://www.exportfinance.gov.au/our-organisation/investor-relations/restrictions-on-access/</a> are incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum. No other financial statements are incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum. For the avoidance of doubt, unless specifically incorporated by reference into this Offering Memorandum (including under item 4 above), information contained on any website does not form part of this Offering Memorandum.

Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum from time to time can be obtained free of charge from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Fiscal Agent.

Statements contained in any supplement to this Offering Memorandum prepared by the Issuer after the date of this Offering Memorandum (or contained in any document incorporated by reference therein) shall, to the extent applicable (whether expressly, by implication or otherwise), be deemed to supersede statements contained in this Offering Memorandum (or any earlier supplement) or in a document which is incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.

#### FORMS OF THE NOTES

#### **Bearer Notes**

Each Tranche of Notes in bearer form ("Bearer Notes") will initially be in the form of either a temporary global note in bearer form (the "Temporary Global Note"), without interest coupons, or a permanent global note in bearer form (the "Permanent Global Note"), without interest coupons, in each case as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Each Temporary Global Note or, as the case may be, Permanent Global Note (each a "Global Note") will be deposited on or around the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear Bank SA/NV ("Euroclear") and/or Clearstream Banking S.A. ("Clearstream, Luxembourg") and/or any other relevant clearing system.

In the case of each Tranche of Bearer Notes, the applicable Pricing Supplement will also specify whether United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(C) (the "**TEFRA C Rules**") or United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D) (the "**TEFRA D Rules**") are applicable in relation to the Notes or, if the Notes (i) do not have a maturity of more than one year; or (ii) are in registered form for U.S. federal income tax purposes; that neither the TEFRA C Rules nor the TEFRA D Rules are applicable.

### Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Permanent Global Notes

If the relevant Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note" and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that neither the TEFRA C Rules or the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note", and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for interests in a Permanent Global Note, without interest coupons, not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. No payments will be made under the Temporary Global Note unless exchange for interests in the Permanent Global Note is improperly withheld or refused. In addition, interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever any interest in the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for an interest in a Permanent Global Note, the Issuer shall procure (in the case of first exchange) the delivery of a Permanent Global Note, duly authenticated, to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or (in the case of any subsequent exchange) an increase in the principal amount of the Permanent Global Note in accordance with its terms against:

- (i) presentation and (in the case of final exchange) presentation and surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent; and
- (ii) receipt by the Fiscal Agent of a certificate or certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

The principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note shall be equal to the aggregate of the principal amounts specified in the certificates of non-U.S. beneficial ownership provided, however, that in no circumstances shall the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note exceed the initial principal amount of Notes represented by the Temporary Global Note.

If:

- (a) the Permanent Global Note has not been delivered or the principal amount thereof increased by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the seventh day after the bearer of the Temporary Global Note has requested exchange of an interest in the Temporary Global Note for an interest in a Permanent Global Note; or
- (b) the Temporary Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Temporary Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Temporary Global Note (including the obligation to deliver a Permanent Global Note) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such seventh day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the bearer of the Temporary Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

The Permanent Global Note will become exchangeable, in whole but not in part only and at the request of the bearer of the Permanent Global Note, for Bearer Notes in definitive form ("**Definitive Notes**"):

- (a) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) at any time, if so specified in the Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) if the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global Note", then if either of the following events occurs:
  - (i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; or
  - (ii) an Event of Default as defined in Condition 13 (*Events of Default*) occurs and the Notes become due and payable.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

If:

- (a) Definitive Notes have not been duly delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of the Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- (b) the Permanent Global Note was originally issued in exchange for part only of a Temporary Global Note representing the Notes and such Temporary Global Note becomes void in accordance with its terms; or
- (c) the Permanent Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Permanent Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Permanent Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Permanent Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the date on which such Temporary Global Note becomes void (in the case of (b) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date ((c) above) and the bearer of the Permanent Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Permanent Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

# Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes" and also specifies that the TEFRA C Rules are applicable or that neither the TEFRA C Rules or the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole but not in part, for Definitive Notes not earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes" and also specifies that the TEFRA D Rules are applicable, then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Temporary Global Note which will be exchangeable, in whole or in part, for Definitive Notes not

earlier than 40 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche of the Notes upon certification as to non-U.S. beneficial ownership. Interest payments in respect of the Notes cannot be collected without such certification of non-U.S. beneficial ownership.

Whenever the Temporary Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Temporary Global Note to the bearer of the Temporary Global Note against the surrender of the Temporary Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

If:

- (a) Definitive Notes have not been duly delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of the Temporary Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- (b) the Temporary Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Temporary Global Note has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Temporary Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Temporary Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the bearer of the Temporary Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Temporary Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

#### Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes", then the Notes will initially be in the form of a Permanent Global Note which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Definitive Notes:

- (a) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (b) at any time, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (c) if the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Permanent Global Note", then if either of the following events occurs:
  - (i) Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; or
  - (ii) an Event of Default as defined in Condition 13 (*Events of Default*) occurs and the Notes become due and payable.

Whenever the Permanent Global Note is to be exchanged for Definitive Notes, the Issuer shall procure the prompt delivery (free of charge to the bearer) of such Definitive Notes, duly authenticated and with Coupons and Talons attached (if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes represented by the Permanent Global Note to the bearer of the Permanent Global Note against the surrender of the Permanent Global Note to or to the order of the Fiscal Agent within 30 days of the bearer requesting such exchange.

If:

- (a) Definitive Notes have not been duly delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after the bearer has requested exchange of the Permanent Global Note for Definitive Notes; or
- (b) the Permanent Global Note (or any part thereof) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Permanent Global Note has

occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the bearer in accordance with the terms of the Permanent Global Note on the due date for payment,

then the Permanent Global Note (including the obligation to deliver Definitive Notes) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date ((b) above) and the bearer of the Permanent Global Note will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the bearer of the Permanent Global Note or others may have under the Deed of Covenant).

#### **Rights under Deed of Covenant**

Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Temporary Global Note or a Permanent Global Note which becomes void will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the Temporary Global Note or Permanent Global Note became void, they had been the holders of Definitive Notes in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system.

#### Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Definitive Note will be endorsed on that Note and will consist of the terms and conditions set out under "*Terms and Conditions of the Notes*" below and the provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement which supplements, amends and/or replaces those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

#### **Legend concerning United States persons**

In the case of any Tranche of Bearer Notes having a maturity of more than 365 days, the Notes in global form, the Notes in definitive form and any Coupons and Talons appertaining thereto will bear a legend to the following effect:

"Any United States person who holds this obligation will be subject to limitations under the United States income tax laws, including the limitations provided in Sections 165(j) and 1287(a) of the Internal Revenue Code."

#### **Registered Notes**

Each Tranche of Notes in registered form ("Registered Notes") will be represented by either:

- (i) individual Note Certificates in registered form ("Individual Note Certificates"); or
- (ii) one or more unrestricted global note certificates ("Unrestricted Global Note Certificate(s)") in the case of Registered Notes sold outside the United States to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S ("Unrestricted Global Note Certificates") and/or one or more restricted global note certificates ("Restricted Global Note Certificates") in the case of Registered Notes sold to QIBs that are also QPs in reliance on Rule 144A ("Restricted Registered Notes"),

in each case as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and references in this Offering Memorandum to "Global Note Certificates" shall be construed as a reference to Unrestricted Global Note Certificates and/or Restricted Global Note Certificates.

Each Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be registered in the name of a common depositary (or its nominee) for Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC and/or any other relevant clearing system and the relevant Unrestricted Global Note Certificate will be deposited on or about the issue date with the common depositary.

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Individual Note Certificates", then the Notes will at all times be represented by Individual Note Certificates issued to each Noteholder in respect of their respective holdings.

#### Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates

If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies the form of Notes as being "Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Individual Note Certificates", then the Notes will initially be represented by one or more Global Note Certificates each of which will be exchangeable in whole, but not in part, for Individual Note Certificates:

- (i) on the expiry of such period of notice as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (ii) at any time, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
- (iii) if the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies "in the limited circumstances described in the Global Note Certificate", then:
  - in the case of any Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC, if DTC notifies the Issuer that it is no longer willing or able to discharge properly its responsibilities as depositary with respect to the Global Note Certificate or DTC ceases to be a "clearing agency" registered under the Exchange Act or if at any time DTC is no longer eligible to act as such, and the Issuer is unable to locate a qualified successor within 90 days of receiving notice or becoming aware of such ineligibility on the part of DTC;
  - (b) in the case of any Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, if Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system is closed for business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an intention permanently to cease business; or
  - (c) an Event of Default (as defined in Condition 13 (*Events of Default*)) occurs and the Notes become due and payable.

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in a Global Note Certificate must provide the Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with such information as the Issuer and the Registrar may require to complete and deliver Individual Note Certificates (including the name and address of each person in which the Notes represented by the Individual Note Certificates are to be registered and the principal amount of each such person's holding). In addition, whenever a Restricted Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, each person having an interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate must provide the Registrar (through the relevant clearing system) with a certificate given by or on behalf of the holder of each beneficial interest in the Restricted Global Note Certificate stating either (i) that such holder is not transferring its interest at the time of such exchange or (ii) that the transfer or exchange of such interest has been made in compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Notes and that the person transferring such interest reasonably believes that the person acquiring such interest is both a QIB and a QP and is obtaining such beneficial interest in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A. Individual Note Certificates issued in exchange for interests in the Restricted Global Note Certificate will bear the legends and be subject to the transfer restrictions set out under "Transfer Restrictions".

Whenever a Global Note Certificate is to be exchanged for Individual Note Certificates, the Issuer shall procure that Individual Note Certificates will be issued in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Global Note Certificate within five business days of the delivery, by or on behalf of the registered holder of the Global Note Certificate to the Registrar of such information as is required to complete and deliver such Individual Note Certificates against the surrender of the Global Note Certificate at the specified office of the Registrar.

Such exchange will be effected in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the regulations concerning the transfer and registration of Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement and, in particular, shall be effected without charge to any holder, but against such indemnity as the Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange.

If:

- (a) Individual Note Certificates have not been delivered by 5.00 p.m. (London time) on the thirtieth day after they are due to be issued and delivered in accordance with the terms of the Global Note Certificate; or
- (b) any of the Notes represented by a Global Note Certificate (or any part of it) has become due and payable in accordance with the Terms and Conditions of the Notes or the date for final redemption of the Notes has occurred and, in either case, payment in full of the amount of principal falling due with all accrued interest thereon has not been made to the holder of the Global Note Certificate in accordance with the terms of the Global Note Certificate on the due date for payment,

then the Global Note Certificate (including the obligation to deliver Individual Note Certificates) will become void at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such thirtieth day (in the case of (a) above) or at 5.00 p.m. (London time) on such due date (in the case of (b) above) and the holder of the Global Note Certificate will have no further rights thereunder (but without prejudice to the rights which the holder of the Global Note Certificate or others may have under the Deed of Covenant). Under the Deed of Covenant, persons shown in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note Certificate will acquire directly against the Issuer all those rights to which they would have been entitled if, immediately before the Global Note Certificate became void, they had been the holders of Individual Note Certificates in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of Notes they were shown as holding in the records of Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

#### Terms and Conditions applicable to the Notes

The terms and conditions applicable to any Individual Note Certificate will be endorsed on that Individual Note Certificate and will consist of the terms and conditions set out under "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" below and the provisions of the applicable Pricing Supplement which supplements, amends and/or replaces those terms and conditions.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Global Note Certificate will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES

The following are the Terms and Conditions of the Notes which, as supplemented, modified or replaced in relation to any Notes by the applicable Pricing Supplement, will be applicable to each Series of Notes.

The terms and conditions applicable to any Note in global form will differ from those terms and conditions which would apply to the Note were it in definitive form to the extent described under "Summary of Provisions Relating to the Notes while in Global Form" below.

#### 1. **Introduction**

- (a) *Programme*: Export Finance Australia (the "**Issuer**") has established a Programme for the Issuance of Debt Instruments (the "**Programme**") for the issuance of up to U.S.\$5,000,000,000 in aggregate principal amount of notes (the "**Notes**").
- (b) Pricing Supplement: Notes issued under the Programme are issued in series (each a "Series") and each Series may comprise one or more tranches (each a "Tranche") of Notes. Each Tranche will be the subject of a pricing supplement (the "Pricing Supplement") which supplements these terms and conditions (the "Conditions"). The terms and conditions applicable to any particular Tranche of Notes are these Conditions as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the applicable Pricing Supplement. In the event of any inconsistency between these Conditions and the applicable Pricing Supplement, the applicable Pricing Supplement shall prevail.
- (c) Agency Agreement: The Notes are the subject of a fiscal agency agreement dated 9 October 2024 (the "Agency Agreement") between the Issuer, Citicorp International Limited as fiscal agent (the "Fiscal Agent", which expression includes any successor fiscal agent appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes), Citicorp International Limited as registrar (the "Registrar", which expression includes any successor registrar appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and the paying agents named therein (together with the Fiscal Agent, the "Paying Agents", which expression includes any successor or additional paying agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes), the transfer agents named therein (together with the Registrar, the "Transfer Agents", which expression includes any successor or additional transfer agents appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes). In these Conditions references to the "Agents" are to the Paying Agents and the Transfer Agents and any reference to an "Agent" is to any one of them.
- (d) Guarantee: The Notes are the subject of a statutory guarantee from the Commonwealth of Australia (the "Guarantor") set out in Section 62 of the Export Finance and Insurance Corporate Act 1991 (the "EFIC Act") (the "Guarantee") and governed by Australian law.
- (e) *Deed of Covenant*: The Notes may be issued in bearer form ("**Bearer Notes**"), or in registered form ("**Registered Notes**"). Registered Notes are constituted by a deed of covenant dated 9 October 2024 (the "**Deed of Covenant**").
- (f) *The Notes*: All subsequent references in these Conditions to "Notes" are to the Notes which are the subject of the applicable Pricing Supplement.
- (g) Summaries: Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant and are subject to their detailed provisions. The holders of the Notes (the "Noteholders") and the holders of the related interest coupons, if any, (the "Couponholders" and the "Coupons", respectively) are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of, all the provisions of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant applicable to them. Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant are available for inspection by Noteholders during normal business hours at the Specified Offices of each of the Paying Agents, the initial Specified Offices of which are set out below.

## 2. **Interpretation**

(a) *Definitions*: In these Conditions the following expressions have the following meanings:

"2006 ISDA Definitions" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the 2006 ISDA Definitions (as supplemented, amended and updated as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes of such Series) as published by ISDA (copies of which may be obtained from ISDA at www.isda.org);

"2021 ISDA Definitions" means, in relation to a Series of Notes, the latest version of the 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions (including each Matrix (and any successor Matrix thereto), as defined in such 2021 ISDA Interest Rate Derivatives Definitions) as at the date of issue of the first Tranche of Notes of such Series, as published by ISDA on its website (<a href="www.isda.org">www.isda.org</a>);

"Accrual Yield" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Additional Business Centre(s)" means the city or cities specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Additional Financial Centre(s)" means the city or cities specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

#### "Business Day" means:

- (a) in relation to any sum payable in euro, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in each (if any) Additional Business Centre;
- (b) in relation to any sum payable in a currency other than euro, a day on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments generally in London, in the Principal Financial Centre of the relevant currency and in each (if any) Additional Business Centre; and
- in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is specified as SOFR in the applicable Pricing Supplement, any weekday that is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day and is not a legal holiday in New York and each (if any) Additional Business Centre(s) and is not a date on which banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed;

"Business Day Convention", in relation to any particular date, has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement and, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, may have different meanings in relation to different dates and, in this context, the following expressions shall have the following meanings:

- (a) "Following Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day;
- "Modified Following Business Day Convention" or "Modified Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be postponed to the first following day that is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which case that date will be the first preceding day that is a Business Day save in respect of Notes for which the Reference Rate is SOFR, for which the final Interest Payment Date will not be postponed and interest on that payment will not accrue during the period from and after the scheduled final Interest Payment Date;
- (c) "Preceding Business Day Convention" means that the relevant date shall be brought forward to the first preceding day that is a Business Day;
- (d) "FRN Convention", "Floating Rate Convention" or "Eurodollar Convention" means that each relevant date shall be the date which numerically corresponds to the preceding such date in the calendar month which is the number of months specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the Specified Period after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred **provided**, **however**, that:
  - (i) if there is no such numerically corresponding day in the calendar month in which any such date should occur, then such date will be the last day which is a Business Day in that calendar month:
  - (ii) if any such date would otherwise fall on a day which is not a Business Day, then such date will be the first following day which is a Business Day unless that day falls in the next calendar month, in which case it will be the first preceding day which is a Business Day; and

- (iii) if the preceding such date occurred on the last day in a calendar month which was a Business Day, then all subsequent such dates will be the last day which is a Business Day in the calendar month which is the specified number of months after the calendar month in which the preceding such date occurred; and
- (e) "**No Adjustment**" means that the relevant date shall not be adjusted in accordance with any Business Day Convention;

"Calculation Agent" means the Fiscal Agent or such other Person specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and Interest Amount(s) and/or such other amount(s) as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Calculation Amount" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Coupon Sheet" means, in respect of a Note, a coupon sheet relating to the Note;

"Day Count Fraction" means, in respect of the calculation of an amount for any period of time (the "Calculation Period"), such day count fraction as may be specified in these Conditions or the applicable Pricing Supplement and:

- (a) if "Actual/Actual (ICMA)" is so specified, means:
  - (i) where the Calculation Period is equal to or shorter than the Regular Period during which it falls, the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
  - (ii) where the Calculation Period is longer than one Regular Period, the sum of:
    - (A) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the Regular Period in which it begins divided by the product of (1) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year; and
    - (B) the actual number of days in such Calculation Period falling in the next Regular Period divided by the product of (a) the actual number of days in such Regular Period and (2) the number of Regular Periods in any year;
  - (iii) if "**Actual/Actual (ISDA)**" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365 (or, if any portion of the Calculation Period falls in a leap year, the sum of (A) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a leap year divided by 366 and (B) the actual number of days in that portion of the Calculation Period falling in a non-leap year divided by 365);
  - (iv) if "Actual/365 (Fixed)" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 365;
  - (v) if "Actual/360" is so specified, means the actual number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360;
  - (vi) if "30/360" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

"Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>1</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

" $\mathbf{D_2}$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31 and  $D_1$  is greater than 29, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30";

(vii) if "30E/360" or "Eurobond Basis" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_1)}{360}$$

where:

" $Y_1$ " is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>1</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $D_1$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

" $D_2$ " is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless such number would be 31, in which case  $D_2$  will be 30; and

if "30E/360 (ISDA)" is so specified, the number of days in the Calculation Period divided by 360, calculated on a formula basis as follows:

Day Count Fraction = 
$$\frac{[360x(Y_2 - Y_1)] + [30x(M_2 - M_1)] + (D_2 - D_{1})}{360}$$

where:

"Y<sub>1</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"Y<sub>2</sub>" is the year, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $M_1$ " is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the first day of the Calculation Period falls;

"M<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar month, expressed as a number, in which the day immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period falls;

" $\mathbf{D_1}$ " is the first calendar day, expressed as a number, of the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case  $D_1$  will be 30; and

"D<sub>2</sub>" is the calendar day, expressed as a number, immediately following the last day included in the Calculation Period, unless (i) that day is the last day of February but not the Maturity Date or (ii) such number would be 31, in which case D<sub>2</sub> will be 30,

**provided, however, that** in each such case the number of days in the Calculation Period is calculated from and including the first day of the Calculation Period to but excluding the last day of the Calculation Period;

"Early Redemption Amount (Tax)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"**Early Termination Amount**" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in, or determined in accordance with, these Conditions or the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"EURIBOR" means, in respect of any specified currency and any specified period, the interest rate benchmark known as the Euro zone interbank offered rate which is calculated and published by a designated distributor (currently Thomson Reuters) in accordance with the requirements from time to time of the European Money Markets Institute (or any person which takes over administration of that rate);

"Extraordinary Resolution" has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

"Final Redemption Amount" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"First Interest Payment Date" means the date specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Fixed Coupon Amount" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"**Holder**", in the case of Bearer Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(b) (*Form, Denomination and Title - Title to Bearer Notes*) and, in the case of Registered Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(d) (*Form, Denomination and Title - Title to Registered Notes*);

"Interest Amount" means, in relation to a Note and an Interest Period, the amount of interest payable in respect of that Note for that Interest Period;

"Interest Commencement Date" means the Issue Date of the Notes or such other date as may be specified as the Interest Commencement Date in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Interest Determination Date" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Interest Payment Date" means the First Interest Payment Date and any other date or dates specified as such in, or determined in accordance with the provisions of, the applicable Pricing Supplement and, if a Business Day Convention is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement:

- (a) as the same may be adjusted in accordance with the relevant Business Day Convention; or
- (b) if the Business Day Convention is the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention and an interval of a number of calendar months is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being the Specified Period, each of such dates as may occur in accordance with the FRN Convention, Floating Rate Convention or Eurodollar Convention at such Specified Period of calendar months following the Interest Commencement Date (in the case of the first Interest Payment Date) or the previous Interest Payment Date (in any other case);

"Interest Period" means each period beginning on (and including) the Interest Commencement Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on (but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date (or, if the Notes are redeemed on any earlier date, the relevant redemption date);

"ISDA" means the International Swaps and Derivatives Association, Inc. (or any successor);

"ISDA Definitions" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Issue Date" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Margin" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Maturity Date" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Maximum Redemption Amount" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Minimum Rate of Interest" for any Interest Period has the meaning given in the Pricing Supplement but shall never be less than zero, including any relevant margin;

"Minimum Redemption Amount" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Noteholder", in the case of Bearer Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(b) (Form, Denomination and Title - Title to Bearer Notes) and, in the case of Registered Notes, has the meaning given in Condition 3(d) (Form, Denomination and Title - Title to Registered Notes);

"Optional Redemption Amount (Call)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Amount (Put)" means, in respect of any Note, its principal amount or such other amount as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Date (Call)" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Optional Redemption Date (Put)" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

#### "Payment Business Day" means:

- (a) if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is:
  - (i) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and
  - (ii) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or
- (b) if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is:
  - (i) a day on which banks in the relevant place of presentation are open for presentation and payment of bearer debt securities and for dealings in foreign currencies; and
  - (ii) in the case of payment by transfer to an account, a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre;

"Person" means any individual, company, corporation, firm, partnership, joint venture, association, organisation, state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or not having separate legal personality;

"Principal Financial Centre" means, in relation to any currency, the principal financial centre for that currency provided, however, that:

- in relation to euro, it means the principal financial centre of such Member State of the European Union as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent; and
- (b) in relation to New Zealand dollars, it means either Wellington or Auckland as is selected (in the case of a payment) by the payee or (in the case of a calculation) by the Calculation Agent;

"Put Option Notice" means a notice which must be delivered to a Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder;

"Put Option Receipt" means a receipt issued by a Paying Agent to a depositing Noteholder upon deposit of a Note with such Paying Agent by any Noteholder wanting to exercise a right to redeem a Note at the option of the Noteholder;

"QIB" means a "qualified institutional buyer" within the meaning of Rule 144A;

"**QP**" means a "qualified purchaser" within the meaning of Section 2(a)(51)(A) of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, and the rules and regulations thereunder;

"Rate of Interest" means the rate or rates (expressed as a percentage per annum) of interest payable in respect of the Notes specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or calculated or determined in accordance with the provisions of these Conditions and/or the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Redemption Amount" means, as appropriate, the Final Redemption Amount, the Early Redemption Amount (Tax), the Optional Redemption Amount (Call), the Optional Redemption Amount (Put), the Early Termination Amount or such other amount in the nature of a redemption amount as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Reference Banks" means four major banks selected by the Issuer in the market that is most closely connected with the Reference Rate;

"Reference Price" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Reference Rate" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement in respect of the currency and period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. Other than in the case of U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate Notes for which the "Reference Rate" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being SOFR, the term Reference Rate shall, following the occurrence of a Benchmark Event under Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser)), include any Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and shall, if a Benchmark Event should occur subsequently in respect of any such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate, also include any further Successor Rate or further Alternative Rate;

#### "Regular Period" means:

- (a) in the case of Notes where interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including the Interest Commencement Date to but excluding the first Interest Payment Date and each successive period from and including one Interest Payment Date to but excluding the next Interest Payment Date;
- (b) in the case of Notes where, apart from the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "**Regular Date**" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls; and
- (c) in the case of Notes where, apart from one Interest Period other than the first Interest Period, interest is scheduled to be paid only by means of regular payments, each period from and including a Regular Date falling in any year to but excluding the next Regular Date, where "Regular Date" means the day and month (but not the year) on which any Interest Payment Date falls other than the Interest Payment Date falling at the end of the irregular Interest Period.

"Regulation S" means Regulation S under the Securities Act;

"**Regulation S Notes**" means those Notes which are offered and sold to non-U.S. persons outside the United States in "offshore transactions" within the meaning of Regulation S;

"Relevant Date" means, in relation to any payment, whichever is the later of (a) the date on which the payment in question first becomes due and (b) if the full amount payable has not been received by the Fiscal Agent on or prior to such due date, the date on which (the full amount having been so received) notice to that effect has been given to the Noteholders;

"Relevant Financial Centre" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Relevant Screen Page" means the page, section or other part of a particular information service (including, without limitation, Reuters) specified as the Relevant Screen Page in the applicable Pricing Supplement, or such other page, section or other part as may replace it on that information service or such other information service, in each case, as may be nominated by the Person providing or sponsoring the information appearing there for the purpose of displaying rates or prices comparable to the Reference Rate;

"Relevant Time" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Remaining Term" means the term to maturity or, if a Par Redemption Date is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, to such Par Redemption Date;

"Reserved Matter" means any proposal to change any date fixed for payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes, to reduce the amount of principal or interest payable on any date in respect of the Notes, to alter the method of calculating the amount of any payment in respect of the Notes or the date for any such payment, to change the currency of any payment under the Notes or to change the quorum requirements relating to meetings or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution;

"Rule 144A Notes" means those Notes which are offered and sold within the United States in reliance on Rule 144A under the Securities Act ("Rule 144A") only to persons that are both QIBs and QPs, acting for their own account or for the account of one or more QIBs that are also QPs;

"Specified Currency" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Specified Denomination(s)" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Specified Office" has the meaning given in the Agency Agreement;

"Specified Period" has the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"Talon" means a talon for further Coupons;

"T2" means the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem or any successor thereto;

"TARGET Settlement Day" means any day on which T2 is open for the settlement of payments in euro; and

"Zero Coupon Note" means a Note specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

- (b) *Interpretation*: In these Conditions:
  - (i) if the Notes are Zero Coupon Notes or are Registered Notes, references to Coupons and Couponholders are not applicable;
  - (ii) if Talons are specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being attached to the Notes at the time of issue, references to Coupons shall be deemed to include references to Talons;
  - (iii) if Talons are not specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being attached to the Notes at the time of issue, references to Talons are not applicable;
  - (iv) any reference to principal shall be deemed to include the Redemption Amount, any additional amounts in respect of principal which may be payable under Condition 12 (*Taxation*), any

- premium payable in respect of a Note and any other amount in the nature of principal payable pursuant to these Conditions;
- (v) any reference to interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts in respect of interest which may be payable under Condition 12 (*Taxation*) and any other amount in the nature of interest payable pursuant to these Conditions;
- (vi) references to Notes being "outstanding" shall be construed in accordance with the Agency Agreement;
- (vii) if an expression is stated in Condition 2(a) (*Definitions*) to have the meaning given in the applicable Pricing Supplement, but the applicable Pricing Supplement gives no such meaning or specifies that such expression is "not applicable" then such expression is not applicable to the Notes; and
- (viii) any reference to the Agency Agreement shall be construed as a reference to the Agency Agreement as amended and/or supplemented up to and including the Issue Date of the Notes.

### 3. Form, Denomination and Title

- (a) Bearer Notes: Bearer Notes are issued with Coupons and, if specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, Talons attached at the time of issue. Bearer Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s) specified in the Pricing Supplement, **provided that** the Specified Denomination shall not be less than €100,000 or its equivalent in another currency as at the date of issue of the Notes. In the case of a Series of Bearer Notes with more than one Specified Denomination, Bearer Notes of one Specified Denomination will not be exchangeable for Bearer Notes of another Specified Denomination.
- (b) *Title to Bearer Notes:* Title to Bearer Notes and the Coupons will pass by delivery. In the case of Bearer Notes, "**Holder**" means the holder of such Bearer Note and "**Noteholder**" and "**Couponholder**" shall be construed accordingly.
- (c) Registered Notes: Registered Notes are issued in the Specified Denomination(s) which may include a minimum denomination specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and higher integral multiples of a smaller amount specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, **provided that**:
  - (i) the Specified Denomination(s) shall not be less than €100,000 or its equivalent in another currency as at the date of issue of the Notes; and
  - (ii) interests in the Rule 144A Notes shall be held in amounts of not less than U.S.\$200,000 or its equivalent in other currencies.
- (d) Title to Registered Notes: The Registrar will maintain the register in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement. A certificate (each, a "Note Certificate") will be issued to each Holder of Registered Notes in respect of its registered holding. Each Note Certificate will be numbered serially with an identifying number which will be recorded in the Register. In the case of Registered Notes, "Holder" means the person in whose name such Registered Note is for the time being registered in the Register (or, in the case of a joint holding, the first named thereof) and "Noteholder" shall be construed accordingly.
- (e) Ownership: The Holder of any Note or Coupon shall (except as otherwise required by law) be treated as its absolute owner for all purposes (whether or not it is overdue and regardless of any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest therein, any writing thereon or, in the case of Registered Notes, on the Note Certificate relating thereto (other than the endorsed form of transfer) or any notice of any previous loss or theft thereof) and no Person shall be liable for so treating such Holder. No person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of any Note under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.
- (f) Transfers of Registered Notes: Subject to paragraphs (i) (Closed periods) and (j) (Regulations concerning transfers and registration) below, a Registered Note may be transferred upon surrender of the relevant Note Certificate, with the endorsed form of transfer duly completed, at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Transfer Agent, together with such evidence as the Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may reasonably require to prove the title of the transferor and the authority of the individuals who have executed the form of transfer; **provided, however, that** a Registered Note may not be transferred unless the principal amount of Registered Notes transferred and (where not all of the

Registered Notes held by a Holder are being transferred) the principal amount of the balance of Registered Notes not transferred are Specified Denominations. Where not all the Registered Notes represented by the surrendered Note Certificate are the subject of the transfer, a new Note Certificate in respect of the balance of the Registered Notes will be issued to the transferor.

- (g) Registration and delivery of Note Certificates: Within five business days of the surrender of a Note Certificate in accordance with paragraph (f) (Transfers of Registered Notes) above, the Registrar will register the transfer in question and deliver a new Note Certificate of a like principal amount to the Registered Notes transferred to each relevant Holder at its Specified Office or (as the case may be) the Specified Office of any Transfer Agent or (at the request and risk of any such relevant Holder) by uninsured first class mail (airmail if overseas) to the address specified for the purpose by such relevant Holder. In this paragraph, "business day" means a day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealings in foreign currencies) in the city where the Registrar or (as the case may be) the relevant Transfer Agent has its Specified Office.
- (h) *No charge:* The transfer of a Registered Note will be effected without charge by or on behalf of the Issuer or the Registrar or any Transfer Agent but against such indemnity as the Registrar or (as the case may be) such Transfer Agent may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatsoever nature which may be levied or imposed in connection with such transfer.
- (i) Closed periods: Noteholders may not require transfers to be registered during the period of 15 days ending on the due date for any payment of principal or interest in respect of the Registered Notes.
- (j) Regulations concerning transfers and registration: All transfers of Registered Notes and entries on the Register are subject to the detailed regulations concerning the transfer of Registered Notes scheduled to the Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer with the prior written approval of the Registrar. A copy of the current regulations will be mailed (free of charge) by the Registrar to any Noteholder who requests in writing a copy of such regulations.
- (k) The Issuer may compel any beneficial owner of an interest in the Rule 144A Notes to sell its interest in such Rule 144A Notes, or may sell such interest on behalf of such Holder, if such Holder is a U.S. person (as defined in Regulation S) that is not both a QIB and a QP.

#### 4. Status of the Notes

The Notes constitute direct, unconditional, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer and rank and will rank *pari passu*, without any preference among themselves, with all other outstanding, unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Issuer, present and future, other than those preferred by law and, in the event of insolvency, only to the extent permitted by applicable laws relating to creditors' rights.

### 5. Guarantee

Under Section 62 of the EFIC Act the due payment by the Issuer of any money that becomes payable by the Issuer to a person other than the Commonwealth of Australia is guaranteed by the Commonwealth of Australia.

### 6. Fixed Rate Note Provisions

- (a) Application: This Condition 6 is applicable to the Notes only if the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments Bearer Notes) and Condition 11 (Payments Registered Notes). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition 6 (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

- (c) Fixed Coupon Amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount and, if the Notes are in more than one Specified Denomination, shall be the relevant Fixed Coupon Amount in respect of the relevant Specified Denomination.
- (d) Notes accruing interest otherwise than a Fixed Coupon Amount: This Condition 6(d) shall apply to Notes which are Fixed Rate Notes only where the Pricing Supplement for such Notes specifies that the Interest Payment Dates are subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention specified therein. The relevant amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any Interest Period for such Notes shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by multiplying the product of the Rate of Interest and the Calculation Amount by the relevant Day Count Fraction and rounding the resultant figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards). The Calculation Agent shall cause the relevant amount of interest and the relevant Interest Payment Date to be notified to the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Registrar (in the case of Registered Notes) and the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 20 (Notices). If the Notes are listed on a stock exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, the Issuer shall procure notification of the relevant amount of interest and the relevant Interest Payment Date to such exchange as soon as possible after their determination or calculation but in no event later than the fourth Business Day thereafter or, if earlier in the case of notification to the stock exchange, the time required by the rules of the relevant stock exchange.
- (e) Calculation of interest amount: The amount of interest payable in respect of each Note for any period for which a Fixed Coupon Amount is not specified shall be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of such Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.

## 7. Floating Rate Note Provisions

- (a) Application: This Condition 7 is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Accrual of interest: The Notes bear interest from (and including) the Interest Commencement Date at the Rate of Interest payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments Bearer Notes) and Condition 11 (Payments Registered Notes). Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final redemption unless, upon due presentation, payment of the Redemption Amount is improperly withheld or refused, in which case it will continue to bear interest in accordance with this Condition (both before and after judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).
- (c) Screen Rate Determination: If Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be (other than in respect of Notes for which SONIA, SOFR and/or €STR or any related index is specified as the Reference Rate in the applicable Pricing Supplement) determined by the Calculation Agent on the following basis:
  - (i) if the Reference Rate is a composite quotation or customarily supplied by one entity, the Calculation Agent will determine the Reference Rate which appears on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date;
  - (ii) if Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to two rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date, where:

- (A) one rate shall be determined as if the relevant Interest Period were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period; and
- (B) the other rate shall be determined as if the relevant Interest Period were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period;

*provided, however, that* if no rate is available for a period of time next shorter or, as the case may be, next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period, then the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Rate of Interest at such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer, in consultation with an Independent Adviser appointed by the Issuer, and such Independent Adviser acting in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner determines appropriate;

(iii) in any other case, the Calculation Agent will determine the arithmetic mean of the Reference Rates which appear on the Relevant Screen Page as of the Relevant Time on the relevant Interest Determination Date,

and the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period shall be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean so determined; **provided, however, that** if the Calculation Agent is unable to determine a rate or (as the case may be) an arithmetic mean in accordance with the above provisions in relation to any Interest Period, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes during such Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the rate or (as the case may be) the arithmetic mean last determined in relation to the Notes in respect of a preceding Interest Period.

- (d) ISDA Determination: If ISDA Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, the Rate of Interest applicable to the Notes for each Interest Period will be the sum of the Margin and the relevant ISDA Rate where "ISDA Rate" in relation to any Interest Period means a rate equal to the Floating Rate (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) that would be determined by the Calculation Agent under an interest rate swap transaction if the Calculation Agent were acting as Calculation Agent for that interest rate swap transaction under the terms of an agreement incorporating the ISDA Definitions (provided that in any circumstances where under the ISDA Definitions the Calculation Agent would be required to exercise any discretion, including the selection of any reference banks and seeking quotations from reference banks, when calculating the relevant ISDA Rate, the relevant determination(s) which require the Calculation Agent to exercise its discretion shall instead be made by the Issuer or its designee) and under which:
  - (i) if the Pricing Supplement specifies either "2006 ISDA Definitions" or "2021 ISDA Definitions" as the applicable ISDA Definitions:
    - (A) the Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
    - (B) the Designated Maturity (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), if applicable, is a period specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
    - (C) the relevant Reset Date (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, has the meaning given to it in the ISDA Definitions;
    - (D) if Linear Interpolation is specified as applicable in respect of an Interest Period in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the rate for such Interest Period shall be calculated by the Calculation Agent by straight-line linear interpolation by reference to two rates based on the relevant Floating Rate Option, where:
      - (1) one rate shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period; and
      - (2) the other rate shall be determined as if the Designated Maturity were the period of time for which rates are available next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period,

provided, however, that if there is no rate available for a period of time next shorter than the length of the relevant Interest Period or, as the case may be, next longer than the length of the relevant Interest Period, then the Calculation Agent shall calculate the Rate of Interest at such time and by reference to such sources as the Issuer, in consultation with an Independent Adviser appointed by the Issuer (and such Independent Adviser to act in good faith and in a commercially reasonable manner), determines appropriate;

- (E) if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), Compounding is specified to be applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement and:
  - (1) if Compounding with Lookback is specified as the Compounding Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Lookback is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method and (b) Lookback is the number of Applicable Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
  - (2) if Compounding with Observation Period Shift is specified as the Compounding Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Observation Period Shift is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, (b) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (c) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), if applicable, are the days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
  - if Compounding with Lockout is specified as the Compounding Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement then (a) Compounding with Lockout is the Overnight Rate Compounding Method, (b) Lockout is the number of Lockout Period Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (c) Lockout Period Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;
- (F) if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Overnight Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), Averaging is specified to be applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement and:
  - (1) if Averaging with Lookback is specified as the Averaging Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Lookback is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method and (b) Lookback is the number of Applicable Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in relevant Pricing Supplement;
  - (2) if Averaging with Observation Period Shift is specified as the Averaging Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Overnight Period Shift is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method, (b) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (c) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions), if applicable, are the days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; or
  - (3) if Averaging with Lockout is specified as the Averaging Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement then (a) Averaging with Lockout is the Overnight Rate Averaging Method, (b) Lockout is the number of Lockout Period Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (c) Lockout Period Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement; and
- (G) if the specified Floating Rate Option is an Index Floating Rate Option (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) and Index Provisions are specified to be applicable in the relevant

Pricing Supplement, the Compounded Index Method with Observation Period Shift (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) shall be applicable and, (a) Observation Period Shift is the number of Observation Period Shift Business Days (as defined in the ISDA Definitions) specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and (b) Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days, if applicable, are the days specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

- (ii) references in the ISDA Definitions to:
  - (A) "Confirmation" shall be references to the applicable Pricing Supplement;
  - (B) "Calculation Period" shall be references to the relevant Interest Period;
  - (C) "**Termination Date**" shall be references to the Maturity Date;
  - (D) "Effective Date" shall be references to the Interest Commencement Date; and
- (iii) if the Pricing Supplement specifies "2021 ISDA Definitions" as being applicable:
  - (A) "Administrator/Benchmark Event" shall be disapplied; and
  - (B) if the Temporary Non-Publication Fallback in respect of any specified Floating Rate Option is specified to be "Temporary Non-Publication Fallback Alternative Rate" in the Floating Rate Matrix of the 2021 ISDA Definitions the reference to "Calculation Agent Alternative Rate Determination" in the definition of "Temporary Non-Publication Fallback Alternative Rate" shall be replaced by "Temporary Non-Publication Fallback Previous Day's Rate".
- (e) Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA (Screen Rate Determination)
  - (i) This Condition 7(e) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and the "Reference Rate" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "SONIA".
  - (ii) Where "SONIA" is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily SONIA plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent.
  - (iii) For the purposes of this Condition 7(e):

"Compounded Daily SONIA", with respect to an Interest Period, will be calculated by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula, and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the fourth decimal place, with 0.00005 being rounded upwards:

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SONIA_i \times n_i}{365} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{365}{d}$$

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

<sup>&</sup>quot;do" means the number of London Banking Days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"i" means a series of whole numbers from one to d<sub>0</sub>, each representing the relevant London Banking Day in chronological order from, and including, the first London Banking Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

to, and including, the last London Banking Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable).

"London Banking Day" or "LBD" means any day on which commercial banks are open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency deposits) in London;

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any London Banking Day "i", in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable) is the number of calendar days from, and including, such London Banking Day "i" up to, but excluding, the following London Banking Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of an Interest Period, the period from, and including, the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the first day of such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) and ending on, but excluding, the date which is "p" London Banking Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" London Banking Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"p" for any Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of London Banking Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if no such period is specified, five London Banking Days;

"SONIA Reference Rate" means, in respect of any London Banking Day, a reference rate equal to the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA") rate for such London Banking Day as provided by the administrator of SONIA to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page (or if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise is published by such authorised distributors) on the London Banking Day immediately following such London Banking Day; and

"SONIA<sub>i</sub>" means the SONIA Reference Rate for:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the London Banking Day falling "p" London Banking Days prior to the relevant London Banking Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant London Banking Day "i";

For the avoidance of doubt, the formula for the calculation of Compounded Daily SONIA only compounds the SONIA Reference Rate in respect of any London Banking Day. The SONIA Reference Rate applied to a day that is a non-London Banking Day will be taken by applying the SONIA Reference Rate for the previous London Banking Day but without compounding.

- (iv) If, in respect of any London Banking Day in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), the Calculation Agent determines that the SONIA Reference Rate is not available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, such SONIA Reference Rate shall, subject to Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser)), be:
  - (A) the sum of (a) the Bank of England's Bank Rate (the "Bank Rate") prevailing at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day; and (b) the mean of the spread of the SONIA Reference Rate to the Bank Rate over the previous five London Banking Days on which a SONIA Reference Rate has been published, excluding the highest spread (or, if there is more than one highest spread, one only of those highest spreads) and lowest spread (or, if there is more than one lowest spread, one only of those lowest spreads) to the Bank Rate; or
  - (B) if the Bank Rate is not published by the Bank of England at close of business on the relevant London Banking Day, (a) the SONIA Reference Rate published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) for the first preceding London Banking Day on which the SONIA Reference Rate was published on the Relevant Screen Page (or otherwise published by the relevant authorised distributors) or (b) if this is more recent, the latest determined rate under (A).
- (v) Subject to Condition 7(n) (*Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser*)), if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 7(e), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).
- (f) Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR (Screen Rate Determination)
  - (i) This Condition 7(f) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and the "Reference Rate" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR".
  - (ii) Where "SOFR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be the Benchmark plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date.
  - (iii) For the purposes of this Condition 7(f):

"Benchmark" means Compounded SOFR, which is a compounded average of daily SOFR, as determined for each Interest Period in accordance with the specific formula and other provisions set out in this Condition 7(f).

Daily SOFR rates will not be published in respect of any day that is not a U.S. Government Securities Business Day, such as a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday. For this reason, in determining Compounded SOFR in accordance with the specific formula and other provisions set forth herein, the daily SOFR rate for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day that immediately precedes one or more days that are not U.S. Government Securities Business Days will be multiplied by the number of calendar days from and including such U.S. Government Securities Business Day to, but excluding, the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day.

If the Issuer determines that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred in respect of Compounded SOFR (or the daily SOFR used in the calculation hereof) prior to the relevant SOFR Determination Time, then the provisions under Condition 7(f)(iv) below will apply.

"Business Day" means any weekday that is a U.S. Government Securities Business Day and is not a legal holiday in New York and each (if any) Additional Business Centre(s) and is not a date on which banking institutions in those cities are authorised or required by law or regulation to be closed;

"Compounded SOFR" with respect to any Interest Period, means the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment computed in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards to 0.00001):

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{SOFR_i \times n_i}{360} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{360}{d}$$

"d" is the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period.

"d<sub>0</sub>" is the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period.

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to  $d_o$ , each representing the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day in chronological order from, and including, the first U.S. Government Securities Business Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period,

to and including the last U.S. Government Securities Business Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), is the number of calendar days from, and including, such U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i" to, but excluding, the following U.S. Government Securities Business Day ("i+1");

"Observation Period" in respect of an Interest Period means the period from, and including, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the first day in such Interest Period (and the first Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) to, but excluding, the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days preceding the

Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable);

"p" for any Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable) means the number of U.S. Government Securities Business Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the applicable Pricing Supplement or if no such period is specified, five U.S. Government Securities Business Days;

"SOFR" with respect to any U.S. Government Securities Business Day, means:

- (i) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate published for such U.S. Government Securities Business Day as such rate appears on the SOFR Administrator's Website at 3:00 p.m. (New York time) on the immediately following U.S. Government Securities Business Day (the "SOFR Determination Time"); or
- (ii) subject to Condition 7(f)(iv) below, if the rate specified in (i) above does not so appear, the Secured Overnight Financing Rate as published in respect of the first preceding U.S. Government Securities Business Day for which the Secured Overnight Financing Rate was published on the SOFR Administrator's Website;

"SOFR Administrator" means the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of the Secured Overnight Financing Rate);

"SOFR Administrator's Website" means the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source;

"SOFR<sub>i</sub>" means the SOFR for:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the U.S. Government Securities Business Day falling "p" U.S. Government Securities Business Days prior to the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant U.S. Government Securities Business Day "i"; and
- "U.S. Government Securities Business Day" means any day except for a Saturday, a Sunday or a day on which the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association recommends that the fixed income departments of its members be closed for the entire day for purposes of trading in U.S. government securities.
- (iv) If the Issuer determines on or prior to the relevant Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to the then-current Benchmark, the Benchmark Replacement will replace the then-current Benchmark for all purposes relating to the Notes in respect of all determinations on such date and for all determinations on all subsequent dates. In connection with the implementation of a Benchmark Replacement, the Issuer will have the right to make Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes from time to time, without any requirement for the consent or approval of the Noteholders.

Any determination, decision or election that may be made by the Issuer pursuant to this section, including any determination with respect to a tenor, rate or adjustment or of the occurrence or non-occurrence of an event, circumstance or date and any decision to take or refrain from taking any action or any selection:

- (i) will be conclusive and binding absent manifest error;
- (ii) will be made in the sole discretion of the Issuer; and
- (iii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the documentation relating to the Notes, shall become effective without consent from the holders of the Notes or any other party.

"Benchmark" means, initially, Compounded SOFR, as such term is defined above; provided that if the Issuer determines on or prior to the Reference Time that a Benchmark Transition Event and its related Benchmark Replacement Date have occurred with respect to Compounded SOFR (or the published daily SOFR used in the calculation thereof) or the then-current Benchmark, then "Benchmark" shall mean the applicable Benchmark Replacement.

"Benchmark Replacement" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the sum of: (A) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;
- (ii) the sum of: (A) the ISDA Fallback Rate and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment; or
- (iii) the sum of: (A) the alternate rate of interest that has been selected by the Issuer as the replacement for the then-current Benchmark giving due consideration to any industry-accepted rate of interest as a replacement for the then-current Benchmark for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time and (B) the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment;

"Benchmark Replacement Adjustment" means the first alternative set forth in the order below that can be determined by the Issuer as of the Benchmark Replacement Date:

- (i) the spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected or recommended by the Relevant Governmental Body for the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement;
- (ii) if the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement is equivalent to the ISDA Fallback Rate, the ISDA Fallback Adjustment; or
- (iii) the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that has been selected by the Issuer giving due consideration to any industry-accepted spread adjustment, or method for calculating or determining such spread adjustment, for the replacement of the then-current Benchmark with the applicable Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement for U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate notes at such time;

"Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes" means, with respect to any Benchmark Replacement, any technical, administrative or operational changes (including changes to the timing and frequency of determining rates and making payments of interest, rounding of amounts or tenors, and other administrative matters) that the Issuer decides may be appropriate to reflect the adoption of such Benchmark Replacement in a manner substantially consistent with market practice (or, if the Issuer decides that adoption of any portion of such market practice is not administratively feasible or if the Issuer determines that no market practice for use of the Benchmark Replacement exists, in such other manner as the Issuer determines is reasonably necessary);

"Benchmark Replacement Date" means the earliest to occur of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) in the case of clause (i) or (ii) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the later of (a) the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein and (b) the date on which the administrator of the Benchmark permanently or indefinitely ceases to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) in the case of clause (iii) of the definition of "Benchmark Transition Event," the date of the public statement or publication of information referenced therein.

For the avoidance of doubt, if the event that gives rise to the Benchmark Replacement Date occurs on the same day as, but earlier than, the Reference Time in respect of any determination, the Benchmark Replacement Date will be deemed to have occurred prior to the Reference Time for such determination;

"Benchmark Transition Event" means the occurrence of one or more of the following events with respect to the then-current Benchmark (including the daily published component used in the calculation thereof):

- (i) a public statement or publication of information by or on behalf of the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) announcing that such administrator has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component), permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (ii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component), the central bank for the currency of the Benchmark (or such component), an insolvency official with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component), a resolution authority with jurisdiction over the administrator for the Benchmark (or such component) or a court or an entity with similar insolvency or resolution authority over the administrator for the Benchmark, which states that the administrator of the Benchmark (or such component) has ceased or will cease to provide the Benchmark (or such component) permanently or indefinitely, provided that, at the time of such statement or publication, there is no successor administrator that will continue to provide the Benchmark (or such component); or
- (iii) a public statement or publication of information by the regulatory supervisor for the administrator of the Benchmark announcing that the Benchmark is no longer representative;

"ISDA Fallback Adjustment" means the spread adjustment (which may be a positive or negative value or zero) that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be determined upon the occurrence of an index cessation event with respect to the Benchmark;

"ISDA Fallback Rate" means the rate that would apply for derivatives transactions referencing the ISDA Definitions to be effective upon the occurrence of an index cessation date with respect to the Benchmark for the applicable tenor excluding the applicable ISDA Fallback Adjustment;

"**Reference Time**" with respect to any determination of the Benchmark means (i) if the Benchmark is Compounded SOFR, the SOFR Determination Time, and (ii) if the Benchmark is not Compounded SOFR, the time determined by the Issuer after giving effect to the Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes;

"Relevant Governmental Body" means the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or a committee officially endorsed or convened by the Federal Reserve Board and/or the Federal Reserve Bank of New York or any successor thereto; and

"Unadjusted Benchmark Replacement" means the Benchmark Replacement excluding the Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.

(v) Any Benchmark Replacement, Benchmark Replacement Adjustment and the specific terms of any Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, determined under Condition 7(f)(iv) above will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 20 (*Notices*), the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date on which such changes take effect.

No later than notifying the Fiscal Agent of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer:

(A) confirming (x) that a Benchmark Transition Event has occurred, (y) the relevant Benchmark Replacement and, (z) where applicable, any Benchmark Replacement

Adjustment and/or the specific terms of any relevant Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 7(f); and

- (B) certifying that the relevant Benchmark Replacement Conforming Changes are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Benchmark Replacement and/or Benchmark Replacement Adjustment.
- (vi) If the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 7(f), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).
- (g) Interest Floating Rate Notes referencing €STR (Screen Rate Determination)
  - (i) This Condition 7(g) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and the "Reference Rate" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "€STR".
  - (ii) Where "€STR" is specified as the Reference Rate in the Pricing Supplement, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will, subject as provided below, be Compounded Daily €STR plus or minus (as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) the Margin, all as determined by the Calculation Agent on each Interest Determination Date.
  - (iii) For the purposes of this Condition 7(g):

"Compounded Daily €STR" means, with respect to any Interest Period, the rate of return of a daily compound interest investment (with the daily euro short-term rate as reference rate for the calculation of interest) as calculated by the Calculation Agent as at the relevant Interest Determination Date in accordance with the following formula (and the resulting percentage will be rounded if necessary to the nearest fifth decimal place, with 0.000005 being rounded upwards):

$$\left[ \prod_{i=1}^{d_o} \left( 1 + \frac{\text{\in} STR_i \times n_i}{D} \right) - 1 \right] \times \frac{D}{d}$$

where:

"d" means the number of calendar days in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

"D" means the number specified as such in the applicable Pricing Supplement (or, if no such number is specified, 360);

"do" means the number of TARGET Settlement Days in:

(i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or

(ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

the "€STR reference rate", in respect of any TARGET Settlement Day, is a reference rate equal to the daily euro short-term rate ("€STR") for such TARGET Settlement Day as provided by the €STR Administrator on the €STR Administrator's Website (or, if no longer published on its website, as otherwise published by it or provided by it to authorised distributors and as then published on the Relevant Screen Page or, if the Relevant Screen Page is unavailable, as otherwise published by such authorised distributors) on the TARGET Settlement Day immediately following such TARGET Settlement Day (in each case, at the time specified by, or determined in accordance with, the applicable methodology, policies or guidelines, of the €STR Administrator);

"€STR Administrator" means the European Central Bank (or any successor administrator of €STR);

"€STR Administrator's Website" means as the website of the European Central Bank or any successor source;

"€STR<sub>i</sub>" means the €STR reference rate for:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the TARGET Settlement Day falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to the relevant TARGET Settlement Day "i"; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant TARGET Settlement Day "i".

"i" is a series of whole numbers from one to "do", each representing the relevant TARGET Settlement Day in chronological order from, and including, the first TARGET Settlement Day in:

- (i) where "Lag" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Interest Period; or
- (ii) where "Observation Shift" is specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the relevant Observation Period;

to, and including, the last TARGET Settlement Day in such period;

"Interest Determination Date" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period (or the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes are due and payable);

"n<sub>i</sub>" for any TARGET Settlement Day "i" in the relevant Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of calendar days from (and including) such TARGET Settlement Day "i" up to (but excluding) the following TARGET Settlement Day;

"Observation Period" means, in respect of any Interest Period, the period from (and including) the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period (and the final Interest Period shall begin on and include the Interest Commencement Date) to (but excluding) the date falling "p" TARGET Settlement Days prior to (A) (in the case of an Interest Period) the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period or (B) such earlier date, if any, on which the Notes become due and payable; and

"p" for any latest Interest Period or Observation Period (as applicable), means the number of TARGET Settlement Days specified as the "Lag Period" or the "Observation Shift Period" (as applicable) in the applicable Pricing Supplement or, if no such period is specified, five TARGET Business Days.

(iv) Subject to Condition 7(n) (*Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser*)), if, where any Rate of Interest is to be calculated pursuant to Condition 7(g)(ii) above, in respect of any TARGET

Settlement Day in respect of which an applicable €STR reference rate is required to be determined, such €STR reference rate is not made available on the Relevant Screen Page or has not otherwise been published by the relevant authorised distributors, then the €STR reference rate in respect of such TARGET Settlement Day shall be the €STR reference rate for the first preceding TARGET Settlement Day in respect of which €STR reference rate was published by the €STR Administrator on the €STR Administrator's Website, as determined by the Calculation Agent.

- (v) Subject to Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser)), if the Rate of Interest cannot be determined in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Condition 7(g)(ii)(g), the Rate of Interest shall be (A) that determined as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date (though substituting, where a different Margin is to be applied to the relevant Interest Period from that which applied to the last preceding Interest Period, the Margin relating to the relevant Interest Period, in place of the Margin relating to that last preceding Interest Period) or (B) if there is no such preceding Interest Determination Date, the initial Rate of Interest which would have been applicable to the Notes for the first Interest Period had the Notes been in issue for a period equal in duration to the scheduled first Interest Period but ending on (and excluding) the Interest Commencement Date (but applying the Margin applicable to the first Interest Period).
- (h) Interest SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index (Screen Rate Determination)

This Condition 7(h) is applicable to the Notes only if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, Screen Rate Determination is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined, and "Index Determination" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.

Where "Index Determination" is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Rate of Interest for each Interest Period will be the compounded daily reference rate for the relevant Interest Period, calculated in accordance with the following formula:

$$\frac{\textit{(Compounded Index End}}{\textit{Compounded Index Start}} - 1) X \frac{\textit{Numerator}}{d}$$

and rounded to the Relevant Decimal Place, plus or minus the Margin (if any), all as determined and calculated by the Calculation Agent, where:

"Compounded Index" shall mean either the SONIA Compounded Index or the SOFR Compounded Index, as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement;

"d" is the number of calendar days from (and including) the day on which the relevant Compounded Index Start is determined to (but excluding) the day on which the relevant Compounded Index End is determined;

"End" means the relevant Compounded Index value on the day falling the Relevant Number of Index Days prior to the Interest Payment Date for such Interest Period, or such other date on which the relevant payment of interest falls due (but which by its definition or the operation of the relevant provisions is excluded from such Interest Period);

"Index Days" means, in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index, London Banking Days, and, in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, U.S. Government Securities Business Days;

"Numerator" means, in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index, 365 and, in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, 360;

"Relevant Decimal Place" shall, unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Supplement, be the fifth decimal place in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index and the seventh decimal place in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index, in each case rounded up or down, if necessary (with 0.000005 or, as the case may be, 0.00000005 being rounded upwards); and

"Relevant Number" is as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, but, unless otherwise specified shall be five.

"SONIA Compounded Index" means the Compounded Daily SONIA rate as published at 10:00 (London time) by the Bank of England (or a successor administrator of SONIA) on the Bank of England's Interactive Statistical Database, or any successor source;

"SOFR Compounded Index" means the Compounded Daily SOFR rate as published at 15:00 (New York time) by Federal Reserve Bank of New York (or a successor administrator of SOFR) on the website of the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or any successor source; and

"Start" means the relevant Compounded Index value on the day falling the Relevant Number of Index Days prior to the first day of the relevant Interest Period.

Provided that a Benchmark Event has not occurred in respect of the relevant Compounded Index, if, with respect to any Interest Period, the relevant rate is not published for the relevant Compounded Index either on the relevant Start or End date, then the Calculation Agent shall calculate the rate of interest for that Interest Period as if Index Determination was not specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement and as if Compounded Daily SONIA or Compounded Daily SOFR (as defined in Condition 7(e) or Condition 7(f), as applicable) had been specified instead in the Pricing Supplement, and in each case "Observation Shift" had been specified as the Observation Method in the applicable Pricing Supplement, and where the Observation Shift Period for the purposes of the references to that term in Condition 7(e) or Condition 7(f) (as applicable) shall be deemed to be the same as the Relevant Number specified in the Pricing Supplement and where, in the case of Compounded Daily SONIA, the Relevant Screen Page will be determined by the Issuer. For the avoidance of doubt, if a Benchmark Event has occurred in respect of the relevant Compounded Index, the provisions of Condition 7(n) (*Benchmark Discontinuation (Independent Adviser*)) shall apply.

- (i) Maximum or Minimum Rate of Interest: If any Maximum Rate of Interest or Minimum Rate of Interest is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, then the Rate of Interest shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.
- (j) Calculation of Interest Amount: The Calculation Agent will, as soon as practicable after the time at which the Rate of Interest is to be determined in relation to each Interest Period, calculate the Interest Amount payable in respect of each Note for such Interest Period. The Interest Amount will be calculated by applying the Rate of Interest for such Interest Period to the Calculation Amount, multiplying the product by the relevant Day Count Fraction, rounding the resulting figure to the nearest sub-unit of the Specified Currency (half a sub-unit being rounded upwards) and multiplying such rounded figure by a fraction equal to the Specified Denomination of the relevant Note divided by the Calculation Amount. For this purpose a "sub-unit" means, in the case of any currency other than euro, the lowest amount of such currency that is available as legal tender in the country of such currency and, in the case of euro, means one cent.
- (k) Publication: The Calculation Agent will cause each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by it, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined by it together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to the Paying Agents. Notice thereof shall also promptly be given to the Noteholders. The Calculation Agent will be entitled to recalculate any Interest Amount (on the basis of the foregoing provisions) without notice in the event of an extension or shortening of the relevant Interest Period. If the Calculation Amount is less than the minimum Specified Denomination the Calculation Agent shall not be obliged to publish each Interest Amount but instead may publish only the Calculation Amount and the Interest Amount in respect of a Note having the minimum Specified Denomination. The Issuer will procure each Rate of Interest and Interest Amount determined by the Calculation Agent, together with the relevant Interest Payment Date, and any other amount(s) required to be determined by the Calculation Agent together with any relevant payment date(s) to be notified to each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation as soon as practicable after such determination.
- (l) Notifications etc: All notifications, opinions, determinations, certificates, calculations, quotations and decisions given, expressed, made or obtained for the purposes of this Condition by the Calculation Agent will (in the absence of manifest error) be binding on the Issuer, the Paying Agents, the Noteholders and the Couponholders and (subject as aforesaid) no liability to any such Person will attach to the Calculation Agent in connection with the exercise or non-exercise by it of its powers, duties and discretions for such purposes.

(m) Determination of Rate of Interest following acceleration: If (i) the Notes become due and payable in accordance with Condition 13 (Events of Default) and (ii) the Rate of Interest for the Interest Period during which the Notes become due and payable is to be determined by reference to any of Conditions 7(e) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SONIA (Screen Rate Determination)), 7(f) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing SOFR (Screen Rate Determination)), 7(g) (Interest – Floating Rate Notes referencing \(\epsilon\)STR (Screen Rate Determination)) and 7(h) (Interest – SONIA Compounded Index and SOFR Compounded Index (Screen Rate Determination)), then the final Interest Determination Date shall be the date on which the Notes become so due and payable, and such Rate of Interest shall continue to apply to the Notes for so long as interest continues to accrue thereon as provided in the Conditions.

## (n) Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser)

Other than in the case of a U.S. dollar-denominated floating rate Note for which the Reference Rate is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as being "SOFR", if a Benchmark Event occurs in relation to the Reference Rate when the Rate of Interest (or any component part thereof) for any Interest Period remains to be determined by reference to such Reference Rate, then the Issuer shall use its reasonable endeavours to appoint an Independent Adviser, as soon as reasonably practicable, to determine a Successor Rate, failing which an Alternative Rate (in accordance with Condition 7(n)(i)) and, in either case, an Adjustment Spread, if any (in accordance with Condition 7(n)(ii)) and any Benchmark Amendments (in accordance with Condition 7(n)(iii)).

In the absence of bad faith or fraud, the Independent Adviser shall have no liability whatsoever to the Issuer, the Fiscal Agent, Agents or the Noteholders for any determination made by it pursuant to this Condition 7(n) and the Fiscal Agent will not be liable for any loss, liability, cost, charge or expense which may arise as a result thereof.

- (i) If the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion that:
  - (A) there is a Successor Rate, then such Successor Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 7(n)(i)) subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for the relevant Interest Period and all following Interest Periods, subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 7(n) in the event of a further Benchmark Event affecting the Successor Rate; or
  - (B) there is no Successor Rate but that there is an Alternative Rate, then such Alternative Rate shall (subject to adjustment as provided in Condition 7(n)(i)) subsequently be used in place of the Reference Rate to determine the Rate of Interest (or the relevant component part(s) thereof) for the relevant Interest Period and all following Interest Periods, subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 7(n) in the event of a further Benchmark Event affecting the Alternative Rate.
- (ii) If the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion (A) that an Adjustment Spread is required to be applied to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and (B) the quantum of, or a formula or methodology for determining, such Adjustment Spread, then such Adjustment Spread shall apply to the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be).
- (iii) If any relevant Successor Rate, Alternative Rate or Adjustment Spread is determined in accordance with this Condition 7(n) and the Independent Adviser determines in its discretion (i) that amendments to these Conditions are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread (such amendments, the "Benchmark Amendments") and (ii) the terms of the Benchmark Amendments, then the Issuer shall, following consultation with the Calculation Agent (or the person specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement as the party responsible for calculating the Rate of Interest and the Interest Amount(s)), subject to giving notice thereof in accordance with Condition 7(n)(iv), without any requirement for the consent or approval of relevant Noteholders, vary these Conditions to give effect to such Benchmark Amendments with effect from the date specified in such notice (and for the avoidance of doubt, the Fiscal Agent shall, at the direction and expense of the Issuer, consent to and effect such consequential amendments to the Fiscal Agency Agreement and these Conditions as the Fiscal Agent may be required in order to give effect to this Condition 7(n)).

- (iv) If (A) the Issuer is unable to appoint an Independent Adviser or (B) the Independent Adviser appointed by it fails to determine a Successor Rate or, failing which, an Alternative Rate in accordance with this Condition 7(n) prior to the relevant Interest Determination Date, the Reference Rate applicable to the relevant Interest Period shall be the Reference Rate applicable as at the last preceding Interest Determination Date. If there has not been a first Interest Payment Date, the Reference Rate shall be the Reference Rate applicable to the first Interest Period. For the avoidance of doubt, any adjustment pursuant to this Condition 7(n)(iv) shall apply to the relevant Interest Period only. Any subsequent Interest Period may be subject to the subsequent operation of this Condition 7(n) (Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser)).
- (v) Any Successor Rate, Alternative Rate, Adjustment Spread and the specific terms of any Benchmark Amendments, determined under this Condition 7(n) will be notified promptly by the Issuer to the Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and, in accordance with Condition 20 (*Notices*), the Noteholders. Such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the effective date of the Benchmark Amendments, if any.
- (vi) No later than notifying the Fiscal Agent of the same, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer:
  - (A) confirming (x) that a Benchmark Event has occurred, (y) the relevant Successor Rate, or, as the case may be, the relevant Alternative Rate and, (z) where applicable, any relevant Adjustment Spread and/or the specific terms of any relevant Benchmark Amendments, in each case as determined in accordance with the provisions of this Condition 7(n); and
  - (B) certifying that (1) the relevant Benchmark Amendments are necessary to ensure the proper operation of such relevant Successor Rate, Alternative Rate and/or Adjustment Spread and (2) the intent of the drafting of such changes is solely to implement the relevant Benchmark Amendments.

The Fiscal Agent and the Agents shall be entitled to rely on such certificate (without further enquiry and without liability to any person) as sufficient evidence thereof.

- (vii) The Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and the Adjustment Spread (if any) and the Benchmark Amendments (if any) specified in such certificate will (in the absence of manifest error or bad faith in the determination of such Successor Rate or Alternative Rate and such Adjustment Spread (if any) and such Benchmark Amendments (if any)) be binding on the Issuer, Fiscal Agent, the Calculation Agent, the Paying Agents and the Noteholders.
- (viii) As used in this Condition 7(n):
  - "Adjustment Spread" means either a spread (which may be positive or negative), or the formula or methodology for calculating a spread, in either case, which the Independent Adviser determines is required to be applied to the relevant Successor Rate or the relevant Alternative Rate (as the case may be) and is the spread, formula or methodology which:
  - (A) in the case of a Successor Rate, is formally recommended, or formally provided as an option for parties to adopt, in relation to the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate by any Relevant Nominating Body; or
  - (B) (if no such recommendation has been made, or in the case of an Alternative Rate), the Independent Adviser, determines is customarily applied to the relevant Successor Rate or Alternative Rate (as the case may be) in international debt capital markets transactions to produce an industry-accepted replacement rate for the Reference Rate; or
  - (C) (if no such determination has been made) the Independent Adviser determines, is recognised or acknowledged as being the industry standard for over-the-counter derivative transactions which reference the Reference Rate, where such rate has been replaced by the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be); or
  - (D) (if the Independent Adviser determines that no such industry standard is recognised or acknowledged) the Independent Adviser determines to be appropriate to reduce or eliminate, to the extent reasonably practicable in the circumstances, any economic

prejudice or benefit (as the case may be) to Noteholders as a result of the replacement of the Reference Rate with the Successor Rate or the Alternative Rate (as the case may be);

"Alternative Rate" means an alternative benchmark or screen rate which the Independent Adviser determines in accordance with this Condition 7(n) is customary in market usage in the international debt capital markets for the purposes of determining floating rates of interest (or the relevant component part thereof) for a commensurate period and in the Specified Currency;

"Benchmark Amendments" has the meaning given to it in Condition 7(n)(iii);

#### "Benchmark Event" means:

- (A) the relevant Reference Rate has ceased to be published on the Relevant Screen Page as a result of such benchmark ceasing to be calculated or administered; or
- (B) a public statement by the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that (in circumstances where no successor administrator has been or will be appointed that will continue publication of such Reference Rate) it has ceased publishing such Reference Rate permanently or indefinitely or that it will cease to do so by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"); or
- (C) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that such Reference Rate has been or will, by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"), be permanently or indefinitely discontinued; or
- (D) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate that means that such Reference Rate will, by a specified future date (the "Specified Future Date"), be prohibited from being used or that its use will be subject to restrictions or adverse consequences, either generally or in respect of the Notes; or
- (E) a public statement by the supervisor of the administrator of the relevant Reference Rate (as applicable) that, in the view of such supervisor, such Reference Rate is or will, by a specified future date (the "**Specified Future Date**"), be no longer representative of an underlying market; or
- (F) it has or will, by a specified date within the following six months, become unlawful for the Calculation Agent to calculate any payments due to be made to any Noteholder using the relevant Reference Rate (as applicable) (including, without limitation, under the Benchmarks Regulation (EU) 2016/1011, if applicable).

Notwithstanding the sub-paragraphs above, where the relevant Benchmark Event is a public statement within sub-paragraphs (B), (C), (D), or (E) above and the Specified Future Date in the public statement is more than six months after the date of that public statement, the Benchmark Event shall not be deemed to occur until the date falling six months prior to such Specified Future Date.

"**Independent Adviser**" means an independent financial institution of international repute or other independent financial adviser experienced in the international capital markets, in each case appointed by the Issuer at its own expense;

"Relevant Nominating Body" means, in respect of a benchmark or screen rate (as applicable):

- (A) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, or any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable); or
- (B) any working group or committee sponsored by, chaired or co-chaired by or constituted at the request of (a) the central bank for the currency to which the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable) relates, (b) any central bank or other supervisory authority which is responsible for supervising the administrator of the benchmark or screen rate (as applicable), (c) a group of the aforementioned central banks or other supervisory authorities or (d) the Financial Stability Board or any part thereof; and

"Successor Rate" means a successor to or replacement of the Reference Rate which is formally recommended by any Relevant Nominating Body.

### 8. **Zero Coupon Note Provisions**

- (a) *Application:* This Condition 8 is applicable to the Notes only if the Zero Coupon Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable.
- (b) Late payment on Zero Coupon Notes: If the Redemption Amount payable in respect of any Zero Coupon Note is improperly withheld or refused, the Redemption Amount shall thereafter be an amount equal to the sum of:
  - (i) the Reference Price; and
  - the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price on the basis of the relevant Day Count Fraction from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day (except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment).

## 9. **Redemption and Purchase**

- (a) Scheduled redemption: Unless previously redeemed, or purchased and cancelled, the Notes will be redeemed at their Final Redemption Amount on the Maturity Date, subject as provided in Condition 10 (Payments Bearer Notes) and Condition 11 (Payments Registered Notes).
- (b) Redemption for tax reasons: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in part:
  - (i) at any time (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are not specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable); or
  - (ii) on any Interest Payment Date (if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable),
    - on giving not less than 15 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders, or such other period(s) as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, (which notice shall be irrevocable), at their Early Redemption Amount (Tax), together with interest accrued (if any) to the date fixed for redemption, if:
    - (A) the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or referred to in Condition 12 (*Taxation*) as a result of any change in, or amendment to, the laws or regulations of the Commonwealth of Australia or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations (including a holding by a court of competent jurisdiction), which change or amendment becomes effective on or after the date of issue of the first Tranche of the Notes; and
    - (B) such obligation cannot be avoided by the Issuer taking reasonable measures available to it.

## **provided**, **however**, **that** no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than:

- (1) where the Notes may be redeemed at any time, 90 days (or such other period as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) prior to the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due; or
- (2) where the Notes may be redeemed only on an Interest Payment Date, 60 days (or such other period as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement)

prior to the Interest Payment Date occurring immediately before the earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a payment in respect of the Notes were then due.

Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this paragraph, the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent (A) a certificate signed by an authorised signatory of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the conditions precedent to the right of the Issuer so to redeem have occurred of and (B) an opinion of independent legal advisers of recognised standing to the effect that the Issuer has or will become obliged to pay such additional amounts as a result of such change or amendment. Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this Condition 9, the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes in accordance with this Condition 9.

- (c) Redemption at the option of the Issuer: If Call Option is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole or, if so specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, in part on any Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Call) on the Issuer's giving not less than 15 nor more than 60 days' notice to the Noteholders, or such other period(s) as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement (which notice shall be irrevocable, but may (at the option of the Issuer) be conditional on one or more conditions precedent being satisfied, or waived by the Issuer, and shall oblige the Issuer to redeem the Notes or, as the case may be, the Notes specified in such notice on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call) at the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) plus accrued interest (if any) to such date).
- (d) Partial redemption: If the Notes are to be redeemed in part only on any date in accordance with Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer), in the case of Bearer Notes, the Notes to be redeemed shall be selected by the drawing of lots in such place as the Fiscal Agent approves and in such manner as the Fiscal Agent considers appropriate, subject to compliance with applicable law, the rules of each competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system (if any) by which the Notes have then been admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation and the notice to Noteholders referred to in Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) shall specify the serial numbers of the Notes so to be redeemed and, in the case of Registered Notes, each Note shall be redeemed in part in the proportion which the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes to be redeemed on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Call) bears to the aggregate principal amount of outstanding Notes on such date. If any Maximum Redemption Amount or Minimum Redemption Amount is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, then the Optional Redemption Amount (Call) shall in no event be greater than the maximum or be less than the minimum so specified.
- Issuer Residual Call: If "Issuer Residual Call" is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being (e) applicable, and if, at any time the outstanding aggregate nominal amount of the Notes is 20 per cent. or less of the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes originally issued (and, for these purposes, any further Notes issued pursuant to Condition 19 (Further Issues) and consolidated with the Notes as part of the same Series shall be deemed to have been originally issued), the Issuer may redeem all (but not some only) of the remaining outstanding Notes on any date (or, if the Floating Rate Note Provisions are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, on any Interest Payment Date) upon giving not less than 15 nor more than 30 days' notice to the Noteholders (or such other notice period as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) (which notice shall specify the date for redemption and shall be irrevocable), at the Optional Redemption Amount (Residual Call) together with any accrued and unpaid interest up to (but excluding) the date of redemption. Prior to the publication of any notice of redemption pursuant to this Condition 9(e) (Issuer Residual Call), the Issuer shall deliver to the Fiscal Agent a certificate signed by two authorised signatories of the Issuer stating that the Issuer is entitled to effect such redemption and setting forth a statement of facts showing that the outstanding aggregate nominal amount of the Notes is 20 per cent. or less of the aggregate nominal amount of the Notes originally issued. The Fiscal Agent shall be entitled to accept such certificate as sufficient evidence of the satisfaction of the condition precedent set out above, in which event it shall be conclusive and binding on the Noteholders and the Couponholders.
- (f) Redemption at the option of Noteholders: If Put Option is specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable, the Issuer shall, at the option of the Holder of any Note redeem such Note on the Optional Redemption Date (Put) specified in the relevant Put Option Notice at the relevant Optional Redemption Amount (Put) together with interest (if any) accrued to such date. In order to exercise the option contained

in this Condition 9(f), the Holder of a Note must, not less than 30 nor more than 60 days before the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put) (or such other period(s) as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement), deposit with any Paying Agent such Note together with all unmatured Coupons relating thereto and a duly completed Put Option Notice in the form obtainable from any Paying Agent. The Paying Agent with which a Note is so deposited shall deliver a duly completed Put Option Receipt to the depositing Noteholder. No Note, once deposited with a duly completed Put Option Notice in accordance with this Condition 9(f), may be withdrawn; **provided, however, that** if, prior to the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), any such Note becomes immediately due and payable or, upon due presentation of any such Note on the relevant Optional Redemption Date (Put), payment of the redemption moneys is improperly withheld or refused, the relevant Paying Agent shall mail notification thereof to the depositing Noteholder at such address as may have been given by such Noteholder in the relevant Put Option Notice and shall hold such Note at its Specified Office for collection by the depositing Noteholder against surrender of the relevant Put Option Receipt. For so long as any outstanding Note is held by a Paying Agent in accordance with this Condition 9(f), the depositor of such Note and not such Paying Agent shall be deemed to be the Holder of such Note for all purposes.

- (g) *No other redemption:* The Issuer shall not be entitled to redeem the Notes otherwise than as provided in paragraphs (a) to (e) above.
- (h) Early redemption of Zero Coupon Notes: Unless otherwise specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Redemption Amount payable on redemption of a Zero Coupon Note at any time before the Maturity Date shall be an amount equal to the sum of:
  - (i) the Reference Price; and
  - (ii) the product of the Accrual Yield (compounded annually) being applied to the Reference Price from (and including) the Issue Date to (but excluding) the date fixed for redemption or (as the case may be) the date upon which the Note becomes due and payable.

Where such calculation is to be made for a period which is not a whole number of years, the calculation in respect of the period of less than a full year shall be made on the basis of such Day Count Fraction as may be specified in the Pricing Supplement for the purposes of this Condition 9(h) or, if none is so specified, a Day Count Fraction of 30E/360.

- (i) *Purchase:* The Issuer may at any time purchase Notes in the open market or otherwise and at any price and such Notes may be held, resold or, at the option of the Issuer, surrendered to any Paying Agent for cancellation (*provided that*, if the Notes are to be cancelled, they are purchased together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons relating to them).
- (j) Cancellation: All Notes redeemed by the Issuer and any unmatured Coupons or unexchanged Talons attached to or surrendered with them shall be cancelled and all Notes so cancelled and any Notes cancelled pursuant to Condition (i) (*Purchase*) above (together with all unmatured Coupons and unexchanged Talons cancelled with them) may not be reissued or resold.
- (k) Compulsory Sale: The Issuer may compel any beneficial owner of Notes initially sold pursuant to Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933 (as amended, the "Securities Act") to sell its interest in such Notes, or may sell such interest on behalf of such beneficial owner, if such beneficial owner is a U.S. person that is not a qualified institutional buyer (as defined in Rule 144A under the Securities Act) and also a qualified purchaser (as defined in Section 2(a)(51) of the U.S. Investment Company Act of 1940).
- 10. **Payments Bearer Notes**

This Condition 10 is only applicable to Bearer Notes.

(a) Principal: Payments of principal shall be made only against presentation and (**provided that** payment is made in full) surrender of Bearer Notes at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due on, or by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency.

- (b) *Interest:* Payments of interest shall, subject to paragraph (h) below, be made only against presentation and (**provided that** payment is made in full) surrender of the appropriate Coupons at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States in the manner described in paragraph (a) above.
- (c) Payments in New York City: Payments of principal or interest may be made at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent in New York City if (i) the Issuer has appointed Paying Agents outside the United States with the reasonable expectation that such Paying Agents will be able to make payment of the full amount of the interest on the Notes in the currency in which the payment is due when due, (ii) payment of the full amount of such interest at the offices of all such Paying Agents is illegal or effectively precluded by exchange controls or other similar restrictions and (iii) payment is permitted without penalty to the Issuer by applicable United States law.
- (d) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Bearer Notes are subject in all cases to (i) any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 12 (Taxation) and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.
- (e) *Commissions or Expenses:* No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders or Couponholders in respect of such payments.
- (f) Deductions for unmatured Coupons: If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies that the Fixed Rate Note Provisions are applicable and a Bearer Note is presented without all unmatured Coupons relating thereto:
  - (i) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is less than or equal to the amount of principal due for payment, a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons will be deducted from the amount of principal due for payment; **provided, however, that** if the gross amount available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of such missing Coupons which the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment;
  - (ii) if the aggregate amount of the missing Coupons is greater than the amount of principal due for payment:
    - (A) so many of such missing Coupons shall become void (in inverse order of maturity) as will result in the aggregate amount of the remainder of such missing Coupons (the "Relevant Coupons") being equal to the amount of principal due for payment; provided, however, that where this sub-paragraph would otherwise require a fraction of a missing Coupon to become void, such missing Coupon shall become void in its entirety; and
    - (B) a sum equal to the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, if less, the amount of principal due for payment) will be deducted from the amount of principal due for payment; **provided**, **however**, **that**, if the gross amount available for payment is less than the amount of principal due for payment, the sum deducted will be that proportion of the aggregate amount of the Relevant Coupons (or, as the case may be, the amount of principal due for payment) which the gross amount actually available for payment bears to the amount of principal due for payment.

Each sum of principal so deducted shall be paid in the manner provided in paragraph (a) above against presentation and (**provided that** payment is made in full) surrender of the relevant missing Coupons.

(g) Unmatured Coupons void: If the applicable Pricing Supplement specifies that this Condition 10(g) is applicable or that the Floating Rate Note Provisions are applicable, on the due date for final redemption of any Note or early redemption in whole of such Note pursuant to Condition 9(b) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption for tax reasons), Condition 9(f) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the option of Noteholders), Condition 9(c) (Redemption and Purchase – Redemption at the option of the

- *Issuer*), or Condition 13 (*Events of Default*), all unmatured Coupons relating thereto (whether or not still attached) shall become void and no payment will be made in respect thereof.
- (h) Payments on business days: If the due date for payment of any amount in respect of any Bearer Note or Coupon is not a Payment Business Day in the place of presentation, the Holder shall not be entitled to payment in such place of the amount due until the next succeeding Payment Business Day in such place and shall not be entitled to any further interest or other payment in respect of any such delay.
- (i) Payments other than in respect of matured Coupons: Payments of interest other than in respect of matured Coupons shall be made only against presentation of the relevant Bearer Notes at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent outside the United States (or in New York City if permitted by paragraph (c) above).
- (j) Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Bearer Note or Coupon presented to it for payment, such Paying Agent will endorse thereon a statement indicating the amount and date of such payment.
- (k) Exchange of Talons: On or after the maturity date of the final Coupon which is (or was at the time of issue) part of a Coupon Sheet relating to the Bearer Notes, the Talon forming part of such Coupon Sheet may be exchanged at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent for a further Coupon Sheet (including, if appropriate, a further Talon but excluding any Coupons in respect of which claims have already become void pursuant to Condition 14 (Prescription)). Upon the due date for redemption of any Bearer Note, any unexchanged Talon relating to such Note shall become void and no Coupon will be delivered in respect of such Talon.

## 11. Payments - Registered Notes

This Condition 11 is only applicable to Registered Notes.

- (a) Principal: Payments of principal shall be made by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due drawn on, or, upon application by a Holder of a Registered Note to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent not later than the fifteenth day before the due date for any such payment, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London) and (in the case of redemption) upon surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Note Certificates at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent.
- (b) Interest: Payments of interest shall be made by cheque drawn in the currency in which the payment is due drawn on, or, upon application by a Holder of a Registered Note to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent not later than the fifteenth day before the due date for any such payment, by transfer to an account denominated in that currency (or, if that currency is euro, any other account to which euro may be credited or transferred) and maintained by the payee with, a bank in the Principal Financial Centre of that currency (in the case of a sterling cheque, a town clearing branch of a bank in the City of London) and (in the case of interest payable on redemption) upon surrender (or, in the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Note Certificates at the Specified Office of any Paying Agent.
- (c) Payments subject to fiscal laws: All payments in respect of the Registered Notes are subject in all cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 12 (Taxation) and (ii) any withholding or deduction required pursuant to an agreement described in Section 1471(b) of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the "Code") or otherwise imposed pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, any regulations or agreements thereunder, any official interpretations thereof, or any law implementing an intergovernmental approach thereto.
- (d) *Commissions or Expenses:* No commissions or expenses shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such payments.
- (e) Payments on business days: Where payment is to be made by transfer to an account, payment instructions (for value the due date, or, if the due date is not Payment Business Day, for value the next succeeding Payment Business Day) will be initiated and, where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed (i) (in the case of payments of principal and interest payable on redemption) on the later of the due date for payment and the day on which the relevant Note Certificate is surrendered (or, in the case of part

payment only, endorsed) at the Specified Office of a Paying Agent and (ii) (in the case of payments of interest payable other than on redemption) on the due date for payment. A Holder of a Registered Note shall not be entitled to any interest or other payment in respect of any delay in payment resulting from (A) the due date for a payment not being a Payment Business Day or (B) a cheque mailed in accordance with this Condition 11 arriving after the due date for payment or being lost in the mail.

- (f) Partial payments: If a Paying Agent makes a partial payment in respect of any Registered Note, the Issuer shall procure that the amount and date of such payment are noted on the Register and, in the case of partial payment upon presentation of a Note Certificate, that a statement indicating the amount and the date of such payment is endorsed on the relevant Note Certificate.
- (g) Record date: Each payment in respect of a Registered Note will be made to the person shown as the Holder in the Register at the opening of business in the place of the Registrar's Specified Office on the fifteenth day before the due date for such payment (the "Record Date"). Where payment in respect of a Registered Note is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed to the address shown as the address of the Holder in the Register at the opening of business on the relevant Record Date.

#### 12. **Taxation**

- (a) Gross up: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes and the Coupons by or on behalf of the Issuer shall be made free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for or on account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges of whatever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or on behalf of the Commonwealth of Australia or any political subdivision therein or any authority therein or thereof having power to tax, unless the withholding or deduction of such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges is required by law. In that event, the Issuer shall pay such additional amounts as will result in receipt by the Noteholders and the Couponholders after such withholding or deduction of such amounts as would have been received by them had no such withholding or deduction been required, except that no such additional amounts shall be payable in respect of any Note or Coupon:
  - (i) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is liable to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note or Coupon by reason of his having some connection with the Commonwealth of Australia other than the mere holding of the Note or Coupon;
  - (ii) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who could lawfully avoid (but has not so avoided) such Taxes by complying or procuring that any third party complies with any statutory or treaty requirements or elections or by making or procuring that any third party makes a declaration of non-residence or similar case or action for exemption to any tax authority;
  - (iii) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder who is an Offshore Associate of the Issuer and not acting in the capacity of a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme within the meaning of the Corporations Act of Australia;
  - (iv) to, or to a third party on behalf of, an Australian resident holder or a non-resident holder carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment of the non-resident in Australia, if that holder has not supplied an appropriate tax file number, an Australian business number (if applicable) or other exemption details;
  - (v) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder where the withholding or deduction is required by reason of the Australian Commissioner of Taxation giving a notice under section 255 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of Australia or section 260-5 of Schedule 1 to the Taxation Administration Act 1953 of Australia or any similar law;
  - (vi) more than 30 days after the Relevant Date except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to such additional amounts on presenting it for payment on the thirtieth day;
  - (vii) to, or to a third party on behalf of, a holder in respect of a Tax payable otherwise than by deduction or withholding from payments of principal or interest on a Note;
  - (viii) to a holder that is not the beneficial owner of such Note or Coupon to the extent that the beneficial owner thereof would not have been entitled to the payment of such additional amounts had such beneficial owner been the holder;

- (ix) in respect of any estate, inheritance, gift, sales, transfer, personal property, or any similar tax, assessment or governmental charge;
- (x) if the withholding or deduction is required under section 126 of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of the Commonwealth of Australia; or
- (xi) in such other circumstances as may be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in these Conditions, the Issuer may withhold or deduct any amount pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code "FATCA", any treaty, law, regulation or other official guidance enacted by any taxing authority implementing FATCA, or any agreement between the Issuer and the United States, or any other jurisdiction or any authority of any of the foregoing implementing FATCA. None of the Issuer, any paying agent or any other person shall be required to pay any additional amounts or otherwise indemnify any person with respect to any FATCA withholding or deduction imposed on or with respect to any Note.

References in these Conditions to (i) "principal" shall be deemed to include any premium payable in respect of the Notes, all applicable Redemption Amounts, and all other amounts in the nature of principal payable pursuant to Condition 3 or any amendment or supplement to it and (ii) "interest" includes interest within the meaning of section 128A(1AB) of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 of the Commonwealth of Australia and shall be deemed to include all Interest Amounts and all other amounts payable pursuant to Condition 3 or any amendment or supplement to it. References in this Condition to "Relevant Date" in respect of any Note or Coupon means the date on which payment in respect of it first becomes due or (if any amount of the money payable is improperly withheld or refused) the date on which payment in full of the amount outstanding is made or (if earlier) the date seven days after that on which notice is duly given to the Noteholders that, upon further presentation of the Note (or relative Certificate) or Coupon being made in accordance with the Conditions, such payment will be made, provided that payment is in fact made upon such presentation.

### 13. **Events of Default**

If any of the following events (each an "Event of Default") occurs and is continuing:

- (a) the Issuer shall fail to pay any: (i) principal for a period of 15 days after it becomes due; or (ii) interest or any other payment for a period of 30 days after it becomes due, on any of the Notes; or
- (b) the Issuer shall fail duly to perform or observe any other term, covenant or agreement contained in the Notes for a period of 30 days after the date on which written notice of such failure, requiring the Issuer to remedy the same, shall first have been given to the Fiscal Agent by the holder of any Note at the time outstanding; or
- (c) the Commonwealth of Australia ceases to guarantee unconditionally the repayment by the Issuer of money that is, or may at any time become, payable by the Issuer to persons other than the Commonwealth of Australia, in respect of the Notes; or
- (d) any government order, decree or enactment is made, the effect of which is to dissolve the Issuer (otherwise than for the purposes of a merger, reconstruction or amalgamation pursuant to which a new entity assumes all the obligations of the Issuer in respect of the Notes and becomes the Issuer for the purposes thereof),

then any Note may, by written notice addressed by the Holder thereof to the Issuer and delivered to the Issuer or to the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, be declared immediately due and payable, whereupon it shall become immediately due and payable at its Early Termination Amount together with accrued interest (if any) without further action or formality.

## 14. **Prescription**

Claims for principal in respect of Bearer Notes shall become void unless the relevant Bearer Notes are presented for payment within ten years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for interest in respect of Bearer Notes shall become void unless the relevant Coupons are presented for payment within five years of the appropriate Relevant Date. Claims for principal and interest on redemption in respect of Registered Notes shall become void unless the relevant Note Certificates are surrendered for payment within ten years of the appropriate Relevant Date.

#### 15. Replacement of Notes and Coupons

If any Note, Note Certificate or Coupon is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed, it may be replaced at the Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent, in the case of Bearer Notes, or the Registrar, in the case of Registered Notes (and, if the Notes are then admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent or Transfer Agent in any particular place, the Paying Agent or Transfer Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system), subject to all applicable laws and competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system requirements, upon payment by the claimant of the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer may reasonably require. Mutilated or defaced Notes, Note Certificates or Coupons must be surrendered before replacements will be issued.

## 16. Agents

In acting under the Agency Agreement and in connection with the Notes and the Coupons, the Agents act solely as agents of the Issuer and do not assume any obligations towards or relationship of agency or trust for or with any of the Noteholders or Couponholders.

The initial Agents and their initial Specified Offices are listed below. The initial Calculation Agent (if any) is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The Issuer reserves the right any time to vary or terminate the appointment of any Agent and to appoint a successor fiscal agent or registrar or Calculation Agent and additional or successor paying agents; **provided, however, that**:

- (a) the Issuer shall at all times maintain a fiscal agent and a registrar; and
- (b) if a Calculation Agent is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement, the Issuer shall at all times maintain a Calculation Agent; and
- (c) if and for so long as the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system which requires the appointment of a Paying Agent and/or a Transfer Agent in any particular place, the Issuer shall maintain a Paying Agent and/or a Transfer Agent having its Specified Office in the place required by such competent authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.

Notice of any change in any of the Agents or in their Specified Offices shall promptly be given to the Noteholders.

## 17. Meetings of Noteholders; Modification and Waiver

(a) Meetings of Noteholders: The Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening meetings of Noteholders to consider matters relating to the Notes, including the modification of any provision of these Conditions. Any such modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a meeting may be convened by the Issuer and shall be convened by them upon the request in writing of Noteholders holding not less than one-tenth of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes. The quorum at any meeting convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more Persons holding or representing one more than half of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes or, at any adjourned meeting, two or more Persons being or representing Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes held or represented; **provided, however, that** Reserved Matters may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders at which two or more Persons holding or representing not less than three-quarters or, at any adjourned meeting, one quarter of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Notes form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders and Couponholders, whether present or not.

Any such meeting of the Noteholders may be convened at a physical location, or such other method (which may include, without limitation, a conference call or video conference) as the Fiscal Agent may determine in accordance with the provisions of the Agency Agreement.

In addition, a resolution in writing signed by or on behalf of all Noteholders who for the time being are entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Noteholders will take effect as if it were an Extraordinary

Resolution. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders.

(b) *Modification:* The Notes, the Deed of Covenant and these Conditions may be amended without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders to correct a manifest error. In addition, the parties to the Agency Agreement may agree to modify any provision thereof, but the Issuer shall not agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to any such modification unless it is of a formal, minor or technical nature, it is made to correct a manifest error or it is, in the opinion of such parties, not materially prejudicial to the interests of the Noteholders.

In addition, pursuant to Condition 7(n) (*Benchmark Replacement (Independent Adviser*)), certain changes may be made to the interest calculation provisions of the Floating Rate Notes in the circumstances and as otherwise set out in such Condition, without the requirement for consent of the Noteholders.

- (c) *Electronic Consent and Written Resolution:* While any Global Note or Global Note Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, then:
  - approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer, given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding (an "Electronic Consent" as defined in the Agency Agreement) shall, for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed at a meeting for which a special quorum was satisfied), take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all Noteholders and holders of Coupons, Talons and Receipts whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent; and
  - where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written (ii) Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) has been validly passed, the Issuer shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer by (a) accountholders in the clearing system with entitlements to such Global Note or a Global Note Certificate and/or, where (b) the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person identified by that accountholder as the person for whom such entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the entitlement to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer shall be entitled to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg, DTC or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the "relevant clearing system") and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and the accountholder identified by the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. Any such certificate or other document shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding for all purposes. Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear's EUCLID, Clearstream, Luxembourg's CreationOnline system or any other applicable system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the amount of such holding. They shall not be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not authentic.

## 18. Further Issues

The Issuer may from time to time, without the consent of the Noteholders or the Couponholders, create and issue further notes having the same terms and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the first payment of interest) so as to form a single series with the Notes.

#### Notices

(a) Bearer Notes: Notices to the Holders of Bearer Notes shall be valid if published in a leading English language daily newspaper published in London (which is expected to be the *Financial Times*) or, if such

publication is not practicable, in a leading English language daily newspaper having general circulation in Europe. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in compliance with the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, on or by which the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of first publication (or if required to be published in more than one newspaper, on the first date on which publication shall have been made in all the required newspapers). Couponholders shall be deemed for all purposes to have notice of the contents of any notice given to the Holders of Bearer Notes.

(b) Registered Notes: Notices to the Holders of Registered Notes shall be sent to them by first class mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an overseas address) by airmail at their respective addresses on the Register. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the fourth day after the date of mailing. The Issuer shall also ensure that notices are duly published in compliance with the requirements of each listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, on or by which the Notes are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation.

## 20. **Rounding**

For the purposes of any calculations referred to in these Conditions (unless otherwise specified in these Conditions or the applicable Pricing Supplement), (a) all percentages resulting from such calculations will be rounded, if necessary, to the nearest one hundred-thousandth of a percentage point (with 0.000005 per cent. being rounded up to 0.00001 per cent.), (b) all United States dollar amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest cent (with one half cent being rounded up), (c) all Japanese Yen amounts used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded upwards to the next highest whole Japanese Yen amount, and (d) all amounts denominated in any other currency used in or resulting from such calculations will be rounded to the nearest two decimal places in such currency, with 0.005 being rounded upwards.

## 21. Governing Law and Jurisdiction

- (a) Governing law: The Notes and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with the Notes are governed by English law.
- (b) English courts: The courts of England have exclusive jurisdiction to settle any dispute (a "**Dispute**") arising out of or in connection with the Notes (including any non-contractual obligation arising out of or in connection with the Notes).
- (c) Appropriate forum: The Issuer agrees that the courts of England are the most appropriate and convenient courts to settle any Dispute and, accordingly, that it will not argue to the contrary.
- (d) Rights of the Noteholders to take proceedings outside England: Notwithstanding Condition 21(b) (English courts), any Noteholder may take proceedings relating to a Dispute ("Proceedings") in any other courts with jurisdiction. To the extent allowed by law, Noteholders may take concurrent Proceedings in any number of jurisdictions.
- (e) Service of process: The Issuer agrees that the documents which start any Proceedings and any other documents required to be served in relation to those Proceedings may be served on it by being delivered to Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited at 8th Floor, 100 Bishopsgate, London EC2N 4AG, United Kingdom, or to such other person with an address in England or Wales and/or at such other address in England or Wales as the Issuer may specify by notice in writing to the Noteholders. Nothing in this paragraph shall affect the right of any Noteholder to serve process in any other manner permitted by law. This Condition applies to Proceedings in England and to Proceedings elsewhere.
- (f) Consent to enforcement etc.: The Issuer consents generally in respect of any Proceedings to the giving of any relief or the issue of any process in connection with such Proceedings including (without limitation) the making, enforcement or execution against any property whatsoever (irrespective of its use or intended use) of any order or judgment which is made or given in such Proceedings.
- (g) Waiver of immunity: To the extent that the Issuer may in any jurisdiction claim for itself or its assets or revenues immunity from suit, execution, attachment (whether in aid of execution, before judgment or otherwise) or other legal process and to the extent that such immunity (whether or not claimed) may be attributed in any such jurisdiction to the Issuer or its assets or revenues, the Issuer agrees not to claim and irrevocably waives such immunity to the full extent permitted by the laws of such jurisdiction.

#### FORM OF PRICING SUPPLEMENT

[PROHIBITION OF SALES TO EEA RETAIL INVESTORS – The Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area ("EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II"); or (ii) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 (the "EU Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II. Consequently no key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014 (the "EU PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the EU PRIIPs Regulation.]

[EU MiFID II product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties and professional clients only, each as defined in [Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II") [EU MiFID II]; and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target market.] Any [person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor")] should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to EU MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.] / [MiFID II product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and eligible counterparties target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is eligible counterparties, professional clients and retail clients, each as defined in Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "MiFID II"); EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate[, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised sales and pure execution services]] OR [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/ and] portfolio management[,/ and][non-advised sales][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as applicable]]. [Consider any negative target market]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID II is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under MiFID II, as applicable.]

**IUK MIFIR** product governance / Professional investors and eligible counterparties only target market – Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate. [Consider any negative target Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor")]/[distributor] should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.] / [UK MiFIR product governance / Retail investors, professional investors and eligible counterparties target market -Solely for the purposes of [the/each] manufacturer's product approval process, the target market assessment in respect of the Notes has led to the conclusion that: (i) the target market for the Notes is only eligible counterparties, as defined in the FCA Handbook Conduct of Business Sourcebook ("COBS"), and professional clients, as defined in Regulation (EU) No 600/2014 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("UK MiFIR"); EITHER [and (ii) all channels for distribution of the Notes are appropriate, including investment advice, portfolio management, non-advised

sales and pure execution services]] *OR* [(ii) all channels for distribution to eligible counterparties and professional clients are appropriate; and (iii) the following channels for distribution of the Notes to retail clients are appropriate - investment advice[,/ and] portfolio management[,/ and][non-advised sales][and pure execution services][, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under UK MiFIR, as applicable]]. [*Consider any negative target market*]. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to UK MiFIR is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the manufacturer['s/s'] target market assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels[, subject to the distributor's suitability and appropriateness obligations under UK MiFIR, as applicable.]

[Singapore Securities and Futures Act Product Classification – Solely for the purposes of its obligations pursuant to sections 309B(1)(a) and 309B(1)(c) of the Securities and Futures Act 2001 ( the "SFA"), the Issuer has determined, and hereby notifies all relevant persons (as defined in section 309A of the SFA) that the Notes are ["prescribed capital markets products"]/[capital markets products other than "prescribed capital markets products"] (as defined in the Securities and Futures (Capital Markets Products) Regulations 2018).]

## Pricing Supplement dated [•]

### **Export Finance Australia**

Legal entity Identifier (LEI): 213800XAAULSUYWPBB61

Issue of [Aggregate Nominal Amount of Tranche] [Title of Notes]

Payments of principal and interest guaranteed by the Commonwealth of Australia

### under the U.S.\$5,000,000,000 Programme for the Issuance of Debt Instruments

### PART A – CONTRACTUAL TERMS

[This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein. Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the offering memorandum dated 9 October 2024 [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [•]] which [together] constitute[s] a Offering Memorandum (the "Offering Memorandum"). This Pricing Supplement must be read in conjunction with such Offering Memorandum.]

[The following alternative language applies if the first tranche of an issue which is being increased was issued under an offering memorandum with an earlier date and the relevant terms and conditions from that offering memorandum with an earlier date were incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum.]

[Terms used herein shall be deemed to be defined as such for the purposes of the Conditions (the "Conditions") set forth in the offering memorandum dated [original date] [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [•]]. This document constitutes the Pricing Supplement relating to the issue of Notes described herein and, save in respect of the Conditions, must be read in conjunction with the Offering Memorandum dated [current date] [and the supplemental Offering Memorandum dated [•]] ([together, ]the "Offering Memorandum"). The Conditions are incorporated by reference in the Offering Memorandum.]

[Include whichever of the following apply or specify as "Not Applicable" (N/A). Note that the numbering should remain as set out below, even if "Not Applicable" is indicated for individual paragraphs (in which case the sub-paragraphs of the paragraphs which are not applicable can be deleted). Italics denote guidance for completing the Pricing Supplement.]

1.	Issuer:	Export Finance Australia	
2.	[(i) Series Number:]	[•]	
	[(ii) Tranche Number:	[•]	

[(iii) Date on which the Notes become fungible:

[Not Applicable/The Notes shall be consolidated, form a single series and be interchangeable for trading purposes with the [•] on [[•]/the Issue Date/exchange of the Temporary Global Note for interests in the Permanent Global Note, as referred to in paragraph 22 below [which is expected to occur on or about [•]].]

3. Specified Currency or Currencies: [•]

> (If Notes are being cleared through DTC with interest and or principal payable in a currency other than U.S. dollars, check whether DTC will accept payments in such currency)

4. Aggregate Nominal Amount: [•]

> [(i)] [Series]: [•]

[(ii) Tranche: [•]]

5. Issue Price: [•] per cent. of the Aggregate Nominal Amount [plus

accrued interest from [•]]

6. (i) Specified Denominations: [•]

> (ii) Calculation Amount: [•]

7. [•] (i) Issue Date:

> (ii) Interest Commencement Date: [[•]/Issue Date/Not Applicable]

Maturity Date: [Specify date or (for Floating Rate Notes) Interest 8.

Payment Date falling in or nearest to the relevant month

and year]

9. **Interest Basis:** [[•] per cent. Fixed Rate]

[•][•] [EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR/€STR/other]+/- [•]

per cent. Floating Rate]

[Zero Coupon]

(see paragraph [14/15/16] below)

10. Redemption/Payment Basis: Subject to any purchase and cancellation or early

> redemption, the Notes will be redeemed on the Maturity Date at [•]/[100] per cent. of their nominal amount.

> [Specify the date when any Fixed to floating rate change

Redemption/Payment Basis:

occurs or refer to paragraphs 14 and 15 below and

identify there/Not Applicable]

12. Put/Call Options: [Investor Put]

Change of Interest or

11.

[Issuer Call]

[Issuer Residual Call]

[(See paragraph [17/18/19] below)]

13. Status of the Notes: [Senior]

# PROVISIONS RELATING TO INTEREST (IF ANY) PAYABLE

14. Fixed Rate		d Rate Note Provisions	[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Rate[(s)] of Interest:	[•] per cent. per annum payable in arrear on each Interest Payment Date
			OR
	[Initial Rate of Interest:		[ ] per cent. per annum]
	(ii)	Interest Payment Date(s):	[•] in each year
	(iii)	Fixed Coupon Amount[(s)]:	[•] per Calculation Amount
	(iv)	Fixed Coupon Amount for a short or long Interest Period ("Broken Amount(s)")	[•] per Calculation Amount, payable on the Interest Payment Date falling [in/on] [•]
	(v)	Day Count Fraction:	[30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / other]
	(vi)	Other terms or special conditions:	[Not Applicable/give details]
15.	Floating Rate Note Provisions		[Applicable/Not Applicable]
			(If not applicable delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
	(i)	Specified Period:	[•]
	(ii)	Specified Interest Payment Dates:	[•]
	(iii)	[First Interest Payment Date]:	[•]
	(iv)	Business Day Convention:	[Floating Rate Convention/Following Business Day Convention/ Modified Following Business Day Convention/ Preceding Business Day Convention]
	(v)	Additional Business Centre(s):	[Not Applicable/[•]]
	(vi)	Manner in which the Rate(s) of Interest is/are to be determined:	[Screen Rate Determination/ISDA Determination]
	(vii)	Party responsible for calculating the Rate(s) of Interest and/or Interest Amount(s) (if not the Fiscal Agent):	[•] shall be the Calculation Agent
	(viii) Screen Rate Determination:		[Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)
		• Reference Rate:	[•][•] [EURIBOR/SONIA/SOFR/€STR/SONIA compounded Index/SOFR Compounded Index]
		Observation Method:	[Lag / Observation Shift]

 Lag Period: [5 / [ ] TARGET Settlement Days/U.S. Government Securities Business Days/London Banking Days/Not Applicable]

• Observation Shift Period: [5 / [ ] TARGET Settlement Days/U.S. Government

Securities Business Days/London Banking Days /Not

Applicable]

(NB: A minimum of 5 should be specified for the Lag Period or Observation Shift Period, unless otherwise agreed with the Calculation Agent)

• D: [360/365/[ ]] / [Not Applicable]

• Index Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

• SONIA Compounded [Applicable/Not Applicable] Index:

• SOFR Compounded Index: [Applicable/Not Applicable]

• Relevant Decimal Place: [ ] [5/7] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing

Supplement, be the fifth decimal place in the case of the SONIA Compounded Index and the seventh decimal place in the case of the SOFR Compounded Index)

• Relevant Number of Index [ ] [5] (unless otherwise specified in the Pricing Days: Supplement, the Relevant Number shall be 5)

• Interest Determination [The first Business Day in the relevant Interest Period]/
Date(s): (select where Interest Determination Date has the

meaning specified in Condition 7(e), 7(f) or 7(g)) [•] [London Banking Days/U.S. Government Securities Business Days/TARGET Settlement Days] prior to each

Interest Payment Date]

• Relevant Screen Page: [•]

• Relevant Time: [•]

• Relevant Financial Centre: [•]

(ix) ISDA Determination: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable delete

the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

• ISDA Definitions: [2006 ISDA Definitions / 2021 ISDA Definitions]

• Floating Rate Option: [•]

(The Floating Rate Option should be selected from the Floating Rate options provided in the ISDA Definitions, for example: AUD-AONIA / CHF-SARON / EUR-EURIBOR-Reuters (if 2006 ISDA Definitions apply) EUR-EURIBOR (if 2021 ISDA Definitions apply) / EUR-EUROSTR / EUR-EUROSTR Compounded Index / GBP SONIA / GBP SONIA Compounded Index / HKD-HONIA / JPY-TONA / USD-SOFR / USD-SOFR Compounded Index (each as defined in the ISDA Definitions). These are the options envisaged by the terms and conditions)

Designated Maturity: [•]

(Delegated Maturity will not be relevant where the Floating Rate Option is a risk free rate)

, and a first the state of the

• Reset Date: [•]/[as specified in the ISDA Definitions]/[the first day

of the relevant Interest Period, subject to adjustment in accordance with the Business Day Convention set out in [(v)] above and as specified in the ISDA Definitions]

• Compounding: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable delete

the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

Compounding Method: [Compounding with Lookback

Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days]

[Compounding with Observation Period Shift

Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift

**Business Days** 

Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [•]

/ [Not Applicable]]

[Compounding with Lockout

Lockout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days

Lockout Period Business Days: [•]/[Applicable

Business Days]]

• Averaging [Applicable/Not Applicable]] (If not applicable delete

the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

• [Averaging Method: [Averaging with Lookback

Lookback: [•] Applicable Business Days]

[Averaging with Observation Period Shift

Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift

**Business Days** 

Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days:

[•]/[Not Applicable]]

[Averaging with Lockout

Lookout: [•] Lockout Period Business Days

Lockout Period Business Days: [•]/[Applicable

Business Days]]

• Index Provisions: [Applicable/Not Applicable] (If not applicable delete

the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

Index Method: Compounded Index Method with Observation Period

Shift

Observation Period Shift: [•] Observation Period Shift

Business days

Observation Period Shift Additional Business Days: [•]

/ [Not Applicable]

(x) Linear interpolation Not Applicable – the Rate of Interest for the

[long/short] [first/last] Interest Period shall be calculated using Linear Interpolation (specify for each short or

long interest period)]

(xi) Margin(s):  $[+/-][\bullet]$  per cent. per annum

(xii) Minimum Rate of Interest: [The Minimum Rate of Interest shall not be less than

zero] / The Minimum Rate of Interest shall not be less

[The [Fiscal Agent]/other] shall be the Calculation

than [•] per cent. per annum]

(xiii) Maximum Rate of Interest: [•] per cent. per annum

(xiv) Day Count Fraction: [•]

[(xv) Party responsible for calculating the amount of interest payable

for any Rate Adjustment under Condition 6(e):]

Agent.

(xvi) Other terms or special

conditions:

[Not Applicable/give details]

16. **Zero Coupon Note Provisions** [Applicable/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs

of this paragraph)

(i) Accrual Yield: [•] per cent. per annum

(ii) Reference Price: [•]

(iii) Day Count Fraction in relation to Early Redemption Amount:

[30/360 / Actual/Actual (ICMA/ISDA) / other]

(iv) Other terms or special

conditions:

[Not Applicable/give details]

### PROVISIONS RELATING TO REDEMPTION

17. Call Option [Applicable]

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [•]

(ii) Optional Redemption

Amount(s) of each Note:

[•] per Calculation Amount[/Make-whole Redemption

Price]

[(in the case of the Optional Redemption Dates falling

on []/[in the period from and including [date])]

[(iii) Make Whole Redemption Price: [Make Whole Redemption Amount/Not Applicable]

(If not applicable delete the remaining sub

paragraphs(a) - (c) of this paragraph)

[(a) Reference Bond: [Insert applicable Reference Bond]

[(b) Quotation Time: [•]

[(c) Redemption Margin:
[(d) Reference Dealers:
[(e) Par Redemption Date:
[•]/Not Applicable

(iii) Redemption in part:
[Applicable/Not Applicable]

(a) Minimum Redemption
Amount:
[•] per Calculation Amount

(b) Maximum Redemption Amount [•] per Calculation Amount

(iv) Notice period: [•]

18. Issuer Residual Call [Applicable/Not Applicable]

19. Put Option [Applicable]

(If not applicable, delete the remaining sub-paragraphs of this paragraph)

(i) Optional Redemption Date(s): [•]

(ii) Optional Redemption
 Amount(s) of each Note and
 method, if any, of calculation of
 such amount(s):

[•] per Calculation Amount

(iii) Notice period: [•]

20. Final Redemption Amount of each Note

[•] per Calculation Amount

21. Early Redemption Amount

Early Redemption Amount(s) per Calculation Amount payable on redemption for taxation reasons or on event of default or other early redemption: [Not Applicable]

### GENERAL PROVISIONS APPLICABLE TO THE NOTES

22. Form of Notes: **Bearer Notes:** 

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for a Permanent Global Note which is exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [•] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note]

[Temporary Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [•] days' notice]

[Permanent Global Note exchangeable for Definitive Notes on [ ] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Permanent Global Note]

### **Registered Notes:**

[Unrestricted Global Note Certificate exchangeable for unrestricted Individual Note Certificates on [•] days'

notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances described in the Unrestricted Global Note Certificate] and [Restricted Global Note Certificate exchangeable for Restricted Individual Note Certificates on [•] days' notice/at any time/in the limited circumstances specified in the Restricted Global Note Certificate] Additional Financial Centre(s) or [Not Applicable/give details. Note that this paragraph 23. other special provisions relating to relates to the date of payment, and not the end dates of interest periods for the purposes of calculating the payment dates: amount of interest, to which sub-paragraph 15(v) relates] Talons for future Coupons to be [Yes/No. As the Notes have more than 27 coupon

24. attached to Definitive Notes (and dates on which such Talons mature):

payments, talons may be required if, on exchange into definitive form, more than 27 coupon payments are left.]

25. Other terms or special conditions: [Not Applicable/give details]

### Signed for EXPORT FINANCE AUSTRALIA under power of attorney in the presence of:

Signature of witness	Signature of attorney
N	Nama
Name	Name

#### PART B - OTHER INFORMATION

#### 1. LISTING AND ADMISSION TO TRADING

(i) Admission to Trading: [Application is / has been made by the Issuer (or on its

behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the

London Stock Exchange with effect from [•].]

[Application is expected to be made by the Issuer (or on its behalf) for the Notes to be admitted to trading on the London Stock Exchange with effect from [•].] [Not

Applicable.]

(When documenting a fungible issue need to indicate that original Notes are already admitted to trading.)

(ii) Estimate of total expenses [•]

related to admission to trading:

#### 2. RATINGS

The Notes to be issued [have been/are expected to be] rated]/[The following ratings reflect ratings assigned to Notes of this type issued under the Programme generally]:

Standard & Poor's: [•]

Fitch: [•]

[[Other]: [•]]

# 3. INTERESTS OF NATURAL AND LEGAL PERSONS INVOLVED IN THE ISSUE/OFFER

(Need to include a description of any interest, including a conflict of interest, that is material to the issue/offer, detailing the persons involved and the nature of the interest. May be satisfied by the inclusion of the statement below:)

[Save for any fees payable to the [Managers/Dealers], so far as the Issuer is aware, no person involved in the offer of the Notes has an interest material to the offer. The [Managers/Dealers] and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in investment banking and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform other services for, the Issuer and its affiliates in the ordinary course of business. (*Amend as appropriate if there are other interests*)]

### 4. [Fixed Rate Notes only – YIELD

Indication of yield: [•]

[The yield is calculated at the Issue Date on the basis of the Issue Price. It is not an indication of future yield.]]

### 5. **OPERATIONAL INFORMATION**

CUSIP: [•] / [Not Applicable]

ISIN: [•]

Common Code: [•]

Delivery: Delivery [against/free of] payment

Names and addresses of additional

Paying Agent(s) (if any):

[•]

#### **DISTRIBUTION** 6.

Method of Distribution: [Syndicated/Non-syndicated]

(ii) If syndicated:

(A) Names of Dealers: [Not Applicable/give names]

(B) Stabilisation Manager(s), if any: [Not Applicable/give names]

(iii) If non-syndicated, name of

Dealer:

[•]

(iv) U.S. Selling Restrictions: Reg S Compliance Category 2;

(In the case of Bearer Notes) - [TEFRA C/TEFRA

D/TEFRA not applicable]

(In the case of Registered Notes) - [Rule 144A and

Section 3(c)(7) (QIBs that are also QPs)]

(v) [Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors:

[Applicable]/[Not Applicable]

(If the Notes clearly do not constitute "packaged" products or the Notes do constitute "packaged" products and a key information document will be prepared in the EEA, "Not Applicable" should be specified. If the Notes may constitute "packaged" products, "Applicable"

should be specified.)]

#### REASONS FOR THE OFFER AND ESTIMATED NET AMOUNT OF PROCEEDS 7.

Reasons for the offer: [See ["Use of Proceeds"] in Offering

Memorandum/Give details] [If reasons differ from what is disclosed in the Offering Memorandum [including for green/social/sustainability bond], give details here.]

Estimated net proceeds: [•]

### **USE OF PROCEEDS**

The net proceeds of the issues of Notes by the Issuer will be used for the general financing requirements of the Issuer in accordance with the EFIC Act. If in respect of any particular issue, there is a particular identified use of proceeds, this will be stated in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

10274831010-v24 - 74 - 70-41063210

#### SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES WHILE IN GLOBAL FORM

### **Clearing System Accountholders**

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by a Global Note in bearer form, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Noteholder" are references to the bearer of the relevant Global Note which, for so long as the Global Note is held by a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary.

In relation to any Tranche of Notes represented by one or more Global Note Certificates, references in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes to "Noteholder" are references to the person in whose name such Global Note Certificate is for the time being registered in the Register which, (a) in the case of a Restricted Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC, will be Cede & Co. (or such other entity as is specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement) as nominee for DTC; and (b) in the case of any Unrestricted Global Note Certificate which is held by or on behalf of a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, will be that depositary or common depositary or a nominee for that depositary or common depositary.

Each of the persons shown in the records of DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system as being entitled to an interest in a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate (each an "Accountholder") must look solely to DTC, Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or such other relevant clearing system (as the case may be) for such Accountholder's share of each payment made by the Issuer to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate and in relation to all other rights arising under such Global Note or Global Note Certificate. The extent to which, and the manner in which, Accountholders may exercise any rights arising under a Global Note or Global Note Certificate will be determined by the respective rules and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and any other relevant clearing system from time to time. For so long as the relevant Notes are represented by a Global Note or Global Note Certificate, Accountholders shall have no claim directly against the Issuer in respect of payments due under the Notes and such obligations of the Issuer will be discharged by payment to the holder of such Global Note or Global Note Certificate.

#### Transfers of Interests in Global Notes and Global Note Certificates

Transfers of interests in Global Notes and Global Note Certificates within DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system will be in accordance with their respective rules and operating procedures. None of the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers or the Agents will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records of any DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or any of their respective participants relating to payments made on account of beneficial ownership interests in a Global Note or Global Note Certificate or for maintaining, supervising or reviewing any of the records of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant clearing system or the records of their respective participants relating to such beneficial ownership interests.

The laws of some states of the United States require that certain persons receive individual certificates in respect of their holdings of Notes. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Global Note Certificate to such persons will be limited. Because clearing systems only act on behalf of participants, who in turn act on behalf of indirect participants, the ability of a person having an interest in a Global Note Certificate to pledge such interest to persons or entities which do not participate in the relevant clearing systems, or otherwise take actions in respect of such interest, may be affected by the lack of an Individual Note Certificate representing such interest.

Subject to compliance with the transfer restrictions applicable to the Registered Notes described under "*Transfer Restrictions*", transfers between DTC participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders, on the other will be effected by the relevant clearing systems in accordance with their respective rules and through action taken by the DTC Custodian, the Registrar and the Fiscal Agent.

On or after the issue date for any Series, transfers of Notes of such Series between accountholders in Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and transfers of Notes of such Series between participants in

DTC will generally have a settlement date one business day after the trade date (T+1). The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment will apply to such transfers.

Transfers between DTC participants, on the one hand, and Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders, on the other will need to have an agreed settlement date between the parties to such transfer. Because there is no direct link between DTC, on the one hand, and Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, on the other, transfers of interests in the relevant Global Note Certificates will be effected through the Fiscal Agent, the DTC Custodian, the relevant Registrar and any applicable Transfer Agent receiving instructions (and where appropriate certification) from the transferor and arranging for delivery of the interests being transferred to the credit of the designated account for the transferee. Transfers will be effected on the later of (i) three business days after the trade date for the disposal of the interest in the relevant Global Note Certificate resulting in such transfer and (ii) two business days after receipt by the Fiscal Agent or the Registrar, as the case may be, of the necessary certification or information to effect such transfer. In the case of cross-market transfers, settlement between Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders and DTC participants cannot be made on a delivery versus payment basis. The securities will be delivered on a free delivery basis and arrangements for payment must be made separately. The customary arrangements for delivery versus payment between Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg accountholders or between DTC participants are not affected.

For a further description of restrictions on the transfer of Notes, see "Subscription and Sale" and "Transfer Restrictions".

Upon the issue of a Global Note Certificate to be held by or on behalf of DTC, DTC or the DTC Custodian will credit the respective nominal amounts of the individual beneficial interests represented by such Global Note Certificate to the account of DTC participants. Ownership of beneficial interests in such Global Note Certificate will be held through participants of DTC, including the respective depositaries of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Ownership of beneficial interests in such Global Note Certificate will be shown on, and the transfer of such ownership will be effected only through, records maintained by DTC or its nominee. DTC has advised the Issuer that it will take any action permitted to be taken by a holder of Registered Notes represented by a Global Note Certificate held by or on behalf of DTC (including, without limitation, the presentation of such Global Note Certificates for exchange as described above) only at the direction of one or more participants in whose account with DTC interests in such Global Note Certificate are credited, and only in respect of such portion of the aggregate nominal amount of such Global Note Certificate as to which such participant or participants has or have given such direction. However, in certain circumstances, DTC will exchange the relevant Global Note Certificate for Individual Note Certificates (which will bear the relevant legends set out in "*Transfer Restrictions*").

Although DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have agreed to the foregoing procedures in order to facilitate transfers of interests in the Global Note Certificates among participants and accountholders of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg, they are under no obligation to perform or continue to perform such procedures, and such procedures may be discontinued at any time. None of the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers or the Agents will have any responsibility for the performance by DTC, Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg or their respective direct or indirect participants or accountholders of their respective obligations under the rules and procedures governing their respective operations.

While a Global Note Certificate is lodged with DTC, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any relevant clearing system, Individual Note Certificates for the relevant Series of Notes will not be eligible for clearing and settlement through such clearing systems.

### Conditions applicable to Global Notes

Each Global Note or Global Note Certificate will contain provisions which modify the Terms and Conditions of the Notes as they apply to the Global Note or a Global Note Certificate. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

Payments: All payments in respect of the Global Note or a Global Note Certificate which, according to the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, require presentation and/or surrender of a Note, Note Certificate or Coupon will be made against presentation and (in the case of payment of principal in full with all interest accrued thereon) surrender of the Global Note or a Global Note Certificate to or to the order of any Paying Agent and will be effective to satisfy and discharge the corresponding liabilities of the Issuer in respect of

the Notes. On each occasion on which a payment of principal or interest is made in respect of the Global Note, the Issuer shall procure that the payment is noted in a schedule thereto.

Calculation of interest: the calculation of any interest amount in respect of any Note which is represented by a Global Note or Global Note Certificate will be calculated on the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Notes represented by such Global Note or Global Note Certificate, as the case may be, and not by reference to the Calculation Amount.

Payment Business Day: In the case of a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate, shall be: if the currency of payment is euro, any day which is a TARGET Settlement Day and a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre; or, if the currency of payment is not euro, any day which is a day on which dealings in foreign currencies may be carried on in the Principal Financial Centre of the currency of payment and in each (if any) Additional Financial Centre.

Payment Record Date: Each payment in respect of a Global Note Certificate will be made to the person shown as the Holder in the Register at the close of business (in the relevant clearing system) on the Clearing System Business Day before the due date for such payment (the "Record Date") where "Clearing System Business Day" means a day on which each clearing system for which the Global Note Certificate is being held is open for business.

Exercise of put option: In order to exercise the option contained in Condition 9(f) (Redemption at the option of Noteholders) the bearer of the Permanent Global Note or the holder of a Global Registered Note must, within the period specified in the Conditions for the deposit of the relevant Note and put notice, give written notice of such exercise to the Fiscal Agent specifying the principal amount of Notes in respect of which such option is being exercised. Any such notice will be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn.

Partial exercise of call option: In connection with an exercise of the option contained in Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Issuer) in relation to some only of the Notes, the Permanent Global Note or a Global Note Certificate may be redeemed in part in the principal amount specified by the Issuer in accordance with the Conditions and the Notes to be redeemed will not be selected as provided in the Conditions but in accordance with the rules and procedures of DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg (to be reflected in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as either a pool factor or a reduction in principal amount, at their discretion).

Exercise of put option: In order to exercise the option contained in Condition 9(f) (Redemption at the option of Noteholders) the bearer of a Permanent Global Note or the holder of a Global Note Certificate must, within the period specified in the Conditions for the deposit of the relevant Note give notice of such exercise to the Fiscal, in accordance with the rules and procedures of Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, specifying the principal amount of Notes in respect of which such option is being exercised. Any such notice will be irrevocable and may not be withdrawn.

Notices: Notwithstanding Condition 19 (Notices), while all the Notes are represented by a Permanent Global Note (or by a Permanent Global Note and/or a Temporary Global Note) or a Global Note Certificate and the Permanent Global Note is (or the Permanent Global Note and/or the Temporary Global Note are), or Global Note Certificate is, registered in the name of DTC's nominee or deposited with a depositary or a common depositary for Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system, notices to Noteholders may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system and, in any case, such notices shall be deemed to have been given to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 19 (Notices) on the date of delivery to DTC and/or Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg and/or any other relevant clearing system.

Similarly, the provisions for meetings of Noteholders in the Agency Agreement contain provisions that apply while the Notes are represented by a Global Note or a Global Note Certificate. The following is a summary of certain of those provisions:

*Electronic Consent and Written Resolution:* While any Global Note or Global Note Certificate is held on behalf of a clearing system, then:

(a) approval of a resolution proposed by the Issuer, given by way of electronic consents communicated through the electronic communications systems of the relevant clearing system(s) in accordance

with their operating rules and procedures by or on behalf of the holders of not less than 75 per cent. in nominal amount of the Notes outstanding (an "**Electronic Consent**" as defined in the Agency Agreement) shall, for all purposes (including matters that would otherwise require an Extraordinary Resolution to be passed at a meeting for which a special quorum was satisfied), take effect as an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a meeting of Noteholders duly convened and held, and shall be binding on all Noteholders and holders of Coupons, Talons and Receipts whether or not they participated in such Electronic Consent; and

(b) where Electronic Consent is not being sought, for the purpose of determining whether a Written Resolution (as defined in the Agency Agreement) has been validly passed, the Issuer shall be entitled to rely on consent or instructions given in writing directly to the Issuer by (a) accountholders in the clearing system with entitlements to such Global Note or a Global Note Certificate and/or, where (b) the accountholders hold any such entitlement on behalf of another person, on written consent from or written instruction by the person identified by that accountholder as the person for whom such entitlement is held. For the purpose of establishing the entitlement to give any such consent or instruction, the Issuer shall be entitled to rely on any certificate or other document issued by, in the case of (a) above, Euroclear, Clearstream, Luxembourg or any other relevant alternative clearing system (the "relevant clearing system") and, in the case of (b) above, the relevant clearing system and the accountholder identified by the relevant clearing system for the purposes of (b) above. Any resolution passed in such manner shall be binding on all Noteholders and Couponholders, even if the relevant consent or instruction proves to be defective. Any such certificate or other document shall, in the absence of manifest error, be conclusive and binding for all purposes. Any such certificate or other document may comprise any form of statement or print out of electronic records provided by the relevant clearing system (including Euroclear's EUCLID or Clearstream, Luxembourg's CreationOnline system) in accordance with its usual procedures and in which the accountholder of a particular principal or nominal amount of the Notes is clearly identified together with the amount of such holding. The shall not be liable to any person by reason of having accepted as valid or not having rejected any certificate or other document to such effect purporting to be issued by any such person and subsequently found to be forged or not authentic.

#### **DESCRIPTION OF THE ISSUER**

#### Introduction

The Issuer, Export Finance Australia, is the Australian Government's export credit agency ("ECA") and has performed this role within various statutory frameworks since 1957. The Issuer was established in its current form on 1 November 1991 under the *Export Finance and Insurance Corporation Act 1991* ("EFIC Act") as a statutory corporation of the Commonwealth of Australia and operates under the provisions of that Act and the *Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013* ("PGPA Act"), where it is designated as a corporate Commonwealth entity.

As the Australian Government's ECA, the Issuer is integral to the delivery of Australia's international trade and investment objectives – supporting businesses, jobs, and the community. The Issuer uses its commercial financing capability to support viable exporters and overseas infrastructure development in the Pacific and Indo-Pacific region when financing from the private sector is unavailable or insufficient.

The Issuer works with banks, other financial institutions, international export credit agency counterparts and other partners, such as the Australian Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade ("**DFAT**") and the Australian Trade and Investment Commission ("**Austrade**"), to support businesses and Pacific and Indo-Pacific infrastructure development. By doing so, the Issuer seeks to encourage and catalyse private market financing. The Issuer's mandate and capital base enable it to support a wide range of businesses, especially small and medium-sized enterprises, finance overseas infrastructure development in the region and assist other government entities.

The Issuer has an independent Board that is responsible for managing its affairs. This includes determining its strategy, defining its risk appetite, and monitoring its performance.

The Issuer is part of the DFAT portfolio of agencies, its responsible Minister is the Minister for Trade and Tourism.

#### **Corporate Organisation**

The Issuer is a national organisation with on-the-ground presence across Australia. Its headquarters are in Sydney, with a national network of employees located in Austrade's Adelaide, Brisbane, Canberra, Melbourne, and Perth offices.

Its New South Wales, Victorian and Queensland employees support exporters in the Australian Capital Territory, Tasmania, and the Northern Territory, respectively.

The Issuer now has an on-the-ground presence in Southeast Asia as part of the Australian Government's Southeast Asia Investment Deal Teams, with employees located in Singapore, Ho Chi Minh City and Jakarta.

#### **State Support**

Under section 62 of the EFIC Act, the Commonwealth of Australia guarantees the due payment by the Issuer of any money that becomes payable by the Issuer to a person other than the Commonwealth. As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, this guarantee has never been called. The Guarantee can be viewed here: Export Finance and Insurance Corporation Act 1991 (legislation.gov.au).

### **Dividend Policy**

Under section 55(1) of the EFIC Act the Issuer's Board must within four months of the end of each financial year recommend that the Issuer pay a specified dividend, or not pay a dividend, to the Commonwealth for that financial year. Section 55(2) of the EFIC Act requires the Minister to decide within a further 30 days the amount of dividend, if any, to be paid.

#### **Objective and Strategy**

The Issuer has a range of functions and mandates that reflect the broad role it plays as Australia's ECA. These are detailed in the EFIC Act, its Ministerial Statement of Expectations, and its Corporate Plan.

The assessment of its contribution in any year is a combination of its outreach and engagement with customers, partners, and stakeholders, as well as the results of its commercial and national interest financing activities. Unlike traditional financial institutions, the Issuer expects to see variability in its financial results year on year, given its "market gap" mandate and the broader role it plays in support of a range of government strategic priorities.

The Australian Government, through the Minister's Statement of Expectations, has identified four key focus areas for the Issuer. These are:

- small and medium-sized enterprises ("SMEs");
- Pacific and Indo-Pacific infrastructure development;
- supporting Australian defence-related exports; and
- Australia's critical minerals sector.

Since the Ministerial Statement of Expectations was issued, the Minister has directed the Issuer to administer the SEAIFF (as defined below).

The Issuer also provides essential operational support to the Australian Infrastructure Financing Facility for the Pacific ("AIFFP") and other Commonwealth entities. The Issuer is compensated for this work on a cost recovery basis only.

As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, Future Made in Australia ("**FMIA**") legislation is before the Federal Parliament. It will, if passed, amend the functions of the Issuer as set out in the EFIC Act, thereby providing the Issuer with additional powers to use its NIA (as defined below) to support domestic investments which assist Australia in meeting two national priorities:

- net zero transformation; and
- economic security and resilience.

#### How the Issuer provides finance

The Issuer provides commercial finance to SMEs, corporates and governments for export trade and overseas infrastructure development that delivers benefit to Australia. The Issuer delivers support through its Commercial Account ("CA") and/or the National Interest Account ("NIA"). However, the intent is always to assess a transaction's eligibility for the CA first and only consider the NIA when CA criteria are not met. Typically, transactions on the NIA are outside the risk appetite of the CA as determined by the Board. The NIA may be used as appropriate to support transactions that meet specific and targeted government policies and objectives.

#### Commercial Account

Under the CA, the Issuer operates on a commercial basis, retaining all transaction income and bearing all risks and losses. Decisions under the CA are the responsibility of the Board and management.

#### National Interest Account

Under the NIA, the Minister can direct the Issuer to support classes of transactions that are in the national interest. The Issuer can also refer transactions to the Minister for NIA consideration. This might be due to a transaction being unsuitable for the CA due to its risk and return profile, size, tenor, or other factors that are relevant to the national interest. The Commonwealth receives all income on NIA transactions. It also bears all risks and losses.

#### 'Crowding in' private finance

Australian exporting businesses, particularly SMEs, can experience difficulty accessing finance. As the Australian Government's ECA, the Issuer steps in to provide commercial financing solutions.

The Issuer's Ministerial Statement of Expectations also requires it to play a demonstration role to other commercial financiers in the Australian market. The Issuer's demonstration role has a positive outcome for these businesses, even if it means the Issuer loses them as customers. This is known as 'crowding in' and can happen in two ways.

- 1. The Issuer crowds in the private sector before a transaction is completed. The Issuer's presence in early financing discussions signals to the private sector that the Issuer is comfortable with the commerciality of a transaction. Consequently, the private market provides the finance.
- 2. The private sector replaces the Issuer's finance after it has completed one or more transactions. The Issuer's financing of a business over-time signals to the private sector that the business is viable and should be supported.

### **Equity Financing Capability**

In October 2021, legislation was passed by the Australian Parliament providing the Issuer with an equity financing power. This equity financing power complements the Issuer's existing financing capabilities. It is limited to the financing of transactions that are in the national interest and delivered on the NIA.

This equity financing capability aligns the Issuer's capabilities with those of other export credit agencies that have similar powers, including those in the U.S., China, Japan, Canada, and South Korea. Its equity financing capability also enhances the Issuer's ability to work alongside other like-minded financing partners. While its core offering will continue to be debt, an equity financing power enables the Issuer to better support the Australian Government's priorities for overseas infrastructure development and export-linked Australian businesses in sectors of economic significance.

#### Global Reach

The Issuer's support helps Australian businesses to expand into new markets when finance from commercial providers is unavailable. This enables its customers to pursue export opportunities in new markets that might otherwise have been out of reach. The Issuer's customers reflect the diverse nature of Australia's export mix. While China, Japan, Korea, and the U.S. remain popular export destinations, the Issuer's customers export to a number of different countries. In 2023-24, the Issuer financed exports to 58 countries, supporting a diverse mix of exports including agriculture, renewable energy, clean technology, fashion, and wine.

In March 2024, the Australian Government announced it would establish a A\$2 billion Southeast Asia investment financing facility (the "SEAIFF") to provide loans, guarantees, equity and insurance for projects for the purpose of boosting Australian trade and investment in Southeast Asia, particularly in support of the region's clean energy transition and infrastructure development. The Issuer administers the SEAIFF and the Issuer's financing specialists are working alongside DFAT and Austrade to help identify and facilitate investment opportunities across the region. The Issuer now has an on-the-ground presence in Southeast Asia as part of the Australian Government's Southeast Asia Investment Deal Teams, with employees located in Singapore, Ho Chi Minh City and Jakarta. The SEAIFF is delivered by the Issuer on the NIA.

Details of the split by geographic region of the Issuer's exposure on each of the CA and NIA as at 30 June 2024 are set out in the table below.

. . .

Commercial Account			National Interest Account				
Region	Value (A\$mn)	Value (%)	Region	Value (A\$mn)	Value (%)	_	
Australia	1,070.8	59.7	Pacific	3,058.1	82.1		
South America	222.3	12.4	Australia	231.6	6.2		
Asia	159.4	8.9	North America	188.7	5.1		
Europe	136.3	7.6	South America	99.3	2.7		
Southeast Asia	108.3	6	Middle East	75.2	2.0		
Pacific	52.9	3	Asia	72.9	2.0		
North America	42.4	2.4					
Middle East	0.3	0.0					

#### **Recent Developments**

On 30 April 2024, the Australian Government announced that the Commonwealth and the Queensland Governments signed a deal to each invest the equivalent of A\$466.4 million via an equity investment and loans to PsiQuantum, a frontier technology company seeking to build a commercial-scale fault tolerant quantum computer in Brisbane, Queensland. The Commonwealth's investment in PsiQuantum is made by the Issuer on the NIA.

#### **Diverse Mandates**

The Issuer's mandates encompass diverse interests that support the Australian Government's trade and investment objectives. In addition to SME and larger project finance, the Issuer is focused on the provision of finance for:

#### Infrastructure in the Pacific (including Timor-Leste) and broader Indo-Pacific region

These financing powers enable the Issuer to support infrastructure projects in the region where there is a benefit flowing back to Australia. Many of these opportunities directly support the Australian Government's trade and investment objectives in the region.

Examples of transactions the Issuer has undertaken in this area include:

- U.S.\$140 million equivalent guarantee for Hai Long offshore wind farm in Taiwan.
- U.S.\$1.33 billion package to help Telstra acquire Digicel Pacific.
- U.S.\$30 million loan to Vinfast to support manufacture of electric public buses and rollout a charging network in Vietnam.
- U.S.\$32 million loan to the Lotus Wind Power project in Vietnam.

#### Australia's critical minerals sector

The Australian Government expects the Issuer to focus on critical minerals projects and related infrastructure. This is to help diversify critical minerals supply chains and support the expansion of downstream processing in Australia.

In support of this objective, as well as having provided over A\$370 million of support on its CA, the Issuer administers the A\$4 billion Critical Minerals Facility on the NIA. On the direction of its Minister, this facility allows the Issuer to provide financial support to critical minerals projects and related infrastructure, or support businesses in the critical minerals export supply chain where the Issuer is not able to provide the finance on its CA.

Examples of transactions the Issuer has undertaken in this area include:

- A\$125 million loan to Pilbara Minerals provided through the CA to expand their lithium mine and processing operations in Western Australia.
- A\$1.25 billion loan provided through the Critical Minerals Facility for the development of the Eneabba Rare Earths Refinery.

### Australia's defence sector

As part of the Australian Government's focus on building Australia's defence export capabilities, the Issuer administers the U.S.\$3 billion Defence Export Facility. As directed by the Minister, this facility provides a way for the Issuer to finance defence exports where the Issuer may not have been able to help under its CA. To date the Issuer has provided over U.S.\$360 million in finance since the launch of the Australian Government's Defence Export Strategy.

The Issuer has established a Policy for Export of Military Equipment and Dual-Use Goods.

Examples of transactions the Issuer has undertaken in this area include:

• U.S.\$91 million loan provided through the Defence Export Facility to Trinidad and Tobago to support the purchase of two Austal Cape Class Patrol boats.

#### The Issuer's purpose

The Issuer achieves its purpose by fulfilling its legislated functions which are to:

- 1. Provide finance that facilitates and encourages Australian export trade and overseas infrastructure development.
- 2. Encourage banks and other financial institutions to finance exports and overseas infrastructure development.
- 3. Provide information and advice regarding financial arrangements to support Australian export trade and overseas infrastructure financing.
- 4. Assist other Commonwealth entities and companies in providing finance and financial services.
- 5. Administer payments in relation to certain overseas aid projects financed by the Commonwealth.

#### The Issuer's products and services

The Issuer offers a range of specialist export finance solutions working with business to find the right solution to support international business goals. Solutions include:

- 1. Small Business Export Loan A\$20K to A\$350K loans to fund export-related contracts, export market development, general working capital, equipment finance or online sales to international customers.
- Tailored Loan Solution supports export or supply chain businesses, facilitates exports in emerging markets.
- 3. Advance payment bonds provides the buyer with security for their advance payment under an export-related contract.
- 4. Performance bonds gives the buyer of a product or service assurance that if an exporter does not meet its obligations under a contract the buyer can call on the bond to reduce its losses.
- 5. Warranty bonds protects an exporter's buyer from loss if the exporter does not meet its contractual warranty obligations after the contract is completed.
- 6. US surety bonds allows the exporter to meet its U.S. bond requirements and compete more effectively by supplying a surety bond from the Issuer's registered U.S. surety bond issuer, Liberty Mutual Insurance.
- 7. Guarantee if a business does not have the level of security its bank needs to approve finance for an eligible export-related transaction or international expansion, the Issuer can help by working with its bank to provide a guarantee so its business can get access to the additional finance it needs.
- 8. Project and Structured Finance provides financial support to larger businesses across a broad range of industries, Australian businesses operating and investing internationally, as well as international buyers of Australian goods and/or services. The Issuer has extensive experience in export and project finance in emerging and frontier markets.
- 9. Equity available only on the NIA to support the Australian Government's priorities for overseas infrastructure development and export-linked Australian businesses in sectors of economic significance.
- 10. Export payments insurance protects an exporter from loss if it does not receive payment in connection with its export business.
- 11. Political risk insurance -protects Australian businesses investing overseas against loss in respect of their investment caused by certain political risk events.

12. Reinsurance - provides protection to insurers, lenders and guarantors supporting Australian exporters.

#### **Customer Due Diligence**

Customer due diligence involves establishing a customer's identity or, if applicable, the identity of the person acting on behalf of each customer and the identification of the beneficial owners of the customers (as applicable), gathering of information on the purpose and type of the intended customer relationship and the recording of customer details.

The Issuer is committed to deterring bribery and corruption in all aspects of its business, including in the transactions it supports, through its anti-corruption initiatives. The Issuer's due diligence includes checks against financial crime, bribery, corruption, and sanctions prior to providing any financial support.

The Issuer applies the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development ("**OECD**") Recommendation on Bribery and Officially Supported Export Credits, applying these standards before providing financial support. It also applies these standards more broadly than required by this OECD recommendation across its products. This includes the Issuer's requiring certain anti-bribery declarations from its customers.

The Issuer also has law enforcement and regulator relationships. The Issuer shares information with the Australian Transaction Reports and Analysis Centre ("AUSTRAC"), the Australian Federal Police and other relevant agencies and regulators in accordance with applicable laws and its policies and procedures.

Information-sharing includes instances where the Issuer suspects criminal activity has occurred or may occur. These processes are designed to ensure that the Issuer (a) is not subject to money laundering by cleansing of assets obtained through illegal sources; (b) that financing provided by the Issuer is not used to finance terrorism or other illegal operations; and (c) is in compliance with international sanctions.

#### Non-performing financing

The Issuer applies the regulations and guidelines of the Australian Prudential Regulation Authority ("APRA") for recognising non-performing financing where practical, however it is not subject to their rules.

### Competition

The Issuer's objective, as a statutory corporation of the Commonwealth of Australia, is to supplement the financial services offered by the private sector, and therefore it does not compete with the private sector. Australian exporting businesses, particularly SMEs, can have trouble accessing finance. As the Australian Government's ECA, the Issuer steps in to provide commercial financing solutions and to encourage private sector lending.

#### Governing principles

#### The Board

The Issuer's Board is responsible for managing its affairs. This includes determining strategy, defining risk appetite and monitoring performance. The Issuer takes a disciplined approach to governance and risk management through its risk management framework.

Name	Position
Debra Hazelton	Chair
David Bennett	Deputy Chair
John Hopkins	Managing Director & CEO
Karina Kwan	Member and Board Audit and Risk Committee Chair
Rob Chapman	Member and Investment Committee Chair
James Douglas	Member
Catherine Walter AM	Member
James Wilson	Member
Jan Adams AO PSM	Government Member
George Mina	Alternate Government Member

The business address of each member of the Board is Export Finance House, Level 11, 22 Pitt Street, Sydney NSW 2000, being the headquarters of the Issuer.

The members of the Board (other than the Managing Director & CEO) are appointed by the Minister.

The Issuer has in place procedures to identify and monitor potential, perceived and actual conflicts of interests in respect of Board members and to adopt appropriate measures where these arise. These include that:

- Board members must declare any conflicts of interest in, for example, transactions, arrangements, or agreements with the Issuer.; and
- the Issuer maintains a register updated with the disclosed interests of all Board members.

#### The Board Audit and Risk Committee

The primary functions of the Board Audit and Risk Committee is to review the appropriateness of the Issuer's financial reporting, performance reporting, system of risk oversight and management, and system of internal control.

The Board Audit and Risk Committee acts as an advisory committee of the Board. It assists the Board in developing policy and monitoring organisational activity within the scope of its charter. The Board Audit and Risk Committee also makes recommendations to the Board for resolution. In addition, or to complement its primary functions, the Board Audit and Risk Committee:

- monitors the effectiveness of the enterprise risk management framework, its implementation and the Issuer's adherence to procedures, and makes recommendations to the Board on changes to the framework;
- monitors the effectiveness of the internal control environment and procedures designed to achieve compliance with laws, regulations, internal standards, and policies;
- oversees compliance relating to financial reporting and disclosure and regulatory reporting;
- makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment, assessment, and removal of the internal auditors, and oversees their independence;
- assists the Australian National Audit Office with the appointment, assessment, and removal of external auditors, and oversees their independence;
- annually reviews and advises on the external and internal audit fees, plans and scope; and
- provides an effective forum for communication between Board members, the senior managers, and the internal and external auditors.

The Board Audit and Risk Committee has at least three members, with a minimum of two non-executive Board members and all of whom are not employees of the Issuer. The Board appoints the Chair and members of the Board Audit and Risk Committee.

#### The Investment Committee

The Investment Committee acts as an advisory committee of the Board. It assists the Board in developing policy and monitoring organisational activity within the scope of its charter. The Investment Committee also makes recommendations for Board resolution with respect to proposed equity investments on the NIA.

The Investment Committee has at least two members, with a minimum of two non-executive Board members and all of whom are not employees of the Issuer. The Board appoints the Chair and members of the Investment Committee.

#### The Minister

The Minister provides guidance to the Board through a Ministerial Statement of Expectations. The Board responds with a Statement of Intent confirming how it will operate to meet those expectations. The Minister may direct the Issuer in writing to perform its functions or exercise its powers in the public interest, including approving transactions on the NIA. The Minister cannot direct the Issuer to enter into transactions on the CA.

The Board must keep the Minister informed about its operations and any other information the Minister or the Minister for Finance needs. The Minister or their representative responds to questions from members of Federal Parliament about the Issuer and to parliamentary orders about the Issuer. The senior management team attends Senate estimates hearings three times a year to answer questions on behalf of the Minister on its operations. Senior management may also appear before Australian Parliament from time to time as required.

If the FMIA legislation is passed, the EFIC Act will be amended to provide that the Minister for Finance is jointly responsible for the Issuer with the Minister for Trade and Tourism.

#### Executive team

The Executive team is responsible for delivering on the Issuer's purpose to support Australian export trade and overseas infrastructure development that delivers benefits to Australia. As of the date of the Offering Memorandum, John Hopkins is the Managing Director & CEO.

Mr Hopkins has over 25 years of experience in the finance, corporate and government sectors, with an international career focused on risk, legal and operational roles.

Prior to joining the Issuer, Mr Hopkins held various senior management positions at Westpac, Goodman Group and National Australia Bank in Sydney, London and New York. During this period, he advised on a broad range of transactional and corporate matters, including major financings, capital raisings, domestic and cross-border governance, regulatory and compliance issues.

Mr Hopkins joined the Issuer in 2012 and played a central role, both as Chief Operating Officer and Chief Risk Officer, in overseeing the expansion of the Issuer's mandate and the delivery of complex financing transactions in support of Australian business and key government policy objectives.

Name	Position	Year of Appointment		
John Hopkins	Managing Director & CEO	2022		
Manny Arabatzis	Chief Risk Officer	2023		
Amanda Copping	Chief Investment Officer	2022		
Victoria Doherty	Chief Human Resources Officer	2019		
Nic Frankham.	Chief Corporate Affairs and Strategy Officer	2023		
Sonia Kammel	Chief Financial and Operating Officer	2020		
Felicity Shaw	General Counsel	2022		

#### **Employees**

As of 30 June 2024, the Issuer has approximately 160 full-time equivalent employees.

### The Issuer's portfolio

The Issuer employs a risk grading system to rank risks according to both the counterparty risk and the level of country risk inherent in the exposure. The Issuer also measures and monitors country, industry, and counterparty concentration risk on the CA. Any significant concentration risk on the CA is taken into account in assessing the amount of capital, which is required to conduct the CA activities.

An estimate of the relationship between the Issuer's rating categories (Export Finance Australia Rating System or "ERS") and the S&P rating categories as at 30 June 2024 is set out below. As the rating methodologies used by the Issuer and S&P are different, the estimates set out below are only indicative and may not correspond accurately.

	AA- to	A- to	BBB- to	BB- to	B- to		C to		
S&P rating	AAA	<b>A</b> +	BBB+	BB+	B+	CCC+	CCC	Doubtful	Doubtful
Issuer's ERS	1	2.	3	4	5	6	7	8	9

The gross exposures (before fair value adjustments) for the CA after reinsurance under each category are as follows:

_	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022
		(A\$ in millions)	
Gross exposures loans and receivables			
Risk category 1 (AA- to AAA)	40.4	29.2	27.2
Risk category 2 (A- to A+)	79.0	88.8	89.6
Risk category 3 (BBB- to BBB+)	178.6	59.5	-
Risk category 4 (BB- to BB+)	366.8	344.8	328.7
Risk category 5 (B- to B+)	218.5	292.8	305.9
Risk category 6 (CCC+)	299.9	342.7	331.4
Risk category 7 (C to CCC)	103.1	107.2	99.8
Risk category 8 doubtful	13.9	12.3	9.9
Risk category 9 impaired	0.3	0.3	0.4
Gross exposures loans and receivables	1,300.1	1,277.6	1,192.9

The ratio of Doubtful and Impaired Loans and Receivables to Gross Exposures Loans and Receivables was 1.1 per cent. at 30 June 2024, as compared to 1.0 per cent. at 30 June 2023.

As part of its normal operations, the Issuer enters into a variety of transactions that give rise to contingent liabilities, including guarantees, insurance and bonds. The maximum exposure to credit risk for these types of transactions is the maximum amount that the Issuer would pay if called upon to do so. The exposures for the CA after reinsurance under each risk category are as follows:

	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022
		(A\$ in millions)	
Contingent liabilities*			
Risk category 1 (AA- to AAA)	102.8	74.0	51.3
Risk category 2 (A- to A+)	24.3	-	-
Risk category 3 (BBB- to BBB+)	9.0	0.5	-
Risk category 4 (BB- to BB+)	133.6	119.1	84.9
Risk category 5 (B to B+)	57.7	45.3	40.4
Risk category 6 (CCC+)	157.4	119.2	85.7
Risk category 7 (C to CCC)	0.6	37.5	1.5
Risk category 8 doubtful	7.2	7.2	6.7
Total contingent liabilities	492.6	402.8	270.5

As part of its normal operations, the Issuer enters into a variety of transactions that give rise to commitments, including loans, guarantees, insurance and bonds. The maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the commitment.

	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022	
		(A\$ in millions)		
Commitments*				
Risk category 4 (BB- to BB+)	178.0	275.3	46.2	
Risk category 5 (B to B+)	525.2	94.2	65.4	
Risk category 6 (CCC+)	26.8	72.7	52.0	
Risk category 7 (C to CCC)		1.0	0.1	
Total commitments	730.0	443.2	163.7	

<sup>\*</sup> There are no exposures in categories 1, 2, 3, 8 and 9.

The Issuer's principal exposure to credit risk arises from the financing and credit facilities extended to customers. On the CA, loans written off during the year ended 30 June 2024 or called credit facilities that were not subsequently recovered within the year were A\$1.2 million (2023: A\$1.6 million).

### **Large Exposure Policy**

The Issuer models its large exposure policy on APRA guidelines.

The Issuer limits large exposures to 25 per cent. of eligible capital for exposures graded ERS 1 (AAA/AA– or Aaa/Aa3) or ERS 2 (A+/A– or A1/A3). The Issuer has adopted a more conservative target of 15 per cent. for risks graded ERS 3 (BBB+/BBB– or Baa1/Baa3) or worse, within the general limit of 25 per cent.

As an exception to this policy, the Board has approved an increase in exposure limits from a maximum of 25 per cent. to 30 per cent. of capital applying to risk transfer partners that are ERS 1 government-backed export credit agencies. The maximum exposure limit applying to other risk transfer partners rated ERS 1 or 2 is 20 per cent. of capital.

The Board allows a small tolerance above the internal limits for large exposures to account for foreign exchange movements, given the majority of the Issuer's large exposures are in foreign currency against an Australian dollar capital base. The Board is also prepared to consider exceptional cases.

Under current delegations, the Board must approve all transactions that involve commitments to any group consisting of a parent and its controlled subsidiaries, affiliates and associates over A\$50 million.

#### **Funding and Hedging**

The Issuer is self-funding and operates on a commercial basis, charging customers fees and premiums and earning interest on loans and investments. The Issuer borrows money in the domestic and international capital markets to fund its loans, rescheduled credit insurance debts and, when necessary, contingent liabilities on bonds and guarantees provided to support export contracts, Australian export trade and overseas infrastructure development that delivers a benefit to Australia. In particular, in addition to the Programme the Issuer has access to the international capital markets via its A\$5 billion MTN programme and its U.S.\$4 billion Euro Commercial Paper programme. The Issuer services and repays these borrowings from interest and principal instalments received from loans, and premiums and fees charged to customers for the provision of its products and services. The Issuer also performs all the activities mentioned to support the NIA where it acts at the direction of the Commonwealth.

The Board is required to ensure that the Issuer's capital and reserves are sufficient. If cash capital is insufficient, under section 54 of the EFIC Act, the Board, in consultation with the Minister, also has access to additional callable capital from the Commonwealth up to a prescribed amount (A\$1.2 billion as at the date hereof).

The Issuer funds its loan book in matched currencies, either by borrowing in the appropriate currency or, more usually, by borrowing in another currency and using cross-currency swaps or foreign exchange markets to remove the foreign exchange exposure. Similarly, the Issuer uses interest rate swaps and futures to match the interest rate profiles of its liabilities with those of its loans.

The EFIC Act expressly confers on the Issuer the power to enter swaps, foreign exchange agreements, forward rate agreements, options, hedge agreements and arrangements having a similar purpose or effect. The Issuer confines treasury risk to investment grade counterparties (with, where appropriate, collateral posting requirements on ratings downgrades) and does not trade speculatively.

All borrowings by the Issuer (other than borrowings from the Commonwealth) or raisings of money by it otherwise than by borrowing, require the written approval of the Finance Minister of the Commonwealth under section 59 of the EFIC Act.

### Risk management

The Board is responsible for setting the Issuer's risk strategy, including its risk appetite and tolerances. The Board's Audit and Risk Committee oversees all aspects of risk management and internal control. This includes reviewing the Issuer's compliance activity, financial reporting and performance reporting, its audit program and the adequacy of its accounting policies and procedures. The Issuer's Executive and Senior Management teams, led by the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer, implement the Board's risk strategy. This involves developing policies, processes, procedures and controls to identify and manage risks across all the Issuer's areas of activity.

The Issuer's Risk Appetite Statement details its risk appetite for each of the key risks that it faces. The Issuer has also developed a Risk Control Matrix, which sets out each of the inherent risks it faces, as well

as the controls it has in place, to arrive at a residual risk rating. The Issuer reviews the Risk Control Matrix regularly to add new risks or identify changes to existing risks. The Issuer also assigns Risk Owners with responsibility for managing each risk and this approach engenders a culture of risk awareness and ownership across the organisation.

The Issuer approaches risk management in a way that helps the Issuer to achieve its strategy and objectives. Risk management is a critical enabler of the Issuer's overall corporate objective of being financially sustainable within the Board's agreed risk appetite.

The Board also engages an independent internal auditor to review the Issuer's risk management and internal controls. This service provider, currently EY, reports to the Issuer's Board via the Board Audit and Risk Committee and the Executive team.

### Key risks

The Issuer has developed an enterprise-wide risk management framework that identifies the key risks facing the organisation and the controls in place. Key risk categories and associated mitigation strategies include:

#### Strategic Risk

The Issuer is mandated to provide financial support to exporters and entities engaged in overseas infrastructure development where there is an identified Australian benefit.

The Issuer's strategy framework ensures that it prioritises strategic initiatives appropriately and reports and manages associated risks.

#### Credit risk

The Issuer recognises that counterparty credit risk, country risk and associated portfolio and industry risks arise from supporting Australian exporters and overseas infrastructure development. Its focus on small and medium-sized enterprises and on emerging markets increases the likelihood of credit losses.

The Issuer's credit policy (and rigorous procedures) provide the framework for managing credit risks. The Issuer assesses the impact of environmental and social risks on the transactions that it supports. Failure to identify or manage environmental and social risks can have reputational and financial impacts. The Issuer's policy for Environmental and Social Review of Transactions outlines how it manages these risks.

### Reputation Risk

Reputation risk can emerge from any conduct, transaction, activity or behaviour that is unlawful, unethical or inconsistent with the Issuer's purpose. Reputation risk may impact the Issuer or the Australian Government.

The Issuer has a range of policies, procedures and processes in place to protect its reputation and to mitigate and manage reputation risks that may arise. In particular, transactions are considered against the Issuer's mandate and its credit risk processes (see above). The Issuer also applies anti-money laundering and know-your-customer processes to each transaction.

#### Market Risk

The Issuer issues debt in its own name and holds domestic and foreign currency denominated loans and financial instruments to support operations in export markets in pursuit of its objectives. These instruments expose the balance sheet to financial risks, including credit and market risks.

Market risks are managed to an acceptable level through a framework of quantitative controls. Risks include mark to market risk, funding and liquidity mismatch risk, repricing risk, interest rate and foreign exchange risks and earnings volatility.

The Issuer has a Treasury policy that sets out the framework for managing market risks and is supported by a wide range of procedural documents.

#### Operational Risk

Operational risk covers a broad range of risks across the Issuer's organisation. Operational risk is categorised into four sub-categories: people; process; data and systems; and external events. Operational risk is only acceptable at levels required to meet the mandate effectively and efficiently.

A wide range of policies, procedures and controls are in place to manage operational risks.

#### Litigation

There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings, (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened, of which the Issuer is aware), which may have, or have had during the 12 months prior to the date of this Offering Memorandum, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer.

#### **Environmental and Social Review**

The Issuer applies two globally recognised approaches in its environmental and social risk assessment of projects and project related transactions. It is bound by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) Recommendation of the Council on Common Approaches for Officially Supported Export Credits and Environmental and Social Due Diligence (the Common Approaches).

The Issuer is a signatory to the Equator Principles, a globally recognised risk management framework used by member financial institutions to determine, assess and manage environmental and social risk in projects. The framework provides a minimum standard for due diligence and monitoring to support responsible risk decision making.

In 2022, the Australian Government amended the EFIC Act to require the Issuer to have regard to Australia's obligations under international agreements (including the Paris Agreement) and Australia's greenhouse gas emissions reduction targets.

In December 2023, the Australian Government joined the Statement on International Public Support for the Clean Energy Transition Partnership ("CETP"). The Issuer is included in the scope of these commitments, which include a commitment end new direct public support for the international unabated fossil fuel energy sector within one year of signing the CETP.

#### **Selected Financial Information**

### Financial operations

The Issuer is self-funded and operates on a commercial basis. Its sources of income include:

- Fees and risk premiums received from customers.
- Interest on loans and investments that reflect the risk the Issuer takes on by investing its cash and reserves.

For the financial year ended 30 June 2024, the Issuer generated profit from ordinary activities of A\$27.4 million; for the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Issuer generated profit from ordinary activities of A\$17.0 million; and for the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Issuer generated profit from ordinary activities of A\$12.8 million. For the financial year ended 30 June 2023, the Issuer paid normal dividends of A\$8.5 million; and for the financial year ended 30 June 2022, the Issuer paid normal dividends of A\$6.4 million. The Issuer expects that the dividend, if any, for the financial year ended 30 June 2024 will be announced in November 2024.

The following information set out in summary form is extracted from the audited financial statements of the Issuer as at 30 June 2024 and 30 June 2023 (each containing corresponding figures for the previous year, and each as incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum).

## Statement of financial position information

		Commercial Account		Nation	nal Interest A	ccount
	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022
			(A\$ m	illion)		
Assets						
Cash and cash at bank	28.3	40.7	19.0	144.2	83.2	-
Receivables from other financial institutions	534.5	850.0	641.4	0.6	96.2	2,506.5
Amounts receivable from the Commonwealth	-	-	-	77.4	60.2	-
Investment securities at amortised cost	783.2	780.3	891.7	-	-	-
Loans and receivables at amortised cost	0.1	0.1	0.1	631.9	607.7	556.9
Loans and receivables designated at fair value	4.4.50.0	4.4.4.0	4.400.0			
through profit or loss	1,168.0	1,161.0	1,100.8	1,443.6	1,161.5	-
Loans to National Interest Account designated at		502.7				
fair value through profit or loss	637.3	603.7	550.3	-		-
Derivative financial assets	48.7	29.2	23.3	1.7	2.5	-
Equity securities	-	120.0	- 1 42 2	952.3	939.6	-
Property, plant and equipment  Other financial assets	138.7	139.8	143.2	10.6	- 0.4	4.2
	22.0	16.8	19.8	10.6	8.4	4.3
Total assets	3,360.8	3,621.6	3,389.6	3,262.3	2,959.3	3,067.7
Liabilities						
Payables to other financial Institutions	-	-	-	-	-	2,511.4
Amounts payable to the Commonwealth	-	-	-	-	-	0.2
Borrowings from Commercial Account at	-					
amortised cost		-	-	639.2	603.9	552.2
Borrowings designated at fair value through profit						
or loss	2,325.0	2,557.1	2,379.3	2,461.2	2,304.1	-
Guarantees designated at fair value through profit						
or loss	12.4	11.2	8.5	9.4	10.8	-
Derivative financial liabilities	274.0	350.1	340.5	72.9	33.6	-
Sundry provisions and allowances	25.0	18.5	14.5	71.3	1.6	1.5
Other financial liabilities	108.0	87.2	59.9	8.3	5.3	2.4
Total liabilities	2,744.6	3,024.1	2,802.7	3,262.3	2,959.3	3,067.7
Net assets	616.4	597.5	586.9	-	-	-
Equity						
Contributed equity	206.0	206.0	206.0	-	-	-
Reserves	227.5	227.5	227.5	-	-	-
Retained profits	182.9	164.0	153.4			
Total equity	616.4	597.5	586.9			

## Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income information

	Commercial Account			Natio	ccount	
	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022
			(A\$ m	illion)		
Interest income	201.6	144.1	46.0	198.5	99.2	-
Other interest income	74.9	42.4	8.8	37.4	31.0	3.9
Interest expense	(247.1)	(166.1)	(40.1)	(293.7)	(195.0)	(10.7)
Net interest income	29.4	20.4	14.7	(57.8)	(64.8)	(6.8)
Fair value movement of third-party loans and	59.5			(13.8)		
guarantees		47.1	36.0		32.6	-
Fair value movement of other financial	0.5			(6.9)		
instruments		4.3	4.8		(46.5)	-
Unrealised foreign exchange gain/(loss)	(0.7)	(2.8)	(5.5)	(7.1)	4.1	1.0
Realised gain/(loss) on derivatives issued to				(4.9)	2.8	
borrowers						
Fair value movement on equity investments				(15.6)	(1.2)	
Other revenue	6.3	4.9	3.6	36.6	37.5	33.9
Operating income	95.0	73.9	53.6	(69.5)	(35.5)	28.1
Operating expenses	(53.5)	(47.6)	(33.6)	(11.9)	(11.5)	(11.5)
Expected credit loss expenses	-	-	-	(5.1)	(8.7)	(4.4)
State tax equivalent charges	(2.4)	(2.0)	(1.7)	-	-	-
Net operating income	39.1	24.3	18.3	(86.5)	(55.7)	12.2

	Commercial Account			National Interest Account		
	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022	30 June 2024	30 June 2023	30 June 2022
			(A\$ m	illion)		
Specific provision  Net rescheduled loans and debt forgiveness	-	-	-	(4.7)	(4.1)	(3.6) 0.3
Profit before tax equivalent	39.1	24.3	18.3	(91.2)	(59.8)	8.6
Income tax equivalent charge	(11.7)	(7.3)	(5.5)			
Profit from ordinary activities	27.4	17.0	12.8	(91.2)	(59.8)	8.6
National Interest Account attributable directly to the Commonwealth		_		91.2	59.8	(8.6)
Net profit available to the Commonwealth	27.4	17.0	12.8			
Other comprehensive income Items not subject to subsequent reclassification to profit or loss:						
Gain on revaluation of land and buildings	_	-	37.0	_	_	_
Total other comprehensive (loss)/income for the period			37.0			
Total comprehensive income for the period available to the Commonwealth	27.4	17.0	49.8			

### DESCRIPTION OF THE GUARANTEE

The Notes are guaranteed as to payment of principal, interest and additional amounts by the Guarantor under statute. Section 62 of the EFIC Act states, "By force of this section, the due payment by EFIC<sup>2</sup> of any money that becomes payable by EFIC to a person other than the Commonwealth is guaranteed by the Commonwealth." As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, this Guarantee has never been called.

See "Risk Factors – Risks Relating To The Guarantee".

The Issuer was established under the EFIC Act with the name Export Finance and Insurance Corporation (EFIC). Section 81 of the EFIC Act provides that it may conduct its operations under its full name, under the acronym EFIC or under the name "Export Finance Australia". It has been operating under the name Export Finance Australia since 1 July 2019.

#### **TAXATION**

The following is a general description of certain Australian and U.S. tax considerations relating to the Notes. It does not purport to be a complete analysis of all tax considerations relating to the Notes, whether in those countries or elsewhere. Prospective purchasers of Notes should consult their own tax advisers as to which countries' tax laws could be relevant to acquiring, holding and disposing of Notes and receiving payments of interest, principal and/or other amounts under the Notes and the consequences of such actions under the tax laws of those countries. This summary is based upon the law as in effect on the date of this Offering Memorandum and is subject to any change in law that may take effect after such date.

#### Australia

The following is a general description of the Australian income tax consequences at the date of this Offering Memorandum of the acquisition, ownership and disposal of the Notes for Noteholders who are non-residents of Australia and do not so deal with the Notes in connection with a permanent establishment in Australia. The comments are not exhaustive and, in particular, do not deal with the position of certain classes of Noteholders (including, without limitation, custodians). It is included herein solely for informational purposes and is not intended, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice. It does not purport to be a complete technical analysis of all potential Australian tax implications of holding the Notes. Potential Noteholders should seek their own professional advice as to the Australian tax implications in light of their own specific circumstances.

#### Section 128F

Subject to satisfaction of the requirement for an exemption from interest withholding tax under section 128F of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (the "**Tax Act**") of the Commonwealth of Australia, a Noteholder who is a non-resident of Australia within the meaning of the Tax Act and who does not acquire or hold the Notes in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia and who has acquired the Notes outside Australia will not incur any Australian tax in respect of any payments of interest (as the meaning of that term is extended by section 128A(1AB) of the Tax Act) under the Notes.

If the requirements for an exemption from interest withholding tax under section 128F of the Tax Act are not satisfied, interest withholding tax would be payable at the rate of 10 per cent. on any payment of interest to a non-resident (as defined in the Tax Act) made under the Notes unless held in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment of the non-resident in Australia and on any payment of interest made under the Notes to any resident (as defined in the Tax Act) holding the Notes in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment outside of Australia, unless another exemption (such as under a relevant double taxation agreement) was available.

In summary, the withholding tax exemption in section 128F of the Tax Act will apply in respect of Notes issued by the Issuer if:

- (a) the Issuer is a resident of Australia within the meaning of the Tax Act when it issues the Notes;
- (b) the Issuer is a resident of Australia within the meaning of the Tax Act when interest is paid on the Notes; and
- (c) the issue of the Notes satisfies the public offer test.

These requirements are discussed further below.

### Public Offer Test

There are five primary methods in which the public offer test may be satisfied. Only one of the methods would need to be satisfied in respect of the Notes in order for the Notes to qualify for the section 128F exemption.

Broadly, the public offer test will be satisfied if the issue of the Note resulted from the Note being offered for issue:

(a) to at least 10 persons each of whom:

- (i) was carrying on a business of providing finance, or investing or dealing in securities, in the course of operating in financial markets; and
- (ii) was not known, or suspected, by the Issuer to be an associate (as defined in section 128F(9) of the Tax Act) of any of the other persons covered by this paragraph (a); or
- (b) to at least 100 persons whom it was reasonable for the Issuer to have regarded as either:
  - (i) having acquired debentures or notes in the past; or
  - (ii) being likely to be interested in acquiring debentures or notes; or
- (c) as a result of being accepted for listing on a stock exchange, where the Issuer had previously entered into an agreement with a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of Notes, requiring the company to seek such listing; or
- (d) as a result of negotiations being initiated publicly in electronic form, or in another form, that was used by financial markets for dealing in debentures; or
- (e) to a dealer, manager or underwriter, in relation to the placement of the Notes, who, under an agreement with the Issuer, offered the Note for sale within 30 days in a way covered by any of paragraphs (a) to (d) above.

In respect of a Note issued in global form, the issue of the Note also will satisfy the public offer test if, broadly:

- (a) it describes itself as a global bond or a global note; and
- (b) it is issued to a clearing house or to a person as trustee or agent for, or otherwise on behalf of, one or more clearing houses; and
- (c) in connection with the issue, the clearing house or houses:
  - (i) confer rights in relation to the Note on other persons; and
  - (ii) record the existence of the rights; and
- (d) before the issue:
  - (i) the Issuer; or
  - (ii) a dealer, manager or underwriter, in relation to the placement of the Notes, on behalf of the Issuer:

announces that, as a result of the issue, such rights will be able to be created; and

- (e) the announcement is made in a way or ways covered by any of paragraphs (a) to (e) above (reading a reference in those paragraphs to "Note" and "debentures or notes" as if it were a reference to such a right, and a reference to "the Issuer" as if it included a reference to the dealer, manager or underwriter); and
- (f) under the terms of the Note, interests in the Note are able to be surrendered, whether or not in particular circumstances, in exchange for other Notes issued by the Issuer that are not themselves global notes.

The public offer test will not be treated as having been satisfied in any case where, at the time of the issue, the Issuer knew, or had reasonable grounds to suspect, that the Note, or an interest in the Note, was being, or would be, acquired either directly or indirectly by an associate (as defined in section 128F(9) of the Tax Act) of the Issuer, other than an onshore associate and/or an associate who acquires the Note in acting as a dealer, manager or underwriter in relation to the placement of the Note or as a clearing house, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme.

Onshore associates are those associates that are either:

- (a) a resident of Australia (as defined in the Tax Act) who did not acquire the Note in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia; or
- (b) a non-resident who acquired the Note in carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia.

In addition, the section 128F exemption will not apply to a payment of interest or an amount in the nature of interest made to an associate (as defined in section 128F(9) of the Tax Act) of the Issuer if, at the time of payment, the Issuer knows, or has reasonable grounds to suspect that the recipient is such an associate. The following associates are excluded:

- (a) residents of Australia who do not receive a payment in respect of a Note that the associate acquired in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment outside Australia; or
- (b) a non-resident that receives a payment in respect of a Note acquired in carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia; or
- (c) associates acting in the capacity of a clearing house, paying agent, custodian, funds manager or responsible entity of a registered scheme.

Although it depends on the Pricing Supplement of the Notes:

- (d) returns on Notes bearing fixed or floating interest should be interest; and
- (e) although not without doubt, it is likely that returns on other forms of Notes will be interest, for the purposes of the interest withholding tax provisions.

There are also specific rules that can apply to treat a portion of the purchase price of Notes as interest for interest withholding tax purposes if the Notes are part of a washing arrangement, were originally issued at a discount, have a maturity premium or if they do not pay interest at least annually and they are acquired by an Australian resident Noteholder (not carrying on business through a permanent establishment outside of Australia) or non-resident Noteholder carrying on a business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia. The rules do not apply if the deemed interest would have been exempt under section 128F of the Tax Act if the Notes had been held to maturity by a non-resident.

For completeness, we note that even if the public offer test in section 128F is not satisfied, an exemption from Australian interest withholding tax may still apply to certain Noteholders (see below) under the current double tax agreements between Australia and a number of other countries (each a "**Specified Country**").

The exemption applies in respect of payments of interest arising in Australia to residents of the Specified Countries who are either:

- (a) governments and certain governmental authorities and agencies in that country; or
- (b) certain financial institutions, being a bank or other enterprise that substantially derives their profits by carrying on a business of raising and providing finance.

Each of these double tax agreements contains anti-avoidance rules, including rules which will negate the exemption in respect of back-to-back loans and economically equivalent arrangements.

The Australian Federal Treasury maintains a listing of Australia's double tax conventions which provides details of the relevant country and status of the agreement on its website.

We note that the above exemption will not be relevant if (as is currently expected) the public offer test in section 128F is satisfied.

Noteholders should obtain advice from an appropriately qualified adviser as to whether any exemption from Australian interest withholding tax will be applicable to them.

### Bearer Debenture Tax

If a Note may be regarded as a debenture payable to bearer, the Issuer may be subject to bearer debenture tax under section 126 of the Tax Act at the rate of 45 per cent. on any amount of interest payable on the

Note unless the Issuer supplies the name and address of the holder of the Note to the Australian Taxation Office (the "ATO"). In these circumstances the Issuer may under section 126 of the Tax Act deduct the amount of bearer debenture tax from the amount of the payment. This liability will not arise if interest on the Note is subject to withholding tax or the holder is a non-resident and is not carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia and section 128F of the Tax Act applies to the interest. Consequently, section 126 of the Tax Act should only apply to persons or entities in possession of bearer notes who are residents of Australia or non-residents who are engaged in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia.

The ATO is of the view that the holder of a debenture for the purposes of section 126(e) of the Tax Act is the person or entity in possession of the debenture and that this is the person or entity to whom the Issuer makes the payment of interest.

Where interests in the relevant Notes are held by persons through Euroclear and/or Clearstream, Luxembourg, the Issuer intends to treat Citibank, N.A., London Branch as the common depository of those systems as the holder of the relevant Notes for the purpose of section 126 of the Tax Act and also intends to issue Notes in a manner that satisfies the requirements of section 128F.

In the case of a definitive note that is a bearer note, the bearer debenture tax provisions may apply where the holder is a resident of Australia or a non-resident of Australia carrying on business at or through a permanent establishment in Australia, unless the Issuer is able to provide the name and address of the holder.

#### Disposal of a Note or interest in a Note

A gain on the sale of a Note or an interest in a Note by a Noteholder who is not a resident of Australia and who does not carry on business in Australia should not result in the assessment of Australian tax provided that the gain from the sale does not have a source in Australia and the Note was not used by the holder in carrying on business in Australia at or through a permanent establishment in Australia at any time. A gain arising on the sale of a Note by a non-resident holder to another non-resident where the Note is sold outside Australia and all negotiations and documentation are conducted and executed outside Australia should not be regarded as having an Australian source.

#### **United States of America**

### Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations

The following discussion is a summary based upon present law of certain U.S. federal income tax considerations for prospective purchasers of Notes. This discussion addresses only U.S. Holders (as defined below) who purchase Notes in an original offering at their initial offering price that hold such Notes as capital assets (generally, property held for investment) and use the U.S. dollar as their functional currency. This discussion does not address the tax treatment of prospective purchasers subject to special rules, such as financial institutions, insurance companies, tax-exempt entities, dealers in securities or foreign currencies, traders in securities that elect to mark to market, prospective purchasers liable for an alternative minimum tax, individual retirement accounts and other tax-deferred accounts, regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, persons holding the Notes as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion, or other integrated financial transaction, or persons required for U.S. federal income tax purposes to accelerate the recognition of any item of gross income with respect to the Notes as a result of such income being recognised on an applicable financial statement. This disclosure does not address Bearer Notes, which generally may not be offered or sold in the United States or to U.S. persons. This section does not address Notes that are due to mature more than 30 years from the date on which they are issued. This summary does not address U.S. federal estate and gift, U.S. state and local or non-U.S tax law or the Medicare contribution tax on net investment income.

For purposes of this discussion, a "U.S. Holder" is a beneficial owner of a Note that is for U.S. federal income tax purposes (i) a citizen or individual resident of the United States, (ii) a corporation, organised in or under the laws of the United States, any state thereof or the District of Columbia or (iii) an estate or trust the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source.

The U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner in an entity or arrangement classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and that invests in Notes will depend on the status of the partner and

the activities of the partnership. Partnerships considering an investment in Notes are urged to consult their own tax advisers regarding the specific tax consequences of purchasing, owning and disposing of such Notes

#### Characterisation of the Notes

The Issuer expects that the Notes generally should be characterised as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The tax characterisation of Notes in any particular Series will depend, however, on their terms and it is possible that certain Notes may not be characterised as debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes. While this discussion is generally limited to Notes that are debt for U.S. federal income tax purposes, U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisers as to the proper tax characterisation of the Notes.

#### Interest

#### General

Interest paid on a Note will be taxable to a U.S. Holder as foreign source ordinary interest income at the time it accrues or is received in accordance with the U.S. Holder's method of accounting for U.S. federal income tax purposes, provided that the interest is "qualified stated interest" (as defined below under "Original Issue Discount"). Special rules governing the treatment of interest paid with respect to original issue discount notes, contingent debt obligations and foreign currency notes are described under "Foreign Currency Notes."

#### Pre-Issuance Accrued Interest

If a portion of the price paid for a Note is allocable to interest that accrued prior to the date the Note is issued ("**pre-issuance accrued interest**"), the Issuer intends to take the position that, on the first interest payment date, a portion of the interest received in an amount equal to any pre-issuance accrued interest will be treated as a return of the pre-issuance accrued interest and not as a payment of interest on the Note. Amounts treated as a return of pre-issuance accrued interest should not be taxable when received. The remainder of this discussion does not address the treatment of pre-issuance accrued interest and assumes that in determining the issue price of a Note and the amount paid for a Note, there will be excluded an amount equal to the pre-issuance accrued interest. U.S. Holders should consult their tax advisers with regard to the tax treatment of the pre-issuance accrued interest on a Note.

### Original Issue Discount

A Series of Notes may be issued with original issue discount ("**OID**") for U.S. federal income tax purposes. A Note will be issued with OID to the extent that the Note's "stated redemption price at maturity" exceeds its "issue price" by more than a *de minimis* amount. A Note generally will not be considered to have OID if such excess is less than 1/4 of 1 per cent. of the Note's stated redemption price at maturity multiplied by the number of complete years to maturity from the issue date (or by the weighted average maturity of the Notes for installment notes), as determined for the purposes of the OID rules.

The issue price of a Note is the initial offering price at which a substantial amount of the Notes are sold (excluding sales to underwriters, brokers or similar persons acting in their capacity as such) for cash. The stated redemption price at maturity of a Note is the total of all payments on the Note other than payments of "qualified stated interest". Qualified stated interest means, in general, stated interest that is payable unconditionally in cash or in property at least annually at a single fixed rate or at certain floating rates that appropriately takes into account the length of the interval between stated interest payments.

A U.S. Holder of a Note issued with OID and having a maturity in excess of one year must include OID in income over the term of the Note. An initial U.S. Holder generally must include in gross income the sum of the daily portions of OID that accrue on the Note for each day during the taxable year in which such U.S. Holder held the Note.

The amount of OID accruing during an accrual period is determined by using a constant yield to maturity method. For any accrual period, the OID allocable to the accrual period is the excess of (i) the product of the Note's adjusted issue price at the beginning of the accrual period and its yield to maturity (determined on the basis of compounding at the close of each accrual period and appropriately adjusted for the length of the accrual period) over (ii) the sum of any qualified stated interest payments allocable to the accrual period. A Note's adjusted issue price generally equals the issue price of the Note increased by the aggregate

amount of OID accrued on the Note in all prior accrual periods (determined without regard to the amortisation of any acquisition premium or bond premium, as discussed below) and reduced by the amount of all payments previously received on the Note other than payments of qualified stated interest.

A U.S. Holder may elect to treat all interest on a Note as OID applying the constant yield method described above to accrue such interest, with the modifications described below. For purposes of this election, interest includes stated interest, OID, *de minimis* OID, acquisition discount, market discount, *de minimis* market discount and unstated interest, as adjusted by any amortisable bond premium or acquisition premium. If a U.S. Holder makes this election, it will apply only to the Note with respect to which it is made and the U.S. Holder may not revoke it without the consent of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service ("**IRS**"). A U.S. Holder making this election with respect to a Note with bond premium will be deemed to have made the elections (discussed below in "*Acquisition Premium and Bond Premium*") to amortise bond premium currently with respect to all debt instruments with bond premium held or acquired by such U.S. Holder as of the beginning of that taxable year.

The Issuer may have an unconditional option to redeem, or U.S. Holders may have an unconditional option to require the Issuer to redeem, a Note prior to its stated maturity date. Under applicable U.S. Treasury regulations, if the Issuer has an unconditional option to redeem a Note prior to its stated maturity date, this option generally will be presumed to be exercised if, by utilising any date on which the Note may be redeemed as the maturity date and the amount payable on that date in accordance with the terms of the Note as the stated redemption price at maturity, the yield on the Note would be lower than its yield to maturity. If the U.S. Holders have an unconditional option to require the Issuer to redeem a Note prior to its stated maturity date, this option generally will be presumed to be exercised if, making the same assumptions as those set forth in the previous sentence, the yield on the Note would be higher than its yield to maturity. If it was presumed that an option would be exercised but it is not in fact exercised, the Note would be treated solely for purposes of calculating OID as if it were redeemed, and a new Note were issued, on the presumed exercise date for an amount equal to the Note's adjusted issue price on that date. The adjusted issue price of a Note issued with OID is defined as the sum of the issue price of the Note and the aggregate amount of previously accrued OID, less any prior payments other than payments of qualified stated interest.

#### Short-Term Notes

A U.S. Holder of a Note with a maturity of one year or less (a "Short-Term Note") will be subject to special rules.

The OID rules do not treat interest payments on a Short-Term Note as qualified stated interest, but instead treat a Short-Term Note as having OID determined by including any stated interest payments in a Short-Term Note's stated redemption price at maturity. Except as noted below, a cash-basis U.S. Holder of a Short-Term Note generally will not be required to accrue OID currently, but will be required to treat any gain realised on a sale or other disposition of a Short-Term Note as ordinary income to the extent such gain or loss does not exceed the OID accrued with respect to the Short-Term Note during the period the U.S. Holder held it. U.S. Holders that account for income on an accrual method (and U.S. Holders that account for income on the cash method and that elect to do so) will include OID on a Short-Term Note in income on a current basis.

A U.S. Holder will accrue OID on a Short-Term Note on a straight-line method unless it elects a constant yield method. If a U.S. Holder makes this election, it will apply only to the Short-Term Note with respect to which it is made, and the U.S. Holder may not revoke it. Furthermore, unless a U.S. Holder elects to include OID into income on a current basis as described above, a U.S. Holder of a Short-Term Note having OID may be required to defer the deduction of all or a portion of the interest expense on any debt incurred or maintained to purchase or carry such Short-Term Note.

#### Market Discount

If a U.S. Holder purchases a Note (other than a Short-Term Note) for an amount that is less than its stated redemption price at maturity or, in the case of a Note issued with OID, its adjusted issue price, the amount of the difference will be treated as market discount for U.S. federal income tax purposes, unless this difference is less than a specified *de minimis* amount.

A U.S. Holder may elect to report accrued market discount as income annually over the term of the Note. If a U.S. Holder makes this election, it will apply to all debt instruments with market discount that the

electing U.S. Holder holds or acquires as of the beginning of that taxable year. A U.S. Holder may not revoke this election without the consent of the IRS. If a U.S. Holder does not make the election it will treat gain that it recognises on the sale or other disposition of a Note as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount accrued while such U.S. Holder held the Note.

A U.S. Holder will accrue market discount on a Note on a straight-line method unless it elects a constantyield method. If a U.S. Holder makes this election, it will apply only to the Note with respect to which it is made and the U.S. Holder may not revoke it.

Furthermore, unless a U.S. Holder elects to include market discount in income on a current basis as described above, a U.S. Holder of a Note having market discount may be required to defer the deduction of all or a portion of the interest expense on any debt incurred or maintained to purchase or carry such Note.

### Acqusition Premium and Bond Premium

A U.S. Holder who purchases a Note for an amount that is greater than the Note's adjusted issue price but less than or equal to sum of all amounts payable on the Note after the purchase date other than payments of qualified stated interest will be considered to have purchased the Note at an acquisition premium. Under the acquisition premium rules, the amount of OID that the U.S. Holder must include in its gross income with respect to the Note for any taxable year will be reduced by the portion of acquisition premium properly allocable to that year.

A U.S. Holder that has a tax basis in a Note that is greater than its principal amount may elect to treat the excess as amortisable bond premium. If a U.S. Holder makes this election, it will reduce the amount required to be included in income each year with respect to interest on the Note by the amount of amortisable bond premium allocable to that year. If a U.S. Holder makes an election to amortise bond premium, the election will apply to all the debt instruments with bond premium that the electing U.S. Holder holds or acquires as of the beginning of that taxable year. A U.S. Holder may not revoke this election without the consent of the IRS.

If a Note can be optionally redeemed after the U.S. Holder acquires it at a price in excess of its principal amount, special rules would apply that could result in a deferral of the amortisation of some bond premium until later in the term of the Note.

With respect to a U.S. Holder that does not elect to amortise bond premium, the amount of bond premium constitutes a capital loss when the bond matures.

Special rules apply to Notes issued with OID that are purchased at a premium.

#### **Contingent Debt Obligations**

If the terms of the Notes provide for certain contingencies that affect the timing and amount of payments that are neither remote nor incidental, they generally will be "Contingent Debt Obligations" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Special rules govern the tax treatment of Contingent Debt Obligations. These rules generally require a U.S. Holder to treat all interest as OID and to accrue OID at a rate equal to the comparable yield on a non-contingent fixed rate debt instrument of the Issuer with similar terms and conditions and a projected payment schedule that produces such comparable yield. The amount of OID will then be allocated on a ratable basis to each day in the period that the U.S. Holder holds the Contingent Debt Obligation. The OID would be ordinary income from sources outside of the United States.

If the actual payments made on a Contingent Debt Obligation in a year differ from the projected contingent payments, U.S. Holders will recognise additional interest income or ordinary loss (after offsetting and reducing OID for such periods). Ordinary loss is recognised only to the extent of OID accrued in prior years, with any further excess being carried forward to offset OID accruals in future taxable years or as a reduction in the amount realised upon sale maturity or other disposition of the Contingent Debt Obligation. U.S. Holders therefore might be required to recognise income greater or less than the interest and other cash payments on the Contingent Debt Obligations.

Gain on the sale or other disposition of a Contingent Debt Obligation generally will be treated as foreign source ordinary income. Loss will be treated as ordinary loss to the extent of prior net interest inclusions and capital loss to the extent of any excess. Loss generally would be treated as arising from foreign sources. The comparable yield may be greater than or less than the stated interest, if any, with respect to the Notes.

The comparable yield does not constitute a representation by the Issuer regarding the actual amount, if any, that the Contingent Debt Obligation will pay. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisers concerning the application of these special rules.

#### Disposition of the Notes

A U.S. Holder generally will recognise U.S. source capital gain or loss upon a sale or other taxable disposition of a Note in an amount equal to the difference between the amount realised from such disposition (less any accrued but unpaid qualified stated interest, which will be taxable as interest to the extent not previously included in income) and the U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in the Note. Gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of the Note by a U.S. Holder generally will be long-term capital gain or loss if the Note has been held for more than a year. Special rules apply to gains or losses on Contingent Debt Obligations as described above.

A U.S. Holder's adjusted tax basis in a Note generally will equal the U.S. Holder's cost of the Note, increased by any accrued market discount or OID included in income and decreased by the amount of any amortised bond premium or payment other than qualified stated interest received with respect to the Note.

### Reference Rate Transition

The treatment of a transition to an alternative reference rate for U.S. federal income tax purposes is not entirely clear. It is possible that such a transition with respect to the Notes could be treated as a deemed exchange that is taxable to U.S. Holders of such Notes. Prospective investors are urged to consult with their tax advisers regarding the potential consequences of a transition to an alternative reference rate.

### Foreign Currency Notes

The following discussion summarises certain U.S. federal income tax consequences to a U.S. Holder of the ownership and disposition of a Note that is denominated in a specified currency other than the U.S. dollar or the payments of interest or principal on which are determined by reference to a currency other than the U.S. dollar (a "foreign currency Note"). The rules applicable to foreign currency Notes are complex and may depend on the U.S. Holder's particular U.S. federal income tax situation. For example, various elections are available under these rules, and whether a U.S. Holder should make any of these elections may depend on the U.S. Holder's particular U.S. federal income tax situation. U.S. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisers regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership and disposition of a foreign currency Note.

#### Interest

If an interest payment is denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, the amount of income recognised by a cash method U.S. Holder will be the U.S. dollar value of the interest payment, based on the exchange rate in effect on the date of receipt, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

An accrual method U.S. Holder may determine the amount of income recognised with respect to an interest payment denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency in accordance with either of two methods. Under the first method, the amount of income accrued will be based on the average exchange rate in effect during the interest accrual period (or, in the case of an accrual period that spans two taxable years of a U.S. Holder, the part of the period within the relevant taxable year).

Under the second method, the U.S. Holder may elect to determine the amount of income accrued on the basis of the exchange rate in effect on the last day of the accrual period (or, in the case of an accrual period that spans two taxable years, the exchange rate in effect on the last day of the part of the period within the taxable year). Additionally, if a payment of interest is actually received within five business days of the last day of the accrual period, an electing accrual method U.S. Holder may instead translate the accrued interest into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect on the day of actual receipt. Any such election will apply to all debt instruments held by the U.S. Holder at the beginning of the first taxable year to which the election applies or thereafter acquired by the U.S. Holder, and will be irrevocable without the consent of the IRS.

Upon receipt of an interest payment (including a payment attributable to accrued but unpaid interest upon the sale or retirement of a Note) denominated in, or determined by reference to, a foreign currency, the U.S. Holder generally will recognise U.S. source exchange gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss)

equal to the difference between the amount received (translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on the date of receipt) and the amount previously accrued, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars.

#### OID, Market Discount, Acquisition Premium and Amortisable Bond Premium

OID, market discount, acquisition premium and amortisable bond premium on a foreign currency Note are to be determined in the relevant foreign currency. Where a U.S. Holder elects to include market discount in income currently, the amount of market discount will be determined for any accrual period in the relevant foreign currency and then translated into U.S. dollars on the basis of the average rate in effect during the accrual period. Exchange gain or loss realised with respect to such accrued market discount shall be determined in accordance with the rules relating to accrued interest described above. Accrued market discount (other than market discount currently included in income) taken into account upon the receipt of any partial principal payment or upon the sale, retirement or other disposition of a foreign currency Note is translated into U.S. dollars at the spot rate on such payment or disposition date.

If an election to amortise bond premium is made, amortisable bond premium taken into account on a current basis will reduce interest income in units of the relevant foreign currency. Exchange gain or loss is realised on amortised bond premium with respect to any period by treating the bond premium amortised in the period in the same manner as payments on the sale, exchange or retirement of the foreign currency Note, as described below. Any exchange gain or loss will be ordinary income or loss as described below. If the election is not made, any loss realised on the sale, exchange or retirement of a foreign currency Note with amortisable bond premium by a U.S. Holder who has not elected to amortise the premium will be a capital loss to the extent of the bond premium.

#### Sale or Retirement

As discussed above under "Disposition of the Notes", a U.S. Holder will generally recognise gain or loss on the sale or other taxable disposition of a Note equal to the difference between the U.S. dollar amount realised on the sale or retirement and its U.S. dollar tax basis in the Note. U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisers regarding the determination of their U.S. dollar amount realised and tax basis.

A U.S. Holder will recognise U.S. source exchange rate gain or loss (taxable as ordinary income or loss) on the sale or retirement of a Note equal to the difference, if any, between the U.S. dollar values of the U.S. Holder's foreign currency purchase price for the Note (or, if less, the principal amount of the Note) on (i) the date of sale or retirement and (ii) the date on which the U.S. Holder acquired the Note. Any such exchange rate gain or loss will be realised only to the extent of total gain or loss realised on the sale or retirement. Any gain or loss realised by the U.S. Holder in excess of the foreign currency gain or loss will be capital gain or loss except to the extent of any accrued market discount or, in the case of a Short-Term Note, to the extent of any discount not previously included in the U.S. Holder's income provided that the Note is not a foreign currency denominated Contingent Debt Obligation.

### Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

Information returns may be filed with the IRS in connection with payments of principal and interest in respect of, and the proceeds from sales of, Notes held by a U.S. Holder unless the U.S. Holder establishes, if required, that it is exempt from the information reporting rules, for example by properly establishing that it is a corporation. If the U.S. Holder does not establish that it is exempt from these rules, the U.S. Holder may be subject to backup withholding on these payments if it fails to provide a taxpayer identification number or otherwise comply with the backup withholding rules. The amount of any backup withholding from a payment to a U.S. Holder will be allowed as a credit against the U.S. Holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle the U.S. Holder to a refund, provided that the required information is timely furnished to the IRS.

U.S. Holders should consult their advisers regarding any additional tax reporting or filing requirements they may have as a result of the acquisition, ownership or disposition of the Notes. Failure to comply with certain reporting obligations could result in the imposition of substantial penalties.

#### CERTAIN ERISA CONSIDERATIONS

The U.S. Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended ("**ERISA**"), and Section 4975 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "**Code**") impose fiduciary and prohibited transaction restrictions on the activities of (i) "employee benefit plans" within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA that are subject to Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA, (ii) a "plan" as defined in and subject to Section 4975 of the Code and (iii) any person or entity whose underlying assets include "plan assets" by reason of an investment in the person or entity by an employee benefit plan or plan described in clause (i) or (ii) under the U.S. Department of Labor regulation at 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, as modified by Section 3(42) of ERISA, or otherwise for the purposes of Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code(each of (i)-(iii) referred to as a "**Benefit Plan Investor**").

Governmental plans (as defined in Section 3(32) of ERISA), non-U.S. plans (as described in Section 4(b)(4) of ERISA) and certain church plans (as defined in Section 3(33) of ERISA), while not subject to Part 4 of Subtitle B of Title I of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, may be subject to applicable laws similar to such provisions of law ("Similar Law"). The Issuer, the Arrangers, the Dealers, the Guarantor, the Agents or any of their affiliates (collectively, the "Transaction Parties") may be "parties in interest" (as defined in Section 3(14) of ERISA) or "disqualified persons" (as defined in Section 4975(e)(2) of the Code) as to certain Benefit Plan Investors. Thus, the acquisition or holding of Notes by or on behalf of a Benefit Plan Investor may constitute or result in a prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code unless an exemption applies. Fiduciaries and other persons involved in a non-exempt prohibited transaction may be subject to penalties and other liabilities under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, and the prohibited transaction may need to be rescinded or corrected.

Certain exemptions may apply to provide relief from the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code in connection with the acquisition or holding of Notes, including, but not limited to: Prohibited Transaction Class Exemption ("PTCE") 84-14 (applicable to a "qualified professional asset manager"); PTCE 90-1 (applicable to insurance company separate accounts); PTCE 91-38 (applicable to bank collective investment funds); PTCE 95-60 (applicable to insurance company general accounts); and PTCE 96-23 (applicable to an "in-house asset manager"). In addition, Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA and Section 4975(d)(20) of the Code generally exempt certain transactions with a person that is a party in interest or disqualified person to a Benefit Plan Investor solely by reason of it or its affiliate providing services to the Benefit Plan Investor and such services are not in a fiduciary capacity within the meaning of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code in connection with the investment of "plan assets" of the Benefit Plan Investor involved in the transaction, and the Benefit Plan Investor pays no more than, and receives no less than, "adequate consideration" in connection with the transaction.

There can be no assurance that any exemption will apply to the acquisition or holding, or subsequent transfer or other disposition of Notes by any particular Benefit Plan Investor or, even if all of the conditions specified therein were satisfied, that the exemption would apply to all prohibited transactions that may occur in connection with such investment. Each Benefit Plan Investor and its fiduciary acting on its behalf shall be solely responsible for determining whether any prohibited transaction exemptions apply and provide full relief to the acquisition and holding of Notes by the Benefit Plan Investor.

Each purchaser or transferee of any interest in the Notes will be deemed to have represented by its acquisition of any interest in the Notes that either (i) it is not and is not acting on behalf of a Benefit Plan Investor or a governmental, non-U.S. or church plan subject to Similar Law or (ii) its purchase and holding of the Notes or an interest therein will not result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or a violation of applicable Similar Law or subject the Issuer's assets to Section 404 or 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any Similar Law.

Each of the Transaction Parties has its own interests in the offering and sale of Notes and related transactions, which differ from the interests of any Benefit Plan Investor considering the acquisition or holding of Notes, and such financial interests are disclosed in this Offering Memorandum. Any person that, for any direct or indirect compensation, makes a suggestion, directly or indirectly, to engage in or refrain from a particular action in connection with the acquisition or holding of a Note by any Benefit Plan Investor might be rendering "investment advice" so as to become a fiduciary to the Benefit Plan Investor.

In this regard, each purchaser or transferee of any interest in the Notes that is a Benefit Plan Investor will be deemed to have represented by its acquisition of any interest in the Notes that (i) none of the Transaction Parties has provided any investment recommendation or investment advice to the Benefit Plan Investor or any fiduciary or other person investing on behalf of the Benefit Plan Investor or who otherwise has discretion or control over the investment and management of "plan assets" (a "Plan Fiduciary"), on which either the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary has relied in connection with the decision to acquire any interest in the Notes, (ii) none of the Transaction Parties is acting as a "fiduciary" within the meaning of Section 3(21) of ERISA or Section 4975(e)(3) of the Code to the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary in connection with the Benefit Plan Investor's acquisition of any interest in the Notes and (iii) the Plan Fiduciary is exercising its own independent judgment in evaluating the transaction. Any Plan Fiduciary or any fiduciary or representative of a plan or arrangement that is subject to Similar Law that proposes to acquire or hold Notes on behalf of or with assets of a Benefit Plan Investor or other plan or arrangement is encouraged to consult with its counsel regarding the application of the fiduciary responsibility and the prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, or in the case of such other plans or arrangements, the applicability of Similar Law before making the proposed investment.

The sale of Notes to a Benefit Plan Investor is in no respect a representation by the Issuer that such an investment meets all relevant legal requirements with respect to investments by Benefit Plan Investors generally or any particular Benefit Plan Investor, or that such an investment is appropriate for Benefit Plan Investors generally or any particular Benefit Plan Investor.

#### SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE

Notes may be sold from time to time by the Issuer to any one or more of Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Commonwealth Bank of Australia and UBS AG London Branch (the "Arrangers", and together with any further dealers appointed from time-to-time, the "Dealers"). The arrangements under which Notes may from time to time be agreed to be sold by the Issuer to, and subscribed by, Dealers are set out in a Dealer Agreement dated 9 October 2024 (the "Dealer Agreement") and made between the Issuer and the Dealers. If in the case of any Tranche of Notes the method of distribution is an agreement between the Issuer and a single Dealer for that Tranche to be issued by the Issuer and subscribed by that Dealer, the method of distribution will be described in the applicable Pricing Supplement as "Non-Syndicated" and the name of that Dealer and any other interest of that Dealer which is material to the issue of that Tranche beyond the fact of the appointment of that Dealer will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. If in the case of any Tranche of Notes the method of distribution is an agreement between the Issuer and more than one Dealer for that Tranche to be issued by the Issuer and subscribed by those Dealers, the method of distribution will be described in the applicable Pricing Supplement as "Syndicated", the obligations of those Dealers to subscribe the relevant Notes will be joint and several and the names and addresses of those Dealers and any other interests of any of those Dealers which is material to the issue of that Tranche beyond the fact of the appointment of those Dealers (including whether any of those Dealers has also been appointed to act as Stabilisation Manager in relation to that Tranche) will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement.

Any such agreement will, among other things, make provision for the form and terms and conditions of the relevant Notes, the price at which such Notes will be subscribed by the Dealer(s) and the commissions or other agreed deductibles (if any) payable or allowable by the Issuer in respect of such subscription. The Dealer Agreement makes provision for the resignation or termination of appointment of existing Dealers and for the appointment of additional or other Dealers either generally in respect of the Programme or in relation to a particular Tranche of Notes. Each new Dealer so appointed will be required to represent, warrant and undertake to the following selling restrictions as part of its appointment.

The relevant Dealers will be entitled in certain circumstances to be released and discharged from their obligations in respect of a proposed issue of Notes under or pursuant to the Dealer Agreement prior to the closing of the issue of such Notes, including in the event that certain conditions precedent are not delivered or met to their satisfaction on or before the issue date of such Notes. In this situation, the issuance of such Notes may not be completed. Investors will have no rights against the Issuer or the relevant Dealers in respect of any expense incurred or loss suffered in these circumstances.

**United States of America**: Regulation S Category 2; TEFRA D or TEFRA C as specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement or neither if TEFRA is specified as not applicable in the relevant Pricing Supplement.

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and Bearer Notes are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, Notes may not be offered or sold within the United States or to U.S. persons. Each of the Dealers has agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to agree, that, except as permitted by the Dealer Agreement, it will not offer, sell or in the case of Bearer Notes deliver the Notes within the United States or to U.S. persons. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of any offering, an offer or sale of Notes from that offering within the United States by any dealer whether or not participating in the offering may violate the registration requirements of the Securities Act if such offer or sale is made otherwise than in accordance with Rule 144A or another exemption from registration under the Securities Act.

Notes in bearer form are subject to U.S. tax law requirements and may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions or to a U.S. person, except in certain transactions permitted by U.S. tax regulations. Terms used in this paragraph have the meanings given to them by the United States Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and the regulations thereunder.

- (A) Where the TEFRA D Rules are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable in relation to any Tranche of Notes, each Dealer will be required to represent, undertake and agree (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, undertake and agree) that:
  - (i) except to the extent permitted under the TEFRA D Rules,

- (a) it has not offered or sold, and during the restricted period will not offer or sell, any Notes to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States. Person; and
- (b) it has not delivered and will not deliver in definitive form within the United States or its possessions any Notes sold during the restricted period,
- (ii) it has, and throughout the restricted period will have, in effect procedures reasonably designed to ensure that its employees or agents who are directly engaged in selling Notes are aware that the Notes may not be offered or sold during the restricted period to a person who is within the United States or its possessions or to a United States person, except as permitted by the TEFRA D Rules;
- (iii) if it is a United States person, it is acquiring the Notes for the purposes of resale in connection with their original issuance and, if it retains Notes for its own account, it will only do so in accordance with the requirements of United States Treasury Regulation §1.163-5(c)(2)(i)(D)(6) (or successor provisions);
- (iv) with respect to each Affiliate of such Dealer that acquires Notes from such Dealer for the purpose of offering or selling such Notes during the restricted period, such Dealer undertakes to the Issuer that it will obtain from such Affiliate for the benefit of the Issuer the representations, warranties and undertakings contained in sub-clauses (i), (ii), (iii), above this sub-clause (iv), and sub-clause (v), below; and
- (v) it will obtain for the benefit of the Issuer the representations, warranties and undertakings contained in sub-clauses (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) above and this sub-clause (v); from any person other than an Affiliate of such Dealer with whom such Dealer enters into a written contract for the purpose of offering or selling the Notes during the restricted period.
- (B) Where the TEFRA C Rules are specified in the relevant Pricing Supplement as being applicable in relation to any Tranche of Notes, the Notes must, in accordance with their original issuance, be issued and delivered outside the United States and its possessions and, accordingly, each Dealer has represented, warranted and undertaken (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and undertake) to the Issuer that, in connection with the original issuance of the Notes:
  - (i) it has not offered, sold or delivered, and will not offer, sell or deliver, directly or indirectly, any Notes within the United States or its possessions; and
  - (ii) it has not communicated, and will not communicate, directly or indirectly, with a prospective purchaser if such Dealer or such prospective purchaser is within the United States or its possessions and will not otherwise involve the United States office of such Dealer in the offer and sale of Notes.

Terms used in sub-clauses (A) and (B) have the meanings given to them by the Code and the regulations thereunder, including the TEFRA C Rules and the TEFRA D Rules.

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed, and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that neither it, its affiliates nor any persons acting on its or their behalf has engaged or will engage in any form of directed selling efforts (as defined in Regulation S) with respect to the Notes and it and they have complied and will comply with the offering restrictions requirements of Regulation S. The Notes are being offered and sold outside of the United States only to non-U.S. persons in reliance on Regulation S. Each Dealer will be required to further agree, that it will send to each dealer to which it sells any Regulation S Notes during the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S) a confirmation or other notice setting forth the restrictions on offers and sales of the Regulation S Notes within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons.

Each Dealer may only, through its respective U.S. broker-dealer affiliates, arrange for the offer and resale of the Rule 144A Notes within the United States only to QIBs that are QPs in accordance with Rule 144A.

Each Dealer has represented, warranted and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent, warrant and agree, that it has offered and sold and will offer and sell Notes in

the United States only to persons whom it reasonably believes are both QIBs and QPs who can represent that (A) they are QIBs within the meaning of Rule 144A who are also QPs within the meaning of Section 2(a)(51)(A) of the Investment Company Act; (B) they are not broker-dealers who own and invest on a discretionary basis less than U.S.\$25 million in securities of unaffiliated issuers; (C) they are not a participant-directed employee plan, such as a 401(d) plan; (D) they are acting for their own account, or the account of one or more QIBs each of which is a QP; (E) they are not formed for the purpose of investing in the Notes or the Issuer, (F) each account for which they are purchasing will hold and transfer at least U.S.\$100,000 in principal amount of Notes at any time (or equivalent in another currency), (G) they understand that the Issuer may receive a list of participant holding positions in its securities from one or more book-entry depositories; and (H) they will provide notice of the transfer restrictions set forth in the Offering Memorandum to any subsequent transferees.

In connection with the offer and resale of the Rule 144A Notes in the United States each Dealer has represented and agreed and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree, that it is a QIB who is also a QP.

#### **Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail Investors**

Each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Memorandum as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the Pricing Supplement in relation thereto to any retail investor in the European Economic Area. For the purposes of this provision, the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is one (or more) of the following:

- (a) a retail client as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of Directive 2014/65/EU (as amended, "EU MiFID II"); or
- (b) a customer within the meaning of Directive (EU) 2016/97 ("**Insurance Distribution Directive**"), where that customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of EU MiFID II.

### **Prohibition of Sales to UK Retail Investors**

Each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that it has not offered, sold or otherwise made available and will not offer, sell or otherwise make available any Notes which are the subject of the offering contemplated by this Offering Memorandum as supplemented, amended and/or replaced by the Pricing Supplement thereto in relation thereto to any retail investor in the United Kingdom. For the purposes of this provision, the expression "**retail investor**" means a person who is a retail client, as defined in point (8) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) No 2017/565 as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA.

#### Other UK regulatory restrictions

Each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that:

- (a) No deposit-taking: in relation to any Notes having a maturity of less than one year:
  - (i) it is a person whose ordinary activities involve it in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of its business; and:
  - (ii) it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell any Notes other than to persons:
    - (A) whose ordinary activities involve them in acquiring, holding, managing or disposing of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses; or
    - (B) who it is reasonable to expect will acquire, hold, manage or dispose of investments (as principal or agent) for the purposes of their businesses,

where the issue of the Notes would otherwise constitute a contravention of Section 19 of the FSMA by the Issuer;

- (b) Financial promotion: it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause to be communicated any invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the meaning of section 21 of the FSMA) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of any Notes in circumstances in which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and
- (c) General compliance: it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to anything done by it in relation to any Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United Kingdom.

#### Australia

No offering circular or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth) of Australia (the "Corporations Act")) in relation to the Notes has been lodged with the Australian Securities and Investments Commission ("ASIC") or any other regulatory authority in Australia. Accordingly, each Dealer has severally represented and agreed (and each further Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that:

- (a) it has not made or invited, and will not make or invite, directly or indirectly, an offer of any Notes (or an interest in them) for issue or sale in Australia (including an offer or invitation which is received by a person in Australia); and
- (b) it has not distributed or published and will not distribute or publish any preliminary, draft or definitive offering memorandum, advertisement or other offering material relating to any Notes (or any interest therein) in Australia,

#### unless:

- (a) either (x) the aggregate consideration payable by each offeree is at least A\$500,000 (or its equivalent in an alternate currency, and, in either case, disregarding moneys lent by the offeror or its associates), (y) the offer is to a professional investor for the purposes of section 708 of the Corporations Act, or (z) the offer or invitation otherwise does not require disclosure to investors in accordance with Chapter 6D or Part 7.9 of the Corporations Act;
- (b) the offer or invitation does not constitute an offer to a "retail client" as defined for the purposes of section 761G of the Corporations Act;
- (c) such action complies with applicable laws, regulations and directives in Australia (including, without limitation the financial services licensing requirements of the Corporations Act); and

such action does not require any document to be lodged with ASIC or any other regulatory authority in Australia.

By applying for any Notes, each person to whom any Notes are issued (an "Investor"):

- (a) will be deemed by the Issuer and each of the Dealers to have acknowledged that if any Investor on-sells any Notes within twelve (12) months from their issue, the Investor will be required to lodge a prospectus or other disclosure document (as defined in the Corporations Act) with ASIC unless either:
  - (i) that sale is to an investor within one of the categories set out in sections 708(8) or 708(11) of the Corporations Act to whom it is lawful to offer Notes in Australia without a prospectus or other disclosure document lodged with ASIC; or
  - (ii) the sale offer is received outside Australia; and
- (b) will be deemed by the Issuer and each of the Dealers to have undertaken not to sell those Notes in any circumstances other than those described in paragraphs (a)(i) and (a)(ii) above for 12 months after the date of issue of such Notes.

In this paragraph, an "offer" constitutes an offer of Notes for issue or sale and an invitation to subscribe for or buy Notes, and is taken to occur in Australia if received by any person in Australia; and references to "Notes" include any right to or interest in a Note.

#### Hong Kong

Each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that:

- it has not offered or sold and will not offer or sell in Hong Kong, by means of any document, any Notes (except for Notes which are a "structured product" as defined in the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) of Hong Kong) (the "SFO") other than (a) to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO; or (b) in other circumstances which do not result in the document being a "prospectus" as defined in the Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance (Cap. 32) of Hong Kong (the "C(WUMP)O") or which do not constitute an offer to the public within the meaning of the C(WUMP)O; and
- (2) it has not issued or had in its possession for the purposes of issue, and will not issue or have in its possession for the purposes of issue, whether in Hong Kong or elsewhere, any advertisement, invitation or document relating to the Notes, which is directed at, or the contents of which are likely to be accessed or read by, the public of Hong Kong (except if permitted to do so under the securities laws of Hong Kong) other than with respect to Notes which are or are intended to be disposed of only to persons outside Hong Kong or only to "professional investors" as defined in the SFO and any rules made under the SFO.

#### Netherlands

Zero Coupon Notes in definitive bearer form and other Notes in definitive bearer form on which interest does not become due and payable during their term but only at maturity (savings certificates or *spaarbewijzen* as defined in The Netherlands Savings Certificates Act (*Wet inzake spaarbewijzen*, the "SCA")) may only be transferred and accepted, directly or indirectly, within, from or into The Netherlands through the mediation of either the Issuer or a member of Euronext Amsterdam N.V. with due observance of the provisions of the SCA and its implementing regulations (which include registration requirements). No such mediation is required, however, in respect of (i) the initial issue of such Notes to the first holders thereof, (ii) the transfer and acceptance by individuals who do not act in the conduct of a profession or business and (iii) the issue and trading of such Notes if they are physically issued outside The Netherlands and are not immediately thereafter distributed in The Netherlands.

As used herein "Zero Coupon Notes" are Notes that are in bearer form and that constitute a claim for a fixed sum against the Issuer and on which interest does not become due during their tenor or on which no interest is due whatsoever.

#### Japan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Financial Instruments and Exchange Act of Japan (Act No. 25 of 1948, as amended, the "FIEA") and, accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that it has not, directly or indirectly, offered or sold and will not, directly or indirectly, offer or sell any Notes in Japan or to, or for the benefit of, any resident of Japan or to others for re-offering or resale, directly or indirectly, in Japan or to any resident of Japan, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of, and otherwise in compliance with, the FIEA and other relevant laws and regulations of Japan. As used in this paragraph, "resident of Japan" means any person resident in Japan, including any corporation or other entity organised under the laws of Japan.

#### Singapore

Each Dealer has acknowledged (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to acknowledge) that this Offering Memorandum has not been registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore. Accordingly, each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that it has not offered or sold any Notes or caused the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for purchase and will not offer or sell any Notes or cause the Notes to be made the subject of an invitation for

subscription or purchase, and has not circulated or distributed, nor will it circulate or distribute, this Offering Memorandum or any other document or material in connection with the offer or sale, or invitation for subscription or purchase, of the Notes, whether directly or indirectly, to any person in Singapore other than (i) to an institutional investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to Section 274 of the SFA or (ii) to an accredited investor (as defined in Section 4A of the SFA) pursuant to and in accordance with the conditions specified in Section 275 of the SFA.

#### Canada

Notes may be sold in Canada only to purchasers purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing, as principal that are accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 *Prospectus Exemptions* of the Canadian Securities Administrators or subsection 73.3(1) of the *Securities Act* (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as defined in National Instrument 31-103 *Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations*. Any resale of the Notes must be made in accordance with an exemption from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable Canadian securities laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with remedies for rescission or damages if this Offering Memorandum (including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser's province or territory for particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor.

Pursuant to section 3A.3 of National Instrument 33-105 *Underwriting Conflicts* ("NI 33-105"), the Dealers are not required to comply with the disclosure requirements of NI 33-105 regarding underwriter conflicts of interest in connection with any offer of Notes.

Upon receipt of this Offering Memorandum, each Canadian purchaser is hereby deemed to confirm that it has expressly requested that all documents evidencing or relating in any way to the sale of the Notes described herein (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any purchase confirmation or any notice) be drawn up in the English language only. Par la réception de ce document, chaque acheteur canadien est réputé d'avoir confirmé par les présentes qu'il a expressément exigé que tous les documents faisant foi ou se rapportant de quelque manière que ce soit à la vente des billets décrites aux présentes (incluant, pour éviter toute incertitude, toute confirmation d'achat ou tout avis) soient rédigés en anglais seulement.

#### South Korea

The Notes have not been and will not be registered with the Financial Services Commission of South Korea for public offering in South Korea under the Financial Investment Services and Capital Markets Act and its subordinate decrees and regulations (collectively, the "FSCMA"). The Notes may not be offered, remarketed, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, or offered, remarketed or sold to any person for reoffering or resale, directly or indirectly, in South Korea or to any resident of South Korea (as defined in the Foreign Exchange Transactions Law of South Korea and its subordinate decrees and regulations (collectively, the "FETL")) within one year of the issuance of the Notes, except as otherwise permitted under applicable South Korean laws and regulations, including the FSCMA and the FETL.

## Taiwan

The Notes have not been and will not be registered or filed with, or approved by, the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority or agency of Taiwan pursuant to relevant securities laws and regulations of Taiwan and may not be issued, offered or sold within Taiwan through a public offering or in circumstances which constitute an offer within the meaning of the Securities and Exchange Act of Taiwan that requires a registration, filing or approval of the Financial Supervisory Commission of Taiwan and/or other regulatory authority or agency of Taiwan. No person or entity in Taiwan has been authorized to offer or sell the Notes in Taiwan. The Notes may be made available outside Taiwan for purchase outside Taiwan by Taiwan resident investors, but may not be offered or sold in Taiwan.

#### General

Each Dealer has represented and agreed (and each additional Dealer appointed under the Programme will be required to represent and agree) that it has complied and will comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which it purchases, offers, sells or delivers Notes or possesses, distributes or publishes this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement or any related offering material, in all cases at its own expense. Other persons into whose hands this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement comes are required by the Issuer and the Dealers to comply with all applicable laws and regulations in each country or jurisdiction in or from which they purchase, offer, sell or deliver Notes or possess, distribute or publish this Offering Memorandum or any Pricing Supplement or any related offering material, in all cases at their own expense.

The Dealer Agreement provides that the Dealers shall not be bound by any of the restrictions relating to any specific jurisdiction (set out above) to the extent that such restrictions shall, as a result of change(s) or change(s) in official interpretation, after the date hereof, of applicable laws and regulations, no longer be applicable but without prejudice to the obligations of the Dealers described in the paragraph headed "General" above.

Selling restrictions may be supplemented or modified with the agreement of the Issuer. Any such supplement or modification may be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement (in the case of a supplement or modification relevant only to a particular Tranche of Notes) or in a supplement to this Offering Memorandum or new Offering Memorandum.

#### TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS

### **Regulation S Notes**

Each purchaser of Bearer Notes or Unrestricted Registered Notes outside the United States pursuant to Regulation S and each subsequent purchaser of such Notes in resales prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period (as defined in Regulation S), by accepting delivery of this Offering Memorandum and the Notes, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- (i) it is, or at the time Notes are purchased will be, the beneficial owner of such Notes and:
  - (a) it is not a U.S. person and it is located outside the United States (within the meaning of Regulation S); and
  - (b) it is not an affiliate of the Issuer or a person acting on behalf of such an affiliate;
- (ii) it understands that such Notes have not been and will not be registered under the Securities Act and that, prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period, it will not offer, sell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Notes except:
  - (a) in an offshore transaction in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S; or
  - (b) to the Issuer; or
  - in the case of Unrestricted Registered Notes only, in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it and any person acting on its behalf reasonably believe is both a QIB and a QP purchasing for its own account or the account of one or more QIBs each of which is also a QP,

in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any State of the United States;

- (iii) it will be deemed to have represented by its acquisition of any interest in the Notes that either (i) it is not and is not acting on behalf of a Benefit Plan Investor or a governmental, non-U.S. or church plan subject to Similar Law or (ii) its purchase and holding of the Notes or an interest therein will not result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or a violation of applicable Similar Law or subject the Issuer's assets to Section 404 or 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any Similar Law;
- (iv) if it is a Benefit Plan Investor, (i) none of the Transaction Parties has provided any investment recommendation or investment advice to the Benefit Plan Investor or any Plan Fiduciary, on which either the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary has relied in connection with the decision to acquire any interest in the Notes, (ii) none of the Transaction Parties is acting as a "fiduciary" within the meaning of Section 3(21) of ERISA or Section 4975(e)(3) of the Code to the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary in connection with the Benefit Plan Investor's acquisition of any interest in the Notes and (iii) the Plan Fiduciary is exercising its own independent judgment in evaluating the transaction;
- (v) it understands that the Issuer, the Registrar, the Dealers and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements;
- (vi) if it is outside the United States and is not a U.S. person, that if it should resell or otherwise transfer the Notes prior to the expiration of the distribution compliance period, it will do so only (i)(A) outside the United States in compliance with Rule 903 or 904 under the Securities Act or (B) to a QIB that is also a QP in compliance with Rule 144A and (ii) in accordance with all applicable U.S. State securities laws; and it acknowledges that the Regulation S Global Notes will bear a legend to the following effect unless otherwise agreed to by the Issuer:

THE NOTES EVIDENCED HEREBY HAVE NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR ANY APPLICABLE U.S. STATE SECURITIES LAWS AND, ACCORDINGLY, MAY NOT BE OFFERED OR SOLD WITHIN THE UNITED STATES OR TO, OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OR BENEFIT OF, U.S. PERSONS EXCEPT IN

ACCORDANCE WITH THE AGENCY AGREEMENT AND PURSUANT TO AN EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT. THIS LEGEND SHALL CEASE TO APPLY UPON THE EXPIRY OF THE PERIOD OF 40 DAYS AFTER THE COMPLETION OF THE DISTRIBUTION OF ALL THE NOTES OF THE TRANCHE OF WHICH THIS NOTE FORMS PART.

On or prior to the fortieth day after the relevant issue date, Notes represented by an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate may be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such Notes in the form of an interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate only upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification from the transferor (in the form set out in Schedule 9 (*Transfer Certificate*) to the Agency Agreement) to the effect that such transfer is being made to a person whom the transferor reasonably believes is a QIB that is also a QP, in a transaction meeting the requirements of Rule 144A and in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States. After such fortieth day, such certification requirements will no longer apply to such transfers, but such transfers will continue to be subject to the transfer restrictions contained in the legend appearing on the face of such Global Note Certificate, as described above under "Forms of the Notes".

Notes represented by an interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate may also be transferred to a person who wishes to hold such Notes in the form of an interest in an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, but only upon receipt by the Registrar of a written certification from the transferor (in the form set out in Schedule 9 (*Transfer Certificate*) to the Agency Agreement) to the effect that such transfer is being made in accordance with Regulation S or Rule 144 (if available) under the Securities Act.

Any interest in a Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate that is transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in a Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate will, upon transfer, cease to be an interest in a Note represented by an Unrestricted Global Note Certificate and become an interest in a Note represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate and, accordingly, will thereafter be subject to all transfer restrictions and other procedures applicable to Notes represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate.

### Rule 144A Notes

Each purchaser of Rule 144A Notes, by accepting delivery of this Offering Memorandum and the Rule 144A Notes, will be deemed to have represented, agreed and acknowledged that:

- 1. It is (a) a QIB that is also a QP, (b) was not formed for the purpose of investing in the Rule 144A Notes or the Issuer, (c) is not a broker dealer which owns and invests on a discretionary basis less than U.S.\$25,000,000 in securities of unaffiliated issuers, (d) is not a participant-directed employee plan such as a 401(k) plan, (e) is acting for its own account, or the account of one or more QIBs each of which is also a QP, and (f) is aware, and each beneficial owner of the Rule 144A Notes has been advised, that the sale of the Rule 144A Notes to it is being made in reliance on Rule 144A.
- 2. It will (a) along with each account for which it is purchasing, hold and transfer beneficial interests in the Rule 144A Notes in a principal amount that is not less than U.S.\$100,000 and (b) provide notice of these transfer restrictions to any subsequent transferees. In addition, it understands that the Issuer may receive a list of participants holding positions in the Rule 144A Notes from one or more book entry depositaries.
- 3. (i) The Rule 144A Notes have not been nor will be registered under the Securities Act or with any securities regulatory authority of any state or other jurisdiction of the United States and may not be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred except (a) in accordance with Rule 144A to a person that it, and any person acting on its behalf, reasonably believes is a QIB that is also a QP purchasing for its own account or for the account of one or more QIBs each of which is also a QP, (b) in an offshore transaction to a non-U.S. person in accordance with Rule 903 or Rule 904 of Regulation S under the Securities Act, (c) to the Issuer or an affiliate thereof, or (d) pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act, in each case in accordance with any applicable securities laws of any state of the United States and (ii) it will, and each subsequent Holder of the Rule 144A Notes is required to, notify any purchaser of the Rule 144A Notes from it of the resale restrictions on the Rule 144A Notes.

- 4. It understands that the Issuer has the power to compel any beneficial owner of the Rule 144A Notes that is a U.S. person and is not a QIB and a QP to sell its interest in the Rule 144A Notes, or may sell such interest on behalf of such owner. The Issuer has the right to refuse to honour the transfer of an interest in the Rule 144A Notes to a U.S. person who is not a QIB and a QP. Any purported transfer of the Rule 144A Notes to a purchaser that does not comply with the requirements of the transfer restrictions herein will be of no force and effect and will be void *ab initio*.
- 5. The Rule 144A Notes, unless the Issuer determines otherwise in accordance with applicable law, will bear a legend in or substantially in the following form:

THIS NOTE HAS NOT BEEN AND WILL NOT BE REGISTERED UNDER THE U.S. SECURITIES ACT OF 1933, AS AMENDED (THE "SECURITIES ACT"), OR WITH ANY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OF ANY STATE OR OTHER JURISDICTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND MAY NOT BE OFFERED, SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT (1) IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT ("RULE 144A") TO A PERSON WHOM THE SELLER REASONABLY BELIEVES IS A QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYER ("QIB") WITHIN THE MEANING OF RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT THAT IS ALSO A QUALIFIED PURCHASER ("QP") WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 2(A)(51)(A) OF THE U.S. INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT OF 1940, AS AMENDED (THE "INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT"), AND THE RULES AND REGULATIONS THEREUNDER PURCHASING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE QIBS EACH OF WHICH IS ALSO A OP WHOM THE HOLDER HAS INFORMED, IN EACH CASE, THAT SUCH OFFER, SALE, PLEDGE OR OTHER TRANSFER IS BEING MADE IN RELIANCE ON RULE 144A UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT AND IN AN AMOUNT FOR EACH ACCOUNT OF NOT LESS THAN U.S.\$100,000, (2) TO NON-U.S. PERSONS IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH RULE 903 OR 904 UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, (3) TO THE ISSUER OR AN AFFILIATE THEREOF OR (4) PURSUANT TO AN EFFECTIVE REGISTRATION STATEMENT UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, IN EACH CASE IN ACCORDANCE WITH ANY APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW OF ANY STATE OF THE UNITED STATES. THE HOLDER WILL, AND EACH SUBSEQUENT HOLDER IS REQUIRED TO, NOTIFY ANY PURCHASER FROM IT OF THE NOTES IN RESPECT HEREOF OF THE RESALE RESTRICTIONS REFERRED TO ABOVE. ANY TRANSFER IN VIOLATION OF THE FOREGOING WILL BE OF NO FORCE OR EFFECT AND WILL BE VOID AB INITIO. NO REPRESENTATION CAN BE MADE AS TO THE AVAILABILITY OF ANY EXEMPTION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT FOR RESALES OF THIS NOTE.

IEACH PERSON WHO PURCHASES OR OTHERWISE ACOUIRES THIS NOTE (OR A BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN) REPRESENTS, WARRANTS, ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES FOR THE BENEFIT OF THE ISSUER THAT IT, AND EACH PERSON FOR WHICH IT IS ACTING, (I) IS A QIB THAT IS A QP, (II) WAS NOT FORMED FOR THE PURPOSE OF INVESTING IN THE ISSUER OR THE NOTES, (III) IS NOT A BROKER-DEALER WHICH OWNS AND INVESTS ON A DISCRETIONARY BASIS LESS THAN U.S.\$25,000,000 IN SECURITIES OF UNAFFILIATED ISSUERS, (IV) IS NOT A PARTICIPANT DIRECTED EMPLOYEE PLAN, SUCH AS A 401(K) PLAN, (V) IS ACTING FOR ITS OWN ACCOUNT OR FOR THE ACCOUNT OF ONE OR MORE QIBS EACH OF WHICH IS ALSO A QP, (VI) IT, AND EACH ACCOUNT FOR WHICH IT HOLDS THE NOTES, WILL HOLD AND TRANSFER BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THE NOTES IN A PRINCIPAL AMOUNT THAT IS NOT LESS THAN U.S.\$100,000; (VII) IT UNDERSTANDS THAT THE ISSUER MAY RECEIVE A LIST OF PARTICIPANTS HOLDING POSITIONS IN THE NOTES FROM ONE OR MORE BOOK-ENTRY DEPOSITARIES AND (VIII) IT WILL PROVIDE NOTICE OF THE FOREGOING TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS TO ANY SUBSEQUENT TRANSFEREES.

ANY RESALE OR OTHER TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE (OR BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN) WHICH IS NOT MADE IN COMPLIANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH HEREIN WILL BE OF NO FORCE AND EFFECT, WILL BE NULL AND VOID AB INITIO AND WILL NOT OPERATE TO TRANSFER ANY RIGHTS TO THE TRANSFEREE, NOTWITHSTANDING ANY INSTRUCTIONS TO THE CONTRARY

TO THE ISSUER OR ANY OF ITS AGENTS. IN ADDITION TO THE FOREGOING, IN THE EVENT OF A TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE (OR BENEFICIAL INTEREST HEREIN) TO A U.S. PERSON WITHIN THE MEANING OF REGULATION S THAT IS NOT A OIB AND A OP, THE ISSUER MAY (A) COMPEL SUCH TRANSFEREE TO SELL THIS NOTE OR ITS INTEREST HEREIN TO A PERSON WHO (I) IS A U.S. PERSON WHO IS A QIB AND A QP THAT IS, IN EACH CASE, OTHERWISE QUALIFIED TO PURCHASE THIS NOTE OR INTEREST HEREIN IN A TRANSACTION EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT OR (II) IS NOT A U.S. PERSON AND PURCHASES THE NOTE IN AN OFFSHORE TRANSACTION WITHIN THE MEANING OF REGULATION S OR (B) COMPEL SUCH TRANSFEREE TO SELL THIS NOTE OR ITS INTEREST HEREIN TO A PERSON DESIGNATED BY OR ACCEPTABLE TO THE ISSUER AT A PRICE EQUAL TO THE LESSER OF (X) THE PURCHASE PRICE THEREFOR PAID BY THE ORIGINAL TRANSFEREE. (Y) 100 PER CENT. OF THE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT THEREOF OR (Z) THE FAIR MARKET VALUE THEREOF. THE ISSUER HAS THE RIGHT TO REFUSE TO HONOUR A TRANSFER OF THIS NOTE OR INTEREST HEREIN TO A U.S. PERSON WHO IS NOT A OIB AND A OP. EACH TRANSFEROR OF THIS NOTE WILL PROVIDE NOTICE OF THE TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH HEREIN AND IN THE ISSUE AND PAYING AGENCY AGREEMENT TO ITS TRANSFEREE. THE ISSUER HAS NOT REGISTERED AND DOES NOT INTEND TO REGISTER UNDER THE INVESTMENT COMPANY ACT.

EACH PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED BY ITS ACQUISITION OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES THAT EITHER (I) IT IS NOT AND IS NOT ACTING ON BEHALF OF (A) AN "EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 3(3) OF THE U.S. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT INCOME SECURITY ACT OF 1974, AS AMENDED ("ERISA") THAT IS SUBJECT TO PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA, (B) A "PLAN" AS DEFINED IN AND SUBJECT TO SECTION 4975 OF THE U.S. INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986, AS AMENDED (THE "CODE"), (C) ANY PERSON OR ENTITY WHOSE UNDERLYING ASSETS INCLUDE "PLAN ASSETS" BY REASON OF AN INVESTMENT IN THE PERSON OR ENTITY BY AN EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN OR PLAN DESCRIBED IN CLAUSE (A) OR (B) UNDER THE U.S. DEPARTMENT OF LABOR REGULATION AT 29 C.F.R. § 2510.3-101, AS MODIFIED BY SECTION 3(42) OF ERISA, OR OTHERWISE FOR THE PURPOSES OF PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE (EACH OF (A)-(C), A "BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR") OR (D) A GOVERNMENTAL, NON-U.S. OR CHURCH PLAN THAT IS SUBJECT TO U.S. FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL OR OTHER LAWS THAT ARE SIMILAR TO PART 4 OF SUBTITLE B OF TITLE I OF ERISA AND/OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE ("SIMILAR LAW"). OR (II) ITS PURCHASE AND HOLDING OF THE NOTES OR AN INTEREST THEREIN WILL NOT RESULT IN A NON-EXEMPT PROHIBITED TRANSACTION UNDER SECTION 406 OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE, OR A VIOLATION OF APPLICABLE SIMILAR LAW OR SUBJECT THE ISSUER'S ASSETS TO SECTION 404 OR 406 OF ERISA, SECTION 4975 OF THE CODE OR ANY SIMILAR LAW.

EACH PURCHASER OR TRANSFEREE OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES THAT IS A BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR WILL BE DEEMED TO HAVE REPRESENTED BY ITS ACQUISITION OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES THAT (I) NONE OF THE ISSUER, THE ARRANGERS, THE DEALERS, THE GUARANTOR, THE AGENTS OR ANY OF THEIR RESPECTIVE AFFILIATES (COLLECTIVELY, THE "TRANSACTION PARTIES"), HAS PROVIDED ANY INVESTMENT RECOMMENDATION OR INVESTMENT ADVICE TO THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR ANY FIDUCIARY OR OTHER PERSON INVESTING ON BEHALF OF THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR WHO OTHERWISE HAS DISCRETION OR CONTROL OVER THE INVESTMENT AND MANAGEMENT OF "PLAN ASSETS" (A "PLAN FIDUCIARY"), ON WHICH EITHER THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR PLAN FIDUCIARY HAS RELIED IN CONNECTION WITH THE DECISION TO ACQUIRE ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES, (II) NONE OF THE TRANSACTION PARTIES IS ACTING AS A "FIDUCIARY" WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 3(21) OF ERISA OR SECTION 4975(e)(3) OF

THE CODE TO THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR OR PLAN FIDUCIARY IN CONNECTION WITH THE BENEFIT PLAN INVESTOR'S ACQUISITION OF ANY INTEREST IN THE NOTES, AND (III) THE PLAN FIDUCIARY IS EXERCISING ITS OWN INDEPENDENT JUDGMENT IN EVALUATING THE TRANSACTION. ANY PURPORTED PURCHASE OR TRANSFER OF A NOTE THAT DOES NOT COMPLY WITH THE FOREGOING SHALL BE NULL AND VOID AB INITIO.]

THE ISSUER MAY COMPEL EACH BENEFICIAL HOLDER HEREOF TO CERTIFY PERIODICALLY THAT SUCH OWNER IS A QIB AND A QP.

6. that the Rule 144A Notes in registered form which are registered in the name of a nominee of DTC will bear an additional legend to the following effect unless otherwise agreed to by the Issuer:

UNLESS THIS GLOBAL NOTE IS PRESENTED BY AN AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE OF THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY, A NEW YORK CORPORATION, ("DTC"), TO THE ISSUER OR ITS AGENT FOR REGISTRATION OF TRANSFER, EXCHANGE OR PAYMENT, AND ANY REGISTERED NOTE ISSUED IN EXCHANGE FOR THIS GLOBAL NOTE OR ANY PORTION HEREOF IS REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF CEDE & CO. OR IN SUCH OTHER NAME AS IS REQUIRED BY AN AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC (AND ANY PAYMENT IS MADE TO CEDE & CO. OR TO SUCH OTHER ENTITY AS IS REQUESTED BY AN AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE OF DTC), ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE, OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON OTHER THAN DTC OR A NOMINEE THEREOF IS WRONGFUL IN AS MUCH AS THE REGISTERED OWNER HEREOF, CEDE & CO., HAS AN INTEREST HEREIN.

THIS GLOBAL SECURITY MAY NOT BE EXCHANGED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, FOR A SECURITY REGISTERED IN THE NAME OF ANY PERSON OTHER THAN THE DEPOSITORY TRUST COMPANY OR A NOMINEE THEREOF EXCEPT IN THE LIMITED CIRCUMSTANCES SET FORTH IN THIS GLOBAL SECURITY, AND MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED, IN WHOLE OR IN PART, EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE RESTRICTIONS SET FORTH IN THIS LEGEND. BENEFICIAL INTERESTS IN THIS GLOBAL SECURITY MAY NOT BE TRANSFERRED EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THIS LEGEND.

- 7. It will be deemed to have represented by its acquisition of any interest in the Notes that either (i) it is not and is not acting on behalf of a Benefit Plan Investor or a governmental, non-U.S. or church plan subject to Similar Law or (ii) its purchase and holding of the Notes or an interest therein will not result in a non-exempt prohibited transaction under ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code, or a violation of applicable Similar Law or subject the Issuer's assets to Section 404 or 406 of ERISA, Section 4975 of the Code or any Similar Law.
- 8. If it is a Benefit Plan Investor, (i) none of the Transaction Parties has provided any investment recommendation or investment advice to the Benefit Plan Investor or any Plan Fiduciary on which either the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary has relied in connection with the decision to acquire any interest in the Notes, (ii) none of the Transaction Parties is acting as a "fiduciary" within the meaning of Section 3(21) of ERISA or Section 4975(e)(3) of the Code to the Benefit Plan Investor or Plan Fiduciary in connection with the Benefit Plan Investor's acquisition of any interest in the Notes, and (iii) the Plan Fiduciary is exercising its own independent judgment in evaluating the transaction. Any purported purchase or transfer of a Note that does not comply with the foregoing shall be null and void *ab initio*.
- 9. It understands that the Issuer, the Registrar, the relevant Dealer(s) and their affiliates, and others will rely upon the truth and accuracy of the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements and agrees that, if any of the acknowledgements, representations or agreements deemed to have been made by it by its purchase of Rule 144A Notes is no longer accurate, it shall promptly notify the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s). If it is acquiring any Rule 144A Notes for the account of one or more QIBs that are also QPs, it represents that it has sole investment discretion with respect to each of those accounts and that it has full power to make the foregoing acknowledgements, representations and agreements on behalf of each such account.

10. It understands that the Rule 144A Notes will be represented by a Restricted Global Note Certificate. Before any interest in a Restricted Global Note Certificate may be offered, sold, pledged or otherwise transferred to a person who takes delivery in the form of an interest in the Unrestricted Global Note Certificate, it will be required to provide the Registrar with a written certification as to compliance with applicable securities laws.

Prospective purchasers are hereby notified that sellers of the Rule 144A Notes may be relying on the exemption from the provisions of Section 5 of the Securities Act provided by Rule 144A.

#### **GENERAL INFORMATION**

#### Authorisation

1. The Issuer has obtained all necessary consents, approvals and authorisations in connection with the Programme. The approval for the establishment of the Programme and the initial Programme amount was obtained in April 1999 and was most recently reconfirmed on 8 April 2022. The approval for the increase of the programme amount to U.S.\$5,000,000,000 was obtained on 11 June 2024. Approvals for further increases in the Programme amount or other changes will be obtained as and when necessary.

## **Legal and Arbitration Proceedings**

2. There are no governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are pending or threatened of which any of the Issuer is aware) during the past 12 months which may have or have had in the recent past significant effects on the financial position or profitability of such Issuer and its subsidiaries, as relevant, taken as a whole.

## No Significant/Material Adverse Change

3. There has been no material adverse change in the prospects of the Issuer since the date of the most recently published audited financial statements of the Issuer. Save as disclosed in the section entitled "Recent Developments", there has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Issuer since the date of the most recently published audited financial statements of the Issuer.

## **Independent Auditors**

- 4. The financial statements of the Issuer as of and for the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023, incorporated by reference in this offering memorandum have been audited by KPMG, independent auditors, as stated in their reports incorporated by reference herein.
- 5. The audit reports covering the years ended 30 June 2024 and 2023 contain a paragraph that states that the Issuer has prepared a separate set of financial statements for the years ended 30 June 2024, 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022. For further details, please see paragraph 7 below.
- The liability of KPMG, in relation to the performance of their professional services provided to the Issuer including, without limitation, KPMG's audits of the financial statements described above, is limited under the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (NSW) Scheme approved by the New South Wales Professional Standards Council or such other applicable scheme approved pursuant to the Professional Standards Act 1994 (NSW) (the "Professional Standards Act"), including the Treasury Legislation Amendment (Professional Standards) Act (the "Accountants Scheme"). Specifically, the Accountants Scheme limits liability of KPMG to a maximum amount of A\$75 million. The Accountants Scheme does not limit liability for breach of trust, fraud or dishonesty. The Professional Standards Act and the Accountants Scheme have not been subject to relevant judicial consideration and, therefore, how the limitations will be applied by courts and the effect of the limitations on the enforcement of foreign judgments is untested.
- 7. The Issuer's statutory auditor is the Australian National Audit Office ("ANAO"), who has retained KPMG to perform an audit of the Issuer's financial statements in connection with this Offering Memorandum. Separately, ANAO audited the statutory accounts of the Issuer for the financial years ended 30 June 2024, 30 June 2023 and 30 June 2022 which were prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board for each relevant reporting period and the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability (Financial Reporting) Rule 2015 and issued reports to the Ministry for Trade, Tourism and Investment dated 22 August 2024, 24 August 2023 and 30 August 2022 under the Public Governance, Performance and Accountability Act 2013 on such accounts which were not qualified and did not contain any such statement. For the avoidance of doubt, such accounts and audit reports prepared by ANAO do not form part of this Offering Memorandum.

### **Documents on Display**

- 8. Copies of the following documents may be obtained at: <a href="https://www.exportfinance.gov.au/our-organisation/investor-relations/restrictions-on-access/">https://www.exportfinance.gov.au/our-organisation/investor-relations/restrictions-on-access/</a> during the life of this Offering Memorandum:
  - the audited annual financial statements of the Issuer (including the notes in respect of such financial statements) for the years ended 30 June 2024 (together with corresponding figures for the year ended 30 June 2023) and 30 June 2023 (together with corresponding figures for the year ended 30 June 2022) and the auditors' reports issued by KPMG in connection therewith;
  - the most recently published audited annual financial statements published subsequently to the date of this Offering Memorandum and any subsequently published interim financial statements (whether audited or unaudited) of the Issuer from time to time (if any);
  - (c) this Offering Memorandum and all amendments and supplements from time to time to this Offering Memorandum; and
  - (d) Pricing Supplements relating to Notes which are admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system.

Copies of the Agency Agreement and the Deed of Covenant shall only be available on request.

- 9. In the case of any Notes which are not admitted to listing, trading and/or quotation by any listing authority, stock exchange and/or quotation system, copies of the applicable Pricing Supplement will only be available for inspection by a holder of the relevant Notes upon production of evidence satisfactory to the Issuer and the relevant Paying Agent as to its holding of such Notes and identity.
- 10. Copies of documents incorporated by reference in this Offering Memorandum from time to time can be obtained free of charge from the registered office of the Issuer and from the specified office of the Fiscal Agent.

### **Issuer Exempt from UK PRIIPS**

11. As at the date of this Offering Memorandum, the Issuer is exempt from the UK PRIIPs Regulation as the Notes are non-equity securities unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed by a third country in accordance with Article 2.2(d) of the UK PRIIPs Regulation. Accordingly, no key information document (KID) will be included in the Programme documentation or any Notes issued pursuant to this Programme for the purposes of the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

#### **Clearing of the Notes**

12. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through DTC, Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. The appropriate common code and the International Securities Identification Number (ISIN) and/or the Committee on Uniform Security Identification Procedures (CUSIP) Number in relation to the Notes of each Tranche will be specified in the applicable Pricing Supplement. The applicable Pricing Supplement shall specify any other clearing system as shall have accepted the relevant Notes for clearance together with any further appropriate information.

## **Issue Price and Yield**

13. Notes may be issued at any price. The issue price of each Tranche of Notes to be issued under the Programme will be determined by the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) at the time of issue in accordance with prevailing market conditions and the issue price of the relevant Notes or the method of determining the price and the process for its disclosure will be set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement. In the case of different Tranches of a Series of Notes, the issue price may include accrued interest in respect of the period from the interest commencement date of the relevant Tranche (which may be the issue date of the first Tranche of the Series or, if interest payment dates have already passed, the most recent interest payment date in respect of the Series) to the issue date of the relevant Tranche.

The yield of each Tranche of Notes set out in the applicable Pricing Supplement will be calculated as of the relevant issue date on an annual or semi-annual basis using the relevant issue price. It is not an indication of future yield.

## **Legal Entity Identifier (LEI)**

14. The Legal Entity Identifier (LEI) of the Issuer is 213800XAAULSUYWPBB61.

## REGISTERED OFFICE OF THE ISSUER

## **Export Finance Australia**

Export Finance House Level 11 22 Pit Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

#### **ARRANGERS**

## Citigroup Global Markets Limited

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

## **Commonwealth Bank of Australia**

Level 8, CBP North 1 Harbour Street, Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

#### **UBS AG London Branch**

5 Broadgate London EC2M 2QS United Kingdom

## FISCAL AGENT

## REGISTRAR

## **Citicorp International Limited**

40th Floor, Champion Tower 3 Garden Road Central Hong Kong

# **Citicorp International Limited**

40th Floor, Champion Tower 3 Garden Road Central Hong Kong

## PAYING AGENT AND TRANSFER AGENT

## Citibank, N.A., London Branch

Citigroup Centre Canada Square Canary Wharf London E14 5LB United Kingdom

#### LEGAL ADVISERS

To the Issuer as to English and United States law:

To the Issuer as to Australian law:

## **Clifford Chance LLP**

10 Upper Bank Street London E14 5JJ United Kingdom

## **Clifford Chance LLP**

Clifford Chance, Sydney Level 24, Brookfield Place 10 Carrington Street Sydney NSW 2000 Australia

To the Issuer as to Australian taxation law:

## Norton Rose Fulbright Australia

Level 5, 60 Martin Place Sydney Australia To the Dealers as to English and United States law:

## **Linklaters LLP**

Linklaters Singapore Pte. Ltd. One George Street #17-01 Singapore 049145

## AUDITORS TO THE ISSUER

**Australian National Audit Office** 

GPO Box 707 Canberra ACT 2601 Australia **KPMG** 

300 Barangaroo Ave Sydney NSW 2000 Australia